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Our owners
The Group is indirectly owned by funds advised by 
Cinven and CVC Capital Partners (CVC). 

Cinven is a leading international private equity firm, 
founded in 1977, with offices in London, Frankfurt, 
Guernsey, Hong Kong, Luxembourg, Madrid, Milan, 
New York and Paris. Today Cinven manages capital 
on behalf of more than 500 investors globally. 
Funds managed by Cinven acquire companies with 
a European focus that will benefit from Cinven’s 
expertise of growing and building companies globally 
and require an equity investment of €200 million or 
more. Cinven can also invest selectively in businesses 
in North America. Cinven’s Portfolio team helps its 
portfolio companies take advantage of international 
best practices and growth in global markets, 
including those in Asia and the Americas. Cinven 
uses a matrix of sector and country experience to 
invest in companies where it can strategically drive 
revenue growth. Cinven focuses on six sectors: 
Business Services, Consumer, Financial Services, 
Healthcare, Industrials, and Technology, Media and 
Telecommunications and has invested in companies 
in 15 countries.

Cinven has a long and differentiated track record 
of investment in the financial services sector 
including in highly regulated assets where its track 
record includes the acquisitions of Premium Credit, 
Partnership Assurance (now part of Just group) and 
Guardian Financial Services in the UK. It acquired 
Ark Life, as an add-on acquisition for Guardian, and 
Avolon, the aircraft leasing business, in Ireland; in 
Germany, Viridium (formerly Heidelberger Leben) 
with Skandia Germany and Protektor as add-on 
acquisitions; in Italy, Cinven formed the Eurovita 
group through the merger of ERGO Previdenza, Old 
Mutual Wealth Italy and Eurovita Assicurazioni.

CVC Capital Partners is a leading private equity and 
investment advisory firm. Founded in 1981, CVC 
today has a network of 23 offices and approximately 
400 employees throughout Europe, Asia, South 
America and the US.

To date, CVC has secured commitments of over 
US$109 billion from some of the world’s leading 
institutional investors across its private equity and 
credit strategies. In total, CVC currently manages 
over US$70 billion of assets. Today, funds managed 
or advised by CVC are invested in 61 companies 
worldwide, employing c.270,000 people in numerous 
countries. Together, these companies have 
combined annual sales of over US$60 billion.

CVC’s financial services team has invested over €2 
billion of equity capital in the financial services sector 
since the team’s inception in 2008, including its 

historic and current portfolio companies, Paysafe, 
Pension Insurance Corporation, Skrill, Domestic & 
General and Brit Insurance in the United Kingdom, 
Avolon in Ireland, Cunningham Lindsey in the United 
States, Cerved in Italy, Sun Hung Kai in China and Rizal 
Commercial Banking Corporation and SPi Global in 
the Philippines.

Cautionary statement
This report comprises the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements of NewDay Group (Jersey) 
Limited (the “Company”) for the period ended 31 
December 2017. The financial information contained 
in this report: (i) on pages 1 to 63 for the period 
ending 31 December 2017 reflects the consolidated 
financial results of the Company calculated on a pro 
forma basis as if the acquisition of NewDay Group 
Holdings S.à r.l. completed on 1 January 2017; (ii) on 
pages 65 to 103 for the period ending 31 December 
2017 reflects the consolidated financial results of 
the Company; and (iii) for any period ending prior 
to 31 December 2017 reflects the consolidated 
financial results of NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. 
and has been presented for comparative purposes 
only. Underlying and adjusted metrics referred to on 
pages 1 to 63 exclude a number of non-recurring 
items as detailed on page 21. Definitions of key 
performance indicators are included on pages 18 to 
20. References to adjusted EBITDA throughout this 
report are references to “consolidated EBITDA” as 
defined in the documentation relating to the Senior 
Secured Notes issued by NewDay BondCo plc. 

Notwithstanding the above, as set out on page 48, 
with the exception of the Directors’ report set out 
on page 62, the governance and risk framework 
described in this report relate to the governance 
and risk framework established for the Group’s UK 
subsidiaries. References to the ‘Board’, ‘Group’, 
‘NewDay’ and ‘Company’ should be construed 
accordingly (where appropriate).

Certain financial data included in this report consists 
of “non-IFRS financial measures”. These non-IFRS 
(International Financial Reporting Standards) financial 
measures, as defined by the Company, may not be 
comparable to similarly-titled measures as presented 
by other companies, nor should they be considered 
as an alternative to the historical financial results 
or other indicators of the Company’s cash flow 
based on IFRS. Even though the non-IFRS financial 
measures are used by management to assess the 
Company’s financial position, financial results and 
liquidity and these types of measures are commonly 
used by investors, they have important limitations 
as analytical tools, and you should not consider 
them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis 
of the Company’s financial position or results of 

operations as reported under IFRS. The inclusion 
of such non-IFRS financial measures in this report 
or any related presentation should not be regarded 
as a representation or warranty by the Company, 
any member of the Group, any of their respective 
affiliates, advisors or representatives or any other 
person as to the accuracy or completeness of such 
information’s portrayal of the financial condition or 
results of operations of the Company and should not 
be relied upon. 

Certain statements included or incorporated by 
reference within this report may constitute ‘forward-
looking statements’ in respect of the Group’s 
operations, performance, prospects and/or financial 
condition. All statements other than statements on 
historical fact included in this report are forward-
looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking 
statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties 
and assumptions and actual results or events may 
differ materially from those expressed or implied by 
those statements. Accordingly, no assurance can be 
given that any particular expectation will be met and 
reliance should not be placed on any forward-looking 
statement. No responsibility is accepted to update or 
revise any forward-looking statement resulting from 
new information, future events or otherwise. Nothing 
in this report should be construed as a profit forecast. 

The information contained in this report should be 
considered in the context of the circumstances 
prevailing at the time and will not be updated to 
reflect material developments that may occur after 
the date of this report. The information and opinions 
in this report are provided as at the date of this report 
and are subject to change without notice. None of 
the Company, any member of the Group, any of their 
respective affiliates, advisors or representatives or 
any other person shall have any liability whatsoever 
(in negligence or otherwise) for any loss howsoever 
arising from any use of this report or its contents 
or otherwise arising in connection with this report, 
or any action taken by you or any of your officers, 
employees, agents or associates on the basis of the 
information in this report. 

This report does not constitute or form part of any 
offer or invitation to sell, or any solicitation of any 
offer to purchase any shares or other securities in 
any member of the Group, nor shall it or any part 
of it or the fact of its distribution form the basis 
of, or be relied on in connection with, any contract 
or commitment or investment decisions relating 
thereto. Statements in this report reflect the 
knowledge and information available at the time of 
its preparation. Liability arising from anything in this 
report shall be governed by Jersey law. 
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New account originations

1.1m
(2016: 1.0m)

Risk-adjusted margin 

14.7%
(2016: 16.3%)

Closing receivables

£2,164m
(2016: £1,815m)

Adjusted EBITDA 

£114m
(2016: £96m)

Statutory loss before tax 

£27m
(2016: profit before tax of £73m)

Pro forma net corporate 
Senior Secured Debt to  
pro forma adjusted EBITDA

2.6x
(2016: 3.1x)

Group 
receivables

£2,164m
(2016: £1,815m)

Own-brand 
receivables

£1,326m
(2016: £1,093m) 

Co-brand 
receivables

£821m
(2016: £722m)

Unsecured 
Personal Loans 
receivables

£17m
(2016: £nil)

Continued controlled growth

The Group’s Manifesto to help customers be better with 
credit remains at the heart of the business and the Group 
continued to enhance product offerings to create 
long-term relationships with customers. In delivering 
continued controlled growth Group receivables 
surpassed the £2bn milestone and record adjusted 
EBITDA of £114m was achieved. 

Financial highlights

684 722

821

17

787

1,093

1,326

1,471 1,815 2,164
201720162015

Underlying performance metrics referred to 
throughout the strategic report exclude a number 
of items reported within the statutory result, as 
detailed on page 21.

Definitions of key performance indicators are 
included on pages 18 to 20.
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2017 has been an exciting year for the Group. Following completion of the acquisition of 
NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. by NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited (the Acquisition), the 
Group has refreshed its strategic priorities to ensure it remains customer-focused whilst 
seeking to maintain a strong but controlled growth trajectory. Against this backdrop, the 
Group delivered another year of strong performance, welcoming 1.1m new customers  
(2016: 1.0m), surpassing the £2bn receivables milestone and reporting record adjusted 
EBITDA of £114m (2016: £96m). 

Following a successful transition to new owners, as part of its review of strategy the Group developed a Value 
Creation Plan. The Value Creation Plan commenced delivery in the second half of 2017 and is intended to drive 
benefits in 2018 and beyond. It is built on four key foundations: protecting the business; enhancing credit and 
collections strategies; transforming digital capabilities; and generating further operational efficiencies.

The Group’s Manifesto, to help people be better with credit, is at the heart of the Value Creation Plan. In pursuit 
of this aim the Group: upgraded over 25,000 customers to new products as their needs changed (the newly 
introduced Amazon Classic credit card will automatically upgrade customers who make regular payments); 
paid over £25m to customers in loyalty benefits; and continued to reprice customers based on risk, including 
proactively reducing the interest rate for over 500,000 customers during 2017. In addition, the Group deployed 
a collections toolkit to partner with customers as their situations change and supported over 265,000 customers 
with its enhanced online financial health tools. Testament to the customer-focused approach is the Group’s 
continued delivery of industry top quartile transactional Net Promoter Scores (NPS).

The Group remains committed to being a responsible business, both in customer lending and by supporting 
local communities, and continued to donate time and money to its charity partner Family Action who support 
those in crisis.

Responsibly meeting
customers’ needs

“  The record performance in 2017 continues to 
be driven by strong receivables growth and is 
underpinned by the Group’s Manifesto which 
aims to create long-term relationships with 
customers throughout their credit journey.”

Sir Malcolm Williamson
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Chairman’s statement
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Secure capital and liquidity structure
During 2017 the Group successfully raised funding facilities 
of over £2.2bn through the debt capital markets. This 
comprised:

• £425m through the issue of Senior Secured Notes to fund 
the Acquisition; and

• £1.8bn through the issue of asset-backed securities in 
connection with the Group’s securitisation arrangements. 
This included raising £228m to fund the Group’s Own-
brand business, the refinancing of £294m of existing 
asset-backed securities in connection with the Group’s 
Co-brand business and refinancing and expanding the 
Group’s variable funding note capacity to £1.4bn (raising 
an additional capacity of £575m).

As a result of the above fundraising activities, the Group has 
secured more flexible funding solutions to help drive further 
receivables growth whilst, at the same time, diversifying the 
Group’s investor base and creating £1.0bn of headroom. 

Leadership and governance
Following the Acquisition, the Board’s composition  
changed to welcome six new members, with representatives 
from both Cinven and CVC, each of whom bring significant 
experience and insight having served on the boards of 
regulated companies, as well as in the specialty finance 
sector. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Lord John 
Eatwell, Alan Hughes, Rick Noel, Mary Phibbs and Maxim 
Crewe for their valuable contribution during their time as 
Board members.

The Group’s strategy continues to be underpinned by high 
standards of corporate governance and the Board continues 
to provide effective oversight. The delivery of increasing 
numbers of change projects throughout the business 
requires the Group’s risk management capabilities to keep 
pace. The Group continues to refine its internal governance 
framework to ensure that risks are appropriately considered 
and the active culture of risk management and governance 
throughout the Group gives the Board enhanced assurance. 
To maintain and monitor the strong risk culture, a Risk and 
Control Index was introduced within the Group’s colleague 
engagement survey. Further details on the Group’s risk 
management governance can be found on page 29.

Regulation 
2017 has seen a number of regulatory developments. The 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) issued final rules for 
Payment Protection Insurance (PPI), which set an end date 
for PPI complaints of 29 August 2019. In addition, in July 
2016, the FCA published the findings of its Credit Card Market 
Study (CCMS). The CCMS found that the credit card market 
works well for most UK consumers, but that some outcomes 
could be improved through coordinated industry changes. 
Through UK Finance, the industry has agreed a number of 
voluntary measures with the FCA which will be implemented 
during 2018. The FCA issued its final rules in relation to CCMS 
on 27 February 2018. The final rules are in line with earlier 
consultation proposals (in particular, in relation to customers 
who are considered to be in persistent debt). These rules 
came into effect on 1 March 2018 with companies having six 
months to 1 September 2018 to implement the requirements. 
The Group continues to work on developing interventions at 
all points along the persistent debt journey and believes that 
there are a number of strategies that can be deployed. For 
further details see page 11.

The Group continues to prepare for the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and The Second Payment 
Services Directive (PSD2).

Outlook
The record performance in 2017 continues to be driven by 
strong, controlled receivables growth and is underpinned 
by the Group’s Manifesto which aims to create long-term 
relationships with customers throughout their credit journey. 
Whilst the UK’s economic outlook as a result of Brexit remains 
uncertain, the Group’s proactive risk management approach 
ensures it is well-positioned to react. With ongoing delivery 
of the Value Creation Plan initiatives, including new digital 
capabilities, the Group aims to continue its growth trajectory  
in a responsible and controlled manner. 

These strong results have only been possible because of the 
leadership of management and the dedication of the Group’s 
colleagues, whom I wish to thank on behalf of the Board. The 
Group looks forward with confidence to delivering on  
2018’s strategy.

Sir Malcolm Williamson
Chairman and Non-Executive Director
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Delivering products and services 
that address consumer needs

Helping customers
be better with credit
The Group’s deep understanding of its customer segments allow it to lend responsibly and deliver 
innovative customer-focused products. These are designed to create long-term relationships, alongside 
leveraging operational scale and maintaining a strong capital base and funding profile.

Understanding the market

 
Co-brand

Co-brand customers typically seek a credit 
product that offers attractive rewards, such as 
brand loyalty points, discounts and/or unique 

value added benefits from specific retail 
partners in addition to serving the conventional 

purpose of providing credit.

 
Co-brand  

4.2m
customers

£821m
closing receivables

The Group partners with well-known retail 
and consumer brands to provide value added 

services to their customers, including:

Business model

 
Own-brand

1.2m
customers

£1,326m
closing receivables

The Group provides a range of products 
designed to appeal to customers’ differing 
needs, specifically targeting those new to 
credit, individuals looking to rebuild their 

credit history, people on low incomes and 
sole traders. Own-brand includes:

 
Near-prime

The near-prime sector refers to customers 
who typically are employed but exhibit 
one or more additional characteristics, 

such as a limited credit history or a history 
of adverse credit events, that prevents them 

from accessing credit from mainstream 
credit providers. These customers have 

credit profiles that are superior to 
sub-prime borrowers.
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Competitive strengths Creating value for stakeholders

 
Leading player in attractive,  

under-penetrated market sectors

 
Highly experienced executive team  

and strong governance 

 
Focus on optimal customer outcomes  

and regulatory compliance

 
Robust and scalable infrastructure

 
Strong, embedded profitability 

 with high cash generation

 
Proven through-the-cycle credit risk management 

expertise and proprietary data analytics 

Customers
The Group provides access to credit at 

competitive rates, rewards customers for 
good payment behaviour and offers a range of 

products to adapt to customers’ changing  
needs throughout their credit journey

Retail partners
The Group delivers credit solutions and a  

range of promotional offers for retail partners’ 
most loyal customers, and provides data to 

enable targeted marketing campaigns

Colleagues
The Group provides challenging and 

interesting work for colleagues which helps them 
develop different skills and experiences

At the heart of the Group’s business is its Manifesto to help people be better with credit,  
which embodies four core principles:

To be an understanding businessTo be a welcoming business

To be a knowing business To be a rewarding business
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The Group’s business is underpinned by its Manifesto to help people  
be better with credit, which embodies four core principles:

Manifesto
In 2017, the Group continued to invest in customer-focused initiatives and introduced new products  
to meet more credit needs across the near-prime and co-branded credit markets.

Business model continued

Welcoming
The Group aims to responsibly say “yes” to as 
many people as possible who apply for credit. 

Customers are assessed to ensure affordability 
criteria are met and that they are provided with  

the right service at an appropriate rate.

The Group strives to provide customers with a 
great experience by offering products and services 

 that are simple, intuitive and useful.

Understanding
The Group aims to build lifelong relationships 

with customers and recognises that customers may 
want to change products as their circumstances 
change and therefore offers a range of solutions. 

If things are not going quite to plan, the Group 
offers customer support, agreeing appropriate 

actions for moving forward.

Knowing
The Group understands the varying needs of its 
customers and provides a range of products and 

services to suit these different needs. These aim to 
help all customers be better with credit.

The Group utilises its analytical expertise, combined with 
partner insight, to the benefit of customers and provides 

tools that help people manage credit more easily and 
allows them to access the benefits it provides.

Rewarding
The Group rewards customers for managing their 
 credit well. This can mean providing benefits as a 
result of them paying on time and sticking to the 

commitments they have made or providing 
rewards for customers’ loyalty.

Ultimately, the Group’s success is based on 
helping customers be better with credit.

1.1 million new 
customers in 2017; 

0.4m Own-brand and 
0.7m Co-brand

Streamlined customer 
application processes 

with the launch of  
in-store digital 

applications

Launched the collections 
toolkit, helping over 
21,000 customers

53,000 customers 
benefited from money 

transfer and balance 
transfer offers

Launched 3 new 
credit cards: Amazon 

Classic, Amazon 
Platinum and opus

Supported over 
265,000 customers with 
enhanced online financial 

health tools

Lowered rates for over 
500,000 customers 

and upgraded 25,000 
customers to new products

Provided over £25m 
to customers in loyalty 

benefits
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Business model aims Delivering on strategy
Increase accessibility to credit within the 
near-prime market.

• Re-launched the opus credit card to new originations, complementing 
existing aqua and marbles product offerings 

• Launched in December 2016, the Group continues to offer Unsecured 
Personal Loans to existing Own-brand customers

To support customers throughout their 
credit journey, whether they are a new to 
credit customer and looking to build their 
credit rating or a second chance customer 
wanting to rehabilitate their position.

• The breadth of product offerings allows customers to move between 
products at different points in their credit lifecycle

• Continued to upgrade customers to new products or lowered rates as 
their credit needs and behaviours changed

• The Group reprices customers based on risk, including proactively 
reducing the interest rate for over 500,000 customers to reward them 
for good payment behaviour

• Provide the aqua Credit Checker which allows unlimited access to credit 
reports and a range of personalised tools

• Continued to leverage the Group’s multi-bureau proprietary scorecards 
to lend responsibly through a ‘low and grow’ strategy ensuring credit 
limits grow in a sustainable manner

• Launched the aqua Bounce Back Bootcamp campaign, promoting healthy 
credit habits through public relations and social channels

To build long-term relationships with 
customers by providing support and 
lending responsibly to deliver better 
customer outcomes.

• Rolled out and enhanced customer health check educational campaigns, 
providing support to over 265,000 customers during the year

• Continued to deliver service messages to help customers be better with 
credit, for example limit proximity and payment due date alerts

• Launched a collections toolkit to partner with customers as their 
situation changed

• Continued to invest in programmes that listen to and act on  
customer feedback

To continually adapt product features and 
services in line with the changing needs of 
customers to deliver a value added 
proposition to customers.

• Continued to deliver targeted and tailored product offers including 
balance transfer and, from September 2017, money transfer offers 

• Launched new digital capabilities to improve the online customer 
application experience

• Launched social media channels for Own-brand customers, giving them 
more ways to connect with the Group

Own-brand 
In 2017, the Group continued to invest in customer-focused initiatives and introduced new product 
offerings to meet more credit needs across four customer segments of the near-prime market: 
individuals that are new to credit; those looking to re-build their credit history following an adverse 
credit event; individuals on low incomes; and sole traders.
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Business model aims  Delivering on strategy
Increase retail partners’ sales volumes by 
offering products that are designed to 
meet the credit needs of their customers, 
offering a better experience, a competitive 
price and/or a value added proposition.

• Continued to offer attractive rewards such as brand loyalty points, 
discounts and/or unique value added benefits 

• Rewarded customers with over £25m of loyalty benefits
• Alongside existing Buy Now Pay Later, balance transfers and 0% interest 

promotional offers, introduced money transfer offers in May 2017
• Launched exclusive Debenhams Travel Money benefits to all  

Debenhams cardholders

Access the cost-effective distribution 
network of over 3,400 UK stores and 
retailer websites to deliver on  
opportunities to significantly scale the 
Co-brand business.

• Executed over 1,000 marketing campaigns in 2017 generating £231m in 
additional spend for retail partners and providing a value added 
proposition to customers 

• Introduced a digital in-store applications platform, thereby improving the 
customer’s experience, as well as streamlining the process for retailers

Through continuing to adapt products and 
services to meet the changing needs of 
customers, develop long-standing 
relationships with its retail partners and 
their customers, whilst seeking to add new 
partners to the portfolio.

• The four long-standing retail partners (Debenhams, Arcadia, House of 
Fraser and Laura Ashley) who have an average tenure of over ten years 
generated receivables growth of 9% in the year

• Built on the new relationship with TUI, the travel and tourism company, 
which was launched in November 2016

• In January 2017, launched the Amazon Platinum mastercard, in 
partnership with Amazon

• From November 2017, offered Prime Rewards for Amazon Platinum 
customers who are also Amazon Prime members and introduced 
Amazon Classic to target different customer segments

Work closely with partners to support and 
evolve with them to offer products and 
services that continue to meet customer 
needs, particularly in relation to the rapid 
growth of online retail spending.

• Significant investment in digital innovations, such as instant online spend, 
provide digital growth capabilities for Co-brand partners

• Enabling new customer acquisition channels, delivering new products 
and utilising untapped data analytics opportunities to support retailers’ 
marketing campaigns

• Working with retail partners to drive online sales growth

Co-brand 
The Co-brand products offered are primarily credit cards with a small volume of store cards.  
These cards are typically used by partners’ most loyal customers. For every £1 a customer spends  
on a Co-brand credit card in-store at one of the Group’s retail partners, they will typically spend £3 on  
their Co-brand credit card elsewhere. The Group provides a range of services to partners, including 
targeted marketing campaigns.

Business model continued
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Commitment to colleagues 2017 update
The Group is committed to supporting its 
colleagues to achieve their personal aspirations 
whilst delivering on the Company’s strategy.

• Continued to develop the Learning and Development platform through 
the Leadership Capability Framework (LCF)

• Launched a management development programme for contact centre 
team leaders

• Developed a functional training programme to provide colleagues with 
the specific specialist skills they need in their roles

• To date, the Group has helped over 500 colleagues to gain a better 
understanding of their personal leadership style through  
individual profiling

• 10% of colleagues moved into new roles internally
• All new colleagues complete a Manifesto induction

The Group encourages all colleagues to have a 
voice and uses feedback to improve customer 
and colleague experiences.

• The Group aims to keep the communication with senior management 
open through its ‘Ask ExCo’ online forum and open Q&A sessions at 
quarterly town hall meetings

• An annual engagement survey and mid-year check encourages 
colleagues to provide feedback, which the Group aims to act on. A total of 
91% of colleagues completed the survey in 2017

• Colleagues recognise that the leadership team listen; 72% feel that they 
are listened to by senior management

• 64% of colleagues noted that NewDay takes action based on their 
feedback compared with an external survey norm of 50%

• The Group encourages colleagues to be empowered by the Manifesto 
and values so a new Manifesto and Engagement Index was introduced in 
2017 with an initial result of 69% to benchmark against

The Group aims to build a culture and an 
environment that is rewarding and engaging 
for colleagues.

• The Group invested in and designed new offices in Kings Cross to create 
a great working environment for colleagues

• Colleagues are highly engaged; the Group’s engagement index is 77% 
compared with an external survey norm of 69%

• A significant number of colleagues were recognised through quarterly 
town hall recognition awards 

• The Group continues to motivate its colleagues through the type of work 
they do; 77% of colleagues say they find their work interesting  
and challenging

• NewDay cares about the wellbeing of its colleagues; wellbeing initiatives 
are promoted in addition to offering health benefits

The Group is committed to making sure 
prospective and new colleagues feel welcome.

• During 2017, the Group welcomed 340 new colleagues to the team
• A senior management-led orientation clarifies the Group’s purpose and 

company goals to new colleagues. This provides an understanding of the 
business when they join

Risk and Control are key to the Group’s success. 
The Group balances its entrepreneurial spirit 
with good judgement around risk appetite.

• A Risk and Control Index was introduced within the Pulse survey to ensure 
the Group monitors and maintains a strong risk culture

• Risk and control workshops were designed to align with the goals of the 
functional areas to help people embed risk and control principles in what 
they do every day

Colleagues
NewDay’s aim is to attract, engage, motivate and retain the highest performing colleagues to 
enable the delivery of the Group’s growth strategy. 
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Market review

Understanding our
markets and adapting 
to consumer behaviours
The Group is a leading consumer credit provider serving two specialist sectors of the UK credit market, 
near-prime and Co-brand, both of which are under-served, with significant potential for growth.

• Few providers of near-prime credit cards as specialist 
underwriting and collections skills are required, 
creating high barriers to entry

• This growing market is notably under-served by high 
street banks, allowing significant growth opportunities

• Diverse product range with multiple brands and a 
risk-based pricing approach to best serve the needs  
of different customer segments. Features include 
balance and money transfers, and online financial 
health check tools

• Large market with relatively few operators as 
significant scale is required to operate effectively  
and profitably 

• Retail partners’ network of stores and online presence 
provides scalable, cost efficient distribution channels

• Focus on providing value added services including 
bespoke reward schemes, 0% promotional offer 
periods, balance transfers, money transfers, travel 
money benefits and instant online spend

Segment attractions

Product features

• Opportunity to further expand the product range  
and innovate the customer’s experience through  
digital transformation

• New retailers and digital opportunities offer further 
growth potential by leveraging the scalability of the 
Co-brand platform

Positioned for growth

Own-brand
Number of customers 

1.2m

Co-brand
Number of customers 

4.2m

• 16 years’ experience of full customer lifecycle 
management, facilitating credit building journeys and 
supporting low attrition rates, which has been proven 
through the credit cycle

• Deep understanding of customers’ behaviours  
and needs 

• Established multi-channel distribution capabilities 
driving sustainable new account growth 

• Responsible lending through a ‘low and grow’  
strategy, using multi-bureau proprietary scorecards  
to deliver consistent returns across products and 
marketing channels 

• Proprietary Co-brand credit risk models and  
analytics, proven through the credit cycle

• Deep understanding of customers’ behaviours  
and needs

• Long-standing relationships with established retailers
• Agile platform allows the Group to adapt to the 

different needs of each retail partner
• Digital capabilities and insight into the dynamics of 

online retail by working with a leader in this critical 
sector, Amazon

• Consistently high levels of customer service 
evidenced through above industry average 
transactional NPS

Competitive strengths
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Digital transformation
Consumer credit has returned to growth in the UK. At the same time 
retail growth is being generated from online channels, with a 12% 
year-on-year increase in online retail market sales in 20171. As the 
online market is substantially more competitive on price than the 
high street, retailer margins are being eroded. This is leading retailers 
to focus on opportunities to counteract this through cost reduction, 
loyalty offers and financing offers. As a result, the Group will look 
to develop opportunities to support its partners by evolving the 
products and features it offers, as well as providing data analytics to 
assist in targeting customer offers to stimulate spend.

The Group has also continued to invest in digital channels: 
enhancing product features and providing instant online spend 
product offers. Having successfully launched and expanded 
the Amazon product offering, the Group is well positioned in 
the online marketplace, demonstrating its ability to respond to 
changing consumer spend behaviour. The learnings from online 
acquisition journeys have also been used to transform the Co-
brand in-store application process to a digital platform. As part of 
its strategy review during the year, the Group developed its Value 
Creation Plan with digital transformation one of its foundations, 
to ensure that it continues to evolve its products and services to 
meet the changing needs of customers and market trends.

Regulatory changes
NewDay Ltd and NewDay Cards Ltd have been authorised by 
the FCA since March 2016 with permission to carry out relevant 
consumer credit activities. All firms with permission to carry 
out consumer credit business are required to comply with the 
provisions of the Consumer Credit Sourcebook, as well as other 
relevant chapters of the FCA Handbook. In addition, the Group 
voluntarily subscribes to certain codes of best practice, for example 
the Lending Standards Board’s Standards of Lending Practice and 
the Finance and Leasing Association’s Lending Code. NewDay Ltd 
is also authorised as an Authorised Payment Institution and as a 
result has minimum regulatory capital requirements to comply with.

In 2017, the Group has been preparing for a number of 
regulatory changes including the GDPR, PSD2 and the FCA’s 
final rules arising as a result of its CCMS. 

Credit Card Market Study (CCMS)
In July 2016, the FCA published the findings of its CCMS. The 
study found that the credit card market works well for most 
UK consumers, but that some outcomes could be improved 
through coordinated industry changes. 

Through UK Finance, the industry has agreed a number of voluntary 
measures with the FCA with progress being tracked by the Lending 
Standards Board. The Group considers that the changes are 
consistent with the direction it had already been moving in with its 
Manifesto - helping people be better with credit. These measures 
include providing customers with choice as to how they receive 
credit limit increase offers (in particular, new customers must be 
given the choice of opting in to credit limit increases and existing 
customers must have the ability to set this choice if they wish). In 
addition, the industry has agreed to provide improved customer 
account notifications in relation to the expiry of promotional offers, 
a prompt if customers are approaching their credit limit and the 
ability to change their repayment due date. Firms must implement 
these changes during 2018 and the Group remains on track to 
deliver all agreed measures within the FCA deadlines. 

The FCA issued its final rules in relation to CCMS on 27 
February 2018. The final rules are in line with earlier consultation 
proposals (in particular, in relation to customers who are 

considered to be in the FCA’s definition of persistent debt). 
These rules came into effect on 1 March 2018 and apply to all 
providers of credit card debt. Companies have six months to 
1 September 2018 to implement the requirements (which do 
not apply retrospectively). To support customers in persistent 
debt, the FCA has outlined an escalating intervention strategy 
targeted at these customers. The Group’s customer research 
suggests customers trigger the FCA’s definition for a range 
of reasons (not all indicating financial difficulty) including habit, 
inertia and affordability. The key points to note are: 

• a customer will be considered to be in persistent debt if their 
payments of interest, fees and charges exceed repayment 
of principal over 18 months and their outstanding balance is 
continually in excess of £200; 

• customers in persistent debt must receive communications 
once they are identified as being in persistent debt (i.e. at 
month 18) and, if they remain in persistent debt, after a further 
nine months (i.e. at month 27). Engagement is required with 
customers who remain in persistent debt following a further 
nine month period (i.e. at month 36) with a range of possible 
outcomes dependent on customer affordability, including 
customers paying off their outstanding balance over a period 
of up to four years whilst remaining an active customer, 
forbearance, or full card suspension/closure, including paying off 
their outstanding balance under the existing card terms; and 

• a customer must not be offered a credit limit increase if their 
account status meets the definition of persistent debt over the 
previous twelve months on a rolling basis. 

Under the timeline set by the FCA, the first set of persistent 
debt communications will be sent to customers who satisfy 
the definition of persistent debt on 1 September 2018 (based 
on the 18 month period from March 2017). The first set of 
interventions at 36 months will occur in March 2020. 

In terms of impact to the Group:

• in 2018, no material impact on the financial statements; and
• in 2019, for illustration purposes the Group has modelled the 

financial impact, based on 31 January 2018 customer data, 
before taking account of the Group’s planned actions. In this 
modelled scenario, for those customers that would currently 
fall within the definition of persistent debt the estimated 
impact on total income less net charge-offs (i.e. the cash 
impact) is less than £20m. The Group has identified a significant 
number of initiatives, based on customer feedback and in line 
with its Manifesto, which should improve outcomes both for 
customers and, in turn, NewDay.

The estimated impact relates solely to those customers that 
would be in persistent debt as at 31 January 2018 and does 
not attempt to predict: (i) the actual number of customers that 
will be in persistent debt at 1 September 2018; (ii) the actual 
numbers of customers that will fall within the definition of 
persistent debt going forwards; or (iii) any impact on impairment 
provisions. However, importantly, this modelling does not 
take account of the planned interventions the Group will be 
implementing at all stages along the customer journey. The 
Group expects its updated policies to result in many of these 
customers adjusting their card usage behaviour to take them 
out of persistent debt before interventions are required.

Whilst the overall impact to the Group will only become clear once 
it has implemented its strategy and observed actual customer 
behaviour, the Group believes that these changes will reinforce 
existing initiatives to help customers be better with credit (in line 
with the Group’s Manifesto). The Group plans to provide a further 
update with its Q3 results once the CCMS rules come into force.1. Source: IMRG Capgemini e-Retail Sales Index
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Delivering controlled 
growth and adapting to 
changing consumer trends

Chief Executive Officer’s review

“ The Group continued its strong growth 
trajectory reporting another record 
financial performance with adjusted 
EBITDA up 19%. We continued enhancing 
our digital capabilities and product offerings 
to drive future growth.” 
 
 
James Corcoran 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

2017 was another strong year for the Group delivering receivables growth of 19% and 
surpassing the £2bn receivables milestone. At the same time, the Group recorded a 
significant improvement in the cost-income ratio of 4.4 percentage points, resulting in 
record adjusted EBITDA of £114m (2016: £96m). This was all possible due to the 
foundations of strong organic growth, continuing to relentlessly refine credit and 
collections strategies, whilst leveraging the scalability of the business model to control 
costs. In January, the Group successfully issued £425m Senior Secured Notes and 
throughout the year continued to deliver on its funding strategy, issuing in excess of £1.8bn 
in the form of asset-backed term debt and variable funding note facilities. These were 
distributed to a diversified investor base on more flexible terms.

The Group has continued to develop its range of product offerings and features to ensure customers’ 
changing needs continue to be met. This is evidenced by the relaunch of the opus brand in the Own-brand 
portfolio, aimed primarily at those who are new to credit, alongside the introduction of new product features 
including money transfers. The Co-brand portfolio has successfully integrated product offerings with its two 
new retailers, Amazon and TUI, which, alongside growth from existing retailers, resulted in 19% receivables 
growth. The successful launch and expansion of these partnerships has positioned the Group well in the online 
marketplace, demonstrating the ability to respond well to changing consumer spend behaviour.

In pursuit of customer service excellence, and in line with the Manifesto, the Group continued to achieve above 
industry average transactional NPS and was awarded a bronze award for the Best Complaints Management 
Team at the European Contact Centre and Customer Service Awards (ECCCSAs). This was achieved whilst 
the Group maintained its investment in infrastructure and implemented enhanced online health check tools to 
support customers to be better with credit.
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Strategic priorities
In 2017, the Group has developed its Value Creation Plan, delivery of which will support the achievement 
of its strategic priorities. 

Grow the Own-brand business by responsibly 
saying “yes” to more customers and 

supporting them  
to be better with credit

• Delivered strong growth on the aqua and marbles 
portfolios

• Re-launched opus to service a new customer segment
• Rolled out new product features such as money transfers
• Further improved the application process
• Enhanced online health check tools for customers

• Enhanced online financial health tools, with 265,000 
customers participating in health checks

• The Group reprices customers based on risk, including 
proactively reducing the interest rate for over 500,000 
customers to reward them for good payment behaviour

• Upgraded over 25,000 customers to products that better 
serve their needs

• Provided over £25m to customers in loyalty benefits

Focus on delivering against the 
customer-focused Manifesto to help  

people be better with credit

1 2

2017 progress

Own-brand closing  
receivables

£1,326m (+21%)
(2016: £1,093m)

Own-brand  
risk-adjusted income

£156m (+14%)
(2016: £137m)

Transactional net  
promoter score

+65
(2016: +65)

Complaint volumes  
(per 1,000 active accounts)

1.3
(2016: 1.5)

2017 performance

• Innovate the customer experience through transforming 
digital capabilities

• Introduce additional customer-led value added products 
and features

• Continual optimisation of the ‘low and grow’ strategy for 
credit limit increases

• Introduce further upgrade propositions to continue to 
reward customers for achieving better outcomes

• Introduction of new customer acquisition channels

• Continued optimisation of existing and new customer 
experience

• Greater empowerment of colleagues to propose new 
initiatives and take action in the customers’ favour  
where appropriate

• Continued implementation of the Manifesto with third 
party service providers

Future priorities
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Refer to page 6 for further information on the Manifesto

Refer to page 18 for further information on the Group’s KPIs

Refer to page 35 for further information on the Group’s principal risks

Deliver a robust  
approach to credit 

management

Leverage the major investment in 
the scalable Co-brand platform 

through collaboration with partners

• Launched Amazon Platinum and Amazon 
Classic products

• Enhanced digital product offerings 
and upgraded the in-store application 
experience using digital tablets

• Introduced new value added product 
features, including money transfers and 
travel money

• Strategically aligned the credit 
and collections functions

• Developed further tools to 
assist customers who may be 
in financial difficulty

• Continued sales of specific 
delinquent receivables to 
carefully selected third parties

• Continued controlled growth 
resulting in an increased 
proportion of open book 
receivables which attract a 
higher impairment rate

• Issued £425m Senior  
Secured Debt

• Secured funding facilities in 
excess of £1.8bn through the 
issue of asset-backed term 
debt and variable funding notes 
with a diversified investor base 
and more flexible terms, thus 
protecting the balance sheet 
from potential economic 
downturn

Maintain a strong capital 
base and funding profile  

in order to provide a 
foundation for growth  
and attractive returns  

for shareholders

3 4 5

Co-brand closing  
receivables

£821m (+14%)
(2016: £722m)

Co-brand  
risk-adjusted income

£127m (+7%)
(2016: £119m)

Own-brand  
impairment rate

16.3%
(2016: 14.8%)

Co-brand  
impairment rate

2.9%
(2016: 3.1%)

Pro forma net corporate 
Senior Secured Debt to 
adjusted EBITDA

2.6x
(2016: 3.1x)

Adjusted EBITDA to  
pro forma cash interest 
expense

3.7x
(2016: 3.1x)

• Offer additional digital channels to attract 
customers and facilitate spend

• Continue to grow the recently launched  
TUI and Amazon partnerships

• Continue to innovate the customer 
experience through digital transformation

• Partner with new retailers
• Enhance data analytics provided to retailers
• Working with retail partners to drive online 

sales growth

• Continue to optimise credit 
and collection strategies

• More innovative use of 
prospective and active 
customer data to optimise 
lending decisions 

• Continue to ensure customers 
are fairly treated throughout 
the collections process

• Continue to maintain a strong 
capital base and liquidity 
profile with staggered maturity 
profiles and a diversified 
investor base

• Continue to deliver strong 
shareholder returns through 
continued controlled growth
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Putting customers first
The customer-focused Manifesto and associated values of 
accountability, partnership, excellence, integrity and spirited 
continue to be at the heart of the business and guide how the 
Group and its colleagues interact with customers. In delivering 
the Manifesto this year the Group has:

• repriced customers based on risk, including proactively 
reducing the interest rate for over 500,000 customers and 
upgrading 25,000 customers during the year, rewarding 
customers for their improving circumstances;

• deployed a collections toolkit that gives payment breaks to 
those most in need;

• launched its social media presence to interface with its 
customers in a way that is convenient for them;

• more than doubled its Co-brand satisfaction scores 
following upgraded telephony services; and

• paid out over £25m in loyalty rewards.

As a result of striving for customer excellence, the Group 
won the bronze award for the Best Complaints Management 
Team at the ECCCSAs; the largest and longest running awards 
in the customer contact industry. The ECCCSAs recognise 
organisations that are leading the way in delivering exceptional 
customer service, for valuing their people and continually 
innovating to improve the customer experience. The Group 
was recognised for developing and embedding the ‘NewDay 
Way’; the Group’s philosophy of leadership, teamwork and 
problem solving resulting in continuous improvement across 
complaints management, together with excellent performance 
results that compare favourably with industry averages.

In February 2018, the Group was also recognised at the UK 
Complaints Handling Awards 2018. The Group was awarded 
the gold award for ‘Managing Your People’ and also won gold as 
the overall winner of the awards.

In support of the Group’s continued above industry average 
transactional NPS scores, it started its Customer Issue 
Resolution programme. This gathers customer feedback from 
various sources such as Net Promoter survey verbatim, Trust 
Pilot reviews, complaints, client websites and colleagues, in a 
strive for continuous improvement in the customer  
experience journey.

Continued strong receivables growth
In 2017, the Group originated over 1.1m new accounts (2016: 
1.0m). The Own-brand business welcomed 385,000 new 
aqua and marbles accounts, and opus was relaunched for new 
originations from October 2017. In the Co-brand business, 
the Group launched the Amazon Platinum and Amazon 
Classic cards, which together with the Group’s other retail 
partnerships generated 700,000 new Co-brand customer 
accounts.

Receivables surpassed the £2bn milestone during the year, 
with year end receivables of £2,164m. Own-brand receivables 
now represent 61% of the Group’s receivables (2016: 60%).

Robust credit management
In 2017, the Group built on the foundations of previous years 
and internally restructured its credit and collections strategy 
and operations. This improved alignment delivered new 
credit scorecards, increased the range of tools available to 
colleagues to help customers in financial difficulty and  
further developed technology used to prevent fraud and 
arrears management. There are several medium-term 
strategies to further develop this capability as part of the  
Value Creation Plan.

In addition to the strategic change in credit management, the 
Group remained focused on underlying performance metrics, 
which are key to ensuring growth is well-controlled and within 
risk appetite. The impairment rate on the Own-brand portfolio 
increased to 16.3% (2016: 14.8%) largely owing to strong 
growth in open portfolios (portfolios that originate new credit 
cards) which attract a higher impairment rate, combined with 
increases in Individual Voluntary Arrangements (IVAs), a trend 
seen across the industry. The impairment rate on the  
Co-brand portfolio improved to 2.9% (2016: 3.1%).

The Group’s risk-adjusted margin (RAM) reduced to 14.7% 
(2016: 16.3%) driven by the growth in new Co-brand retail 
partners, the increase in the Own-brand impairment rate along 
with costs associated with the issuance of over £1.8bn of 
asset-backed securities and variable funding notes in the year.

Leveraging the scalable business model
As part of the Group’s ongoing operational strategy it is 
continuing to leverage the scalability of its business model, 
delivering a significant improvement in the cost-income ratio 
of 4.4 percentage points to 34.6% (2016: 39.0%). The Group 
plans significant investment in 2018 to generate further 
efficiencies as part of the Value Creation Plan, aiming to further 
reduce the cost-income ratio over time. This should benefit 
both customers and colleagues aiming to ensure the Group 
maintains its strong customer service scores, high levels of 
employee satisfaction and streamlined processes. In addition, 
further investment in digital transformation aims to ensure 
the Group’s product offering evolves in line with changing 
consumer trends.

Value Creation Plan
Following a successful transition to new owners, as part of 
its review of strategy the Group developed a Value Creation 
Plan. The Value Creation Plan is delivering initiatives across 
four key areas: protecting the business; enhancing credit and 
collections capabilities; delivering a better digital customer 
experience; and generating further operational efficiencies.

The Group aims to protect the business by delivering 
measures that provide a range of options that can be deployed 
in the event of potential adverse external developments. 
These include more effective early warning KPIs and extending 
funding capacity and tenure.

The enhancement of credit and collections includes 
moving to a ‘value-based personalised credit’ proposition, 
and overhauling and upgrading the Group’s collections 
infrastructure and capabilities.

Definitions of key performance indicators are included on pages 18 to 20. 
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The digital initiatives continue to develop the Group’s 
capabilities in generating new online account acquisitions, 
digital servicing and the delivery of mobile platform 
enhancements. The delivery of these developments will also 
be brought in-house, thereby creating unique intellectual 
property for the Group.

The operational efficiencies initiatives reflect opportunities 
to automate processes and reduce costs whilst improving 
customer service.

The Value Creation Plan commenced delivery in the second 
half of 2017, with a delivery schedule of initiatives through  
to 2019.

Enhanced funding capacity
The Group significantly improved its funding strength in 2017, 
generating new funding facilities, excluding the Senior Secured 
Notes, of over £1.8bn with a diversified investor base and 
improved terms. These facilities ensure the Group is able to 
fund in excess of its planned growth, and protect itself in case 
of deteriorating capital markets during an economic downturn. 
The Group also continued to improve its liquidity management 
processes, enabling it to balance flexibility and security.

Regulatory updates and International Financial 
Reporting Standard changes
2017 has been a year of preparation for upcoming regulatory 
changes. Details on the FCA’s CCMS can be found on page 
11. In addition to the final PPI rules and guidelines issued by 
the FCA in March, the Group has also been preparing for other 
regulatory changes, including GDPR and PSD2.

The FCA’s new rules and guidance on the handling of PPI 
complaints set an end date for PPI complaints of 29 August 
2019. There are still a number of uncertainties as to the 
eventual PPI redress costs, however the £45m provision held 
as at 31 December 2017, based on historical and forecast 
claim rates and amounts, along with ongoing legal and 
regulatory developments, is currently deemed to appropriately 
reflect the expected cost to the Group.

During the year, the Group was made aware of a control 
weakness in relation to e-marketing materials distributed by 
third party providers who had been engaged by the Group. 
On 11 January 2018, the Group received a fine from the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) of £230k (reduced to 
£184k for early repayment) in relation to this matter. As soon 
as the matter was identified, the Group took swift action to 
close the relevant marketing channels and a full review of all 
marketing policies and relationships with third party providers 
has been carried out to ensure the ICO’s concerns have  
been addressed.

In addition, the Group has completed its IFRS 9 ‘Financial 
Instruments’ implementation project and has finalised the 
methodology and accounting policies to be applied from 1 
January 2018 when it replaced IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred 
loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit 
loss’ model. For further details see page 28.

Sustainability
The Group remains committed to being a responsible 
business, ensuring it lends responsibly to its customers, 
but also supports local communities and considers its 
environmental impact. The Group continued its work with 
the charity Family Action and other charities nominated 
by colleagues. The Group donated £167k in support of 
these charities during 2017. The Group also established its 
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) framework in the 
year, ensuring specific focus and accountability for the  
Group’s impact on the environment with Board-level oversight 
of performance.

Outlook
2017 was a year to be proud of having successfully completed 
the Acquisition, alongside delivering several new performance 
milestones whilst being independently recognised for strong 
customer service levels. Although economic forecasts are 
generally benign, the Group considers the macroeconomic 
environment to be uncertain and has planned accordingly. The 
Group has made a solid start to 2018, giving confidence in the 
strategy for future growth.

 
James Corcoran
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Performance

Closing receivables

£2,164m
(2016: £1,815m)

Impairment rate

11.3%
(2016: 10.0%)

Risk-adjusted margin

14.7%
(2016: 16.3%)

Underlying cost- 
income ratio

34.6%
(2016: 39.0%)

Adjusted EBITDA

£114m
(2016: £96m)

Underlying return on 
assets

5.7%
(2016: 6.1%)

Pro forma net 
corporate Senior 
Secured Debt to 
adjusted EBITDA

2.6x
(2016: 3.1x)

Adjusted EBITDA to 
pro forma cash interest 
expense

3.7x
(2016: 3.1x)

Definition

Gross customer balances Impairment (£216m)/
average gross receivables 
(£1,918m)

Risk-adjusted income (total 
income less impairment) 
(£283m)/average gross 
receivables (£1,918m)

Underlying costs (servicing 
costs, change costs, 
marketing and partner 
payments, collections fees, 
salaries, benefits and 
overheads) (£172m)/total 
income (£499m)

Risk-adjusted income 
(£283m) less underlying 
costs (£172m) adjusted for 
depreciation and 
amortisation (£4m)

Underlying profit before tax 
(£110m)/average gross 
receivables (£1,918m)

Senior Secured Debt less 
unrestricted cash (£301m)/
adjusted EBITDA (£114m)

Adjusted EBITDA (£114m)/
Senior Secured Debt interest 
expense (£31m)

Explanation

Group receivables grew by 
19% to £2,164m (2016: 
£1,815m) with solid growth 
delivered across both credit 
card portfolios. Open book 
receivables increased by 
£377m to £2,006m (2016: 
£1,629m), or 23%, driven by 
27% growth in the Own-
brand open book and growth 
in the Co-brand open 
portfolios of 16%. Open 
book receivables now 
account for 93% of total 
Group receivables (2016: 
90%). Unsecured Personal 
Loan receivables grew to 
£17m at the year end  
(2016: £nil).

The Group’s impairment rate 
increased to 11.3% (2016: 
10.0%) driven by mix with the 
continuing growth of the 
Own-brand business which 
represents 61% (2016: 60%) 
of Group receivables. This 
has driven an increase in 
open book receivables, which 
attract a higher impairment 
rate compared with the 
run-off portfolios. There has 
also been an increase in IVAs 
within the Own-brand 
portfolio, a trend seen across 
the industry. 

RAM decreased to 14.7% 
(2016: 16.3%), principally 
driven by the growth of new 
Co-brand retail partners, an 
increase in the Own-brand 
impairment rate along with 
costs associated with the 
issuance of over £1.8bn of 
asset-backed term debt and 
variable funding notes in  
the year. 

The Group’s underlying 
cost-income ratio improved 
to 34.6% (2016: 39.0%) 
leveraging the scalability of 
the business and benefiting 
from ongoing efficiency 
projects leading to income 
growth three times higher 
than cost growth. 

 Adjusted EBITDA increased 
to £114m (2016: £96m), 
largely owing to strong, 
controlled receivables 
growth increasing risk-
adjusted income by £27m 
(10%) whilst restricting the 
increase in underlying costs 
to £12m (7%). 

Underlying return on assets 
reduced to 5.7% (2016: 
6.1%) reflecting the growth 
of new Co-brand retail 
partners, the increase in the 
impairment rate as a result of 
the change in receivables mix 
and underlying performance 
of the Own-brand portfolio 
and a higher cost of funding 
following the increase in 
funding capacity secured 
during the year.

Pro forma net corporate 
Senior Secured Debt to 
adjusted EBITDA improved 
by 0.5 times to 2.6x 
reflecting the strong 
adjusted EBITDA 
performance.

The ratio of adjusted EBITDA 
to pro forma cash interest 
expense improved by 0.6 
times to 3.7x reflecting the 
growth in adjusted EBITDA.

Key performance indicators

Key performance indicators
The Group uses a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to review performance and assess 
progress against each of its strategic objectives. These KPIs are supplemented by other key drivers in 
assessing growth opportunities, investment and business initiatives.
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The management basis income statement is presented on page 23. Underlying performance metrics referred to throughout the strategic report exclude a number 
of items reported within the statutory result, as detailed on page 21.
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Performance

Closing receivables

£2,164m
(2016: £1,815m)

Impairment rate

11.3%
(2016: 10.0%)

Risk-adjusted margin

14.7%
(2016: 16.3%)

Underlying cost- 
income ratio

34.6%
(2016: 39.0%)

Adjusted EBITDA

£114m
(2016: £96m)

Underlying return on 
assets

5.7%
(2016: 6.1%)

Pro forma net 
corporate Senior 
Secured Debt to 
adjusted EBITDA

2.6x
(2016: 3.1x)

Adjusted EBITDA to 
pro forma cash interest 
expense

3.7x
(2016: 3.1x)

Definition

Gross customer balances Impairment (£216m)/
average gross receivables 
(£1,918m)

Risk-adjusted income (total 
income less impairment) 
(£283m)/average gross 
receivables (£1,918m)

Underlying costs (servicing 
costs, change costs, 
marketing and partner 
payments, collections fees, 
salaries, benefits and 
overheads) (£172m)/total 
income (£499m)

Risk-adjusted income 
(£283m) less underlying 
costs (£172m) adjusted for 
depreciation and 
amortisation (£4m)

Underlying profit before tax 
(£110m)/average gross 
receivables (£1,918m)

Senior Secured Debt less 
unrestricted cash (£301m)/
adjusted EBITDA (£114m)

Adjusted EBITDA (£114m)/
Senior Secured Debt interest 
expense (£31m)

Explanation

Group receivables grew by 
19% to £2,164m (2016: 
£1,815m) with solid growth 
delivered across both credit 
card portfolios. Open book 
receivables increased by 
£377m to £2,006m (2016: 
£1,629m), or 23%, driven by 
27% growth in the Own-
brand open book and growth 
in the Co-brand open 
portfolios of 16%. Open 
book receivables now 
account for 93% of total 
Group receivables (2016: 
90%). Unsecured Personal 
Loan receivables grew to 
£17m at the year end  
(2016: £nil).

The Group’s impairment rate 
increased to 11.3% (2016: 
10.0%) driven by mix with the 
continuing growth of the 
Own-brand business which 
represents 61% (2016: 60%) 
of Group receivables. This 
has driven an increase in 
open book receivables, which 
attract a higher impairment 
rate compared with the 
run-off portfolios. There has 
also been an increase in IVAs 
within the Own-brand 
portfolio, a trend seen across 
the industry. 

RAM decreased to 14.7% 
(2016: 16.3%), principally 
driven by the growth of new 
Co-brand retail partners, an 
increase in the Own-brand 
impairment rate along with 
costs associated with the 
issuance of over £1.8bn of 
asset-backed term debt and 
variable funding notes in  
the year. 

The Group’s underlying 
cost-income ratio improved 
to 34.6% (2016: 39.0%) 
leveraging the scalability of 
the business and benefiting 
from ongoing efficiency 
projects leading to income 
growth three times higher 
than cost growth. 

 Adjusted EBITDA increased 
to £114m (2016: £96m), 
largely owing to strong, 
controlled receivables 
growth increasing risk-
adjusted income by £27m 
(10%) whilst restricting the 
increase in underlying costs 
to £12m (7%). 

Underlying return on assets 
reduced to 5.7% (2016: 
6.1%) reflecting the growth 
of new Co-brand retail 
partners, the increase in the 
impairment rate as a result of 
the change in receivables mix 
and underlying performance 
of the Own-brand portfolio 
and a higher cost of funding 
following the increase in 
funding capacity secured 
during the year.

Pro forma net corporate 
Senior Secured Debt to 
adjusted EBITDA improved 
by 0.5 times to 2.6x 
reflecting the strong 
adjusted EBITDA 
performance.

The ratio of adjusted EBITDA 
to pro forma cash interest 
expense improved by 0.6 
times to 3.7x reflecting the 
growth in adjusted EBITDA.
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Key performance indicators continued

Non-financial performance

New account 
originations

1.1m
(2016: 1.0m)

Transactional net 
promoter score (NPS)

+65
(2016: +65)

Average full-time 
equivalent employees 
(FTE)

828
(2016: 724)

Employee engagement

77%
(2016: 76%)

Definition

The number of new customer 
accounts originated in the 
period

Average customer feedback 
score when rating their 
experience on an interaction

Average number of 
employees pro-rated to  
full-time working hours

Results of the most recent 
Pulse engagement survey

Explanation

The Group originated over 
1.1m new accounts (2016: 
1.0m). The Own-brand 
business originated 385,000 
new aqua and marbles 
accounts (2016: 389,000) 
and opus was relaunched 
for new originations from 
October 2017. New account 
originations on the Amazon 
portfolio performed well and, 
together with the Group’s 
other retail partnerships, 
generated 700,000 new  
Co-brand customer accounts 
(2016: 632,000).

Throughout the year the 
Group was consistently rated 
in the top quartile of external 
NICE Ltd transactional NPS 
rankings, which benchmark 
across several industry 
sectors.

Headcount increased during 
the year to ensure sufficient 
resources were available 
to support the growth in 
receivables, new product 
launches and new retail 
partners.

Colleagues continue to be 
highly engaged. The Group’s 
engagement index increased 
to 77% compared with an 
external survey norm of 69%. 
A total of 64% of colleagues 
noted that NewDay takes 
action based on their 
feedback compared with an 
external survey norm of 50%.
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Financial review

Financial review

Highlights
• Adjusted EBITDA growth of 19% to £114m (2016: £96m)

• Group receivables grew by 19% to £2,164m (2016: £1,815m)

• Risk-adjusted income increased by 10% to £283m (2016: £256m)

• Impairment rate increased to 11.3% (2016: 10.0%)

• Underlying cost-income ratio improved to 34.6% (2016: 39.0%)

• Issued £425m Senior Secured Debt to fund the Acquisition

• Issued £0.5bn of publicly listed asset-backed term debt to investors pursuant to the Group’s 
securitisation arrangements and renegotiated variable funding note arrangements increasing capacity 
to £1.4bn

• Pro forma net corporate Senior Secured Debt to pro forma adjusted EBITDA of 2.6x (2016: 3.1x)

Overview
The Group recorded a statutory loss before tax of £27m for the period ended 31 December 2017 (2016: profit before tax  
of £73m).

The statutory (loss)/profit before tax includes a number of items, explained below, which do not represent the Group’s 
underlying performance:

2017
£m

2016
£m

Statutory (loss)/profit before tax (27.0) 73.4
Pro forma adjustments1 10.3 –
Pro forma (loss)/profit before tax (16.7) 73.4
Acquisition related expenses 10.7 –
Senior Secured Debt interest and related costs 32.1 –
Fair value unwind 1.9 (5.8)
Interest on shareholder loans 30.5 –
All colleague acquisition bonus 3.2 8.9
Other costs 2.9 18.4
Depreciation and amortisation including amortisation
of intangibles arising on the Acquisition 49.8 1.4
Adjusted EBITDA 114.4 96.3

1. Pro forma adjustments reflect the consolidated performance of NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. for the period from 1 January 2017 to 25 January 2017, being the 
period before NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited acquired NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l., which is not consolidated into the statutory results.
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Acquisition related expenses represent transaction costs, 
comprising due diligence, legal, advisory and tax fees, 
associated with the Acquisition.

Senior Secured Debt interest and related costs includes the 
interest charge and other costs associated with the issuance 
of £425m Senior Secured Notes by NewDay BondCo plc on 25 
January 2017 (the Senior Secured Debt) and the Super Senior 
Revolving Credit Facility entered into by the Company also on 
25 January 2017 (the Revolving Credit Facility).

Fair value unwind reflects the amortisation of fair value 
adjustments on the Group’s acquired portfolios and  
debt issued.

Interest on shareholder loans represents interest accrued 
up to 30 June 2017 at 12% per annum on: (i) a £529m 
intercompany loan from Nemean MidCo Limited, the 
Company’s immediate parent; and (ii) £65m loan notes issued 
by the Company and held by Nemean MidCo Limited. With 
effect from 1 July 2017, the terms of these shareholder 
loan agreements were amended. This resulted in a change 
in classification from liabilities to equity instruments in the 
balance sheet. The interest accrued up to 30 June 2017 
has been recorded as a capital contribution following the 
amendment in terms and no further interest expense will be 
charged to the income statement.

The all colleague acquisition bonus relates to a bonus payable 
to colleagues and certain Directors in connection with the 
completion of the Acquisition.

In 2017, other costs largely consist of expenses related to the 
development of the Value Creation Plan which the Group has 
created to deliver the long-term strategy agreed with Cinven 
and CVC. As a result, the Group incurred and will continue 
to incur additional change costs (which are included within 
adjusted EBITDA) to deliver this plan.

In 2016, other costs were primarily driven by a £19m uplift in 
the PPI provision following the FCA’s final rules and guidance 
published on 2 March 2017. The £45m provision held as at 31 
December 2017 (2016: £56m) represents the Group’s current 
best estimate of the remaining PPI redress and associated 
claims processing costs.

Depreciation and amortisation includes £46m (2016: £nil) 
related to the amortisation of the purchase price that was 
attributed to intangible assets arising on completion of the 
Acquisition. Depreciation of fixed assets totalled £3m  
(2016: £1m).
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2017 2016

Management basis income statement
£m Own-brand Co-brand

Unsecured 
Personal

Loans Group Own-brand Co-brand

Unsecured 
Personal

Loans Group

Interest income 338.3 142.7 0.9 481.9 260.8 132.2 – 393.0
Cost of funds (26.7) (13.2) (0.7) (40.6) (18.5) (11.3) (0.5) (30.3)
Net interest income 311.6 129.5 0.2 441.3 242.3 120.9 (0.5) 362.7
Fee and commission income 39.1 18.3 – 57.4 31.4 18.3 – 49.7
Total income 350.7 147.8 0.2 498.7 273.7 139.2 (0.5) 412.4
Impairment losses on loans and
advances to customers (194.7) (20.7) (0.8) (216.2) (136.3) (20.3) – (156.6)
Risk-adjusted income/(expense) 156.0 127.1 (0.6) 282.5 137.4 118.9 (0.5) 255.8
Servicing costs1 (32.9) (46.8) (0.7) (80.4) (27.8) (46.6) – (74.4)
Change costs (14.4) (6.6) (0.7) (21.7) (7.3) (7.7) (2.8) (17.8)
Marketing and partner payments (14.4) (37.0) (0.7) (52.1) (16.2) (36.1) (0.1) (52.4)
Collection fees 15.8 12.1 – 27.9 12.9 12.8 – 25.7
Contribution 110.1 48.8 (2.7) 156.2 99.0 41.3 (3.4) 136.9
Salaries, benefits and overheads (46.1) (42.0)
Underlying profit before tax 110.1 94.9
Add back: depreciation and 
amortisation 4.3 1.4
Adjusted EBITDA 114.4 96.3
Acquisition related expenses (10.7) –
Senior Secured Debt interest and 
related costs (32.1) –
Fair value unwind (1.9) 5.8
Interest on shareholder loans (30.5) –
All colleague acquisition bonus (3.2) (8.9)
Other costs (2.9) (18.4)
Depreciation and amortisation 
including amortisation of intangibles 
arising on the Acquisition (49.8) (1.4)
Pro forma (loss)/profit before tax (16.7) 73.4

1. In 2017 the allocation methodology for servicing costs on a segmental basis was revised. Applying the same methodology to 2016 would have increased Own-
brand servicing costs by £2.1m and reduced Co-brand servicing costs by the same amount.

In preparing the management basis income statement, cost recoveries have been presented as a component of servicing 
costs rather than as income (a reconciliation to the statutory income statement is detailed in note 3). Additionally, receivables 
disclosed in this section are gross receivables (customer balances excluding any impairment provision and effective interest rate 
adjustments).
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Financial review continued

Adjusted EBITDA for the period increased by 19% to £114m 
(2016: £96m) primarily driven by the strong growth in 
receivables generating increased interest and fee income, 
whilst maintaining a well-managed cost base.

Receivables increased by 19% to £2,164m as at 31 December 
2017 (2016: £1,815m). Own-brand receivables continued 
their strong growth trajectory, increasing by 21% to £1,326m 
(2016: £1,093m) with the Group’s low and grow strategy 
continuing to drive increasing average interest-bearing 
balances, alongside the origination of 388,000 new accounts. 
Co-brand receivables grew by 14% with closing receivables 
of £821m (2016: £722m). New account originations from the 
Group’s new retail partner, Amazon, continue to perform well 
with additional product offerings introduced throughout the 
year tailored to different customers’ needs.

The increase in receivables noted above was the primary driver 
of the 23% increase in interest income for the year to £482m 
(2016: £393m).

Cost of funds increased by £10m, or 34%, to £41m (2016: 
£30m) attributable to the increased average debt issued 
during the period in order to fund receivables growth. Funding 
margins at 2.4% are in line with prior year (2016: 2.4%).

Fee income increased by 15% to £57m (2016: £50m) driven by 
an increase in Own-brand card fees and interchange income 
as a result of higher Own-brand open account volumes.

The impairment rate of 11.3% increased by 1.3 percentage 
points compared with 2016 at 10.0%. The increase was driven 
by: (i) the relative growth of the Own-brand portfolio which 
now represents 61% of Group receivables (2016: 60%) (0.5 
percentage points of the increase); (ii) a 4% change in mix 
within the Own-brand business towards open portfolios which 
attract a higher impairment rate (0.5 percentage points of 
the increase); (iii) the fact that 2016 included one-off items 
that resulted in a lower impairment charge (0.2 percentage 
points of the increase); and (iv) underlying performance that 
was largely impacted by increases in Individual Voluntary 
Arrangements (IVAs), a trend seen across the industry, in the 
Own-brand portfolio (0.1 percentage points of the increase).

The Group continued to leverage the scalability of its business 
model with income growing over three times faster than costs, 
leading to a reduction in the underlying cost-income ratio of 
4.4 percentage points to 34.6% (2016: 39.0%). Whilst total 
income increased by 21% to £499m, the increase in underlying 
costs was limited to 7%.

Servicing costs increased by 8% to £80m (2016: £74m) driven 
by the 16%, or 0.2m, increase in Own-brand open account 
volumes (2016: 1.1m). This evidenced the scalable nature of 
the business alongside the continued delivery of operational 
efficiencies.

Change costs of £22m increased by 22% (2016: £18m) 
with £6m of costs incurred on projects pursuant to the 
delivery of the Group’s Value Creation Plan, partially offset 
by non-recurring costs in 2016 in relation to the new retail 
partnerships with Amazon and TUI.

Marketing and partner payment costs were in line with prior 
year at £52m (2016: £52m) with an increase in Co-brand 
partner payments reflecting the addition of two new retail 
partners, largely offset by a reduction in Own-brand marketing 
costs as a result of changes in the digital marketing strategy.

Collection fee income increased by 9% to £28m (2016: £26m), 
primarily as a result of growth in Own-brand account volumes.

Salaries, benefits and overheads were 10% higher than prior 
year at £46m (2016: £42m) as headcount increased to support 
the growth in receivables, new product launches and new  
retail partners.
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Own-brand closing receivables

£1,326m

Own-brand risk-adjusted income

£156m

Own-brand
Own-brand continued to deliver strong receivables growth of 
21% to £1,326m as at 31 December 2017 (2016: £1,093m) 
driven by higher customer spend resulting from the Group’s 
low and grow strategy, alongside 388,000 new account 
originations during the year (2016: 389,000).

Own-brand open book receivables increased by 27% to 
£1,188m as at 31 December 2017 (2016: £936m) with solid 
growth across both the aqua and marbles portfolios, along with 
the relaunch of the opus brand in October 2017 which had 
previously been a closed book. The closed book continued to 
run-off in line with expectations, with £138m (2016: £157m) of 
receivables outstanding at the year end.

The growth in the open book was the main driver of the 
portfolio’s 29% growth in net interest income to £312m (2016: 
£242m). Funding margins at 2.7% were in line with prior year 
(2016: 2.7%).

Fee and commission income increased by 25% to £39m 
(2016: £31m) driven by growth in the number of open 
accounts.

The impairment rate on the Own-brand portfolio at 16.3% 
increased by 1.5 percentage points compared with 2016 
(2016: 14.8%). The increase was primarily driven by: (i) 
a change in mix towards the open portfolios, which now 
represent 90% of the Own-brand portfolio (2016: 86%) 
and attract a higher impairment rate compared with the 
more mature run-off portfolio (0.9 percentage points of the 
increase); (ii) the fact that 2016 included one-off items that 
resulted in a lower impairment charge (0.4 percentage points 
of the increase); and (iii) underlying performance that was 
largely impacted by increases in IVAs; a trend seen across the 
industry (0.2 percentage points of the increase).

Servicing costs increased by 18% to £33m (2016: £28m) 
primarily driven by increased open account volumes, partially 
offset by the continued delivery of operational efficiencies.

Change costs doubled to £14m (2016: £7m) driven by projects 
as part of the Value Creation Plan, which is intended to drive 
benefits in 2018 and beyond, as well as delivery of product 
enhancements with the relaunch of the opus brand in  
October 2017.

Marketing and partner payment costs reduced by 11% to 
£14m (2016: £16m) reflecting changes in the digital  
marketing strategy.

Collection fees increased by 22% to £16m (2016: £13m) 
primarily as a result of growth in account volumes.

As a result, Own-brand underlying contribution increased by 
£11m, or 11%, to £110m (2016: £99m).
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Co-brand
Growth in the Co-brand portfolio accelerated to 14% with 
receivables of £821m as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 
£722m). Following the introduction of TUI into the portfolio in 
November 2016, the Group launched a product in partnership 
with Amazon in January 2017. New account originations on 
the Amazon portfolio performed well and additional product 
offerings were introduced throughout the year, tailored to 
different customers’ profiles and credit needs.

Net interest income increased by £9m, or 7%, to £130m 
(2016: £121m) largely driven by the 14% increase in 
receivables, offset by a £2m increase in costs of funds as a 
result of the costs associated with the refinancing of asset-
backed securities in the year. Funding margins at 1.9% were in 
line with prior year (2016: 1.9%).

Fee and commission income was in line with 2016 at £18m 
(2016: £18m).

The impairment rate improved by 0.2 percentage points to 
2.9% (2016: 3.1%). The portfolio was well-managed leading to 
lower charge-offs year-on-year whilst delivering 14% growth 
in receivables, which also reflects the stable risk profile of the 
customer base.

Adjusting for the change in segmental allocation explained 
on page 23, servicing costs increased by 5% to £47m despite 
delivering a 14% increase in receivables demonstrating the 
scalable nature of the Co-brand platform.

Change costs of £7m decreased by 14% compared with prior 
year (2016: £8m) as a result of non-recurring costs in 2016 in 
relation to the new retail partnerships.

Marketing and partner payment costs increased by £1m to 
£37m (2016: £36m) reflecting the addition of two new retail 
partners, Amazon and TUI.

Collection fees decreased by £1m to £12m (2016: £13m) 
primarily as a result of improved delinquencies.

As a result, underlying contribution increased by £8m, or 18%, 
to £49m (2016: £41m).

Unsecured Personal Loans
The Unsecured Personal Loans business, launched in December 2016, continues to be offered to existing Own-brand customers as the 
Group continues to build credit understanding of the portfolio ahead of increasing volume. As at 31 December 2017, closing receivables 
totalled £17m and the segment generated a negative contribution of £3m for the year (2016: negative contribution of £3m).

Balance sheet
The balance sheet continues to be well-funded as at 31 December and is summarised below:

2017
£m

20161

£m

Loans and advances to banks 167.9 168.6
Loans and advances to customers 2,104.4 1,760.0
Goodwill and intangible assets 637.3 4.0
Debt issued and other borrowed funds (2,252.7) (1,561.2)
Provisions (56.9) (68.6)
Other net liabilities (12.1) (4.0)
Net assets 587.9 298.8

Share capital and share premium – 2.0
Equity instruments 593.9 230.3
Capital contribution 30.5 13.3
Retained (losses)/earnings (36.5) 53.2
Total equity 587.9 298.8

1. For further details of the Predecessor Group’s prior year financial information, refer to the 2016 Annual Report and Financial Statements which can be found on the 
Group’s website at www.newday.co.uk.

Books
Closed books
Open books

54
63

0

29
69

3

20
80

1

201720162015

11
3 11

9

12
7

201720162015

Co-brand closing receivables

£821m

Co-brand risk-adjusted income

£127m

Financial review continued

26 newday.co.uk

http://www.newday.co.uk


Goodwill and intangible assets of £676m were recognised on completion of the Acquisition, see note 10 for further details. On a 
pro forma basis, if the Group had completed the Acquisition on 1 January 2017, the Group’s loss after tax would have been £10m 
lower and therefore retained losses would have been £27m.

The increase in debt issued and other borrowed funds was driven by the strong growth in loans and advances to customers, 
along with increased headroom on funding following the issue of over £1.8bn of asset-backed term debt and variable funding 
notes pursuant to the Group’s funding strategy.

Capital and liquidity
The Group’s business model continues to be cash generative with free cash flow available for growth and debt service of £86m 
(2016: £87m). In addition, the Group has continued to strengthen its funding position with £1.8bn of funding facilities raised 
under the securitisation programmes during the year. These were secured on more favourable terms, increased capacity and 
resulted in diversification of the investor base.

Pro forma cash flows
2017

£m
20161

£m

Net cash used in operating activities (312.0) (271.9)
Net cash used in investing activities (988.3) (5.4)
Net cash generated from financing activities 1,295.9 332.4
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4.4) 55.1
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 128.8 73.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 124.4 128.8

1. For further details of the Predecessor Group’s prior year financial information, refer to the 2016 Annual Report and Financial Statements which can be found on the 
Group’s website at www.newday.co.uk.

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities for the period ended 31 December 2017 was £312m (2016: £272m) primarily driven by 
the increase in receivables growth, one-off costs related to the Acquisition and the increase in cost of funds associated with 
the Senior Secured Debt.

Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the period was £988m (2016: £5m) largely as a result of the completion of the Acquisition.

Net cash generated from financing activities
Net cash generated from financing activities for the period was £1.3bn (2016: £332m) driven by the issuance of the Senior 
Secured Debt, further issuances of publicly listed asset-backed term debt under the securitisation structures and the 
shareholder loan arrangements.

Debt maturity profile (£m)
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In July 2017, the Group successfully returned to the capital 
markets to issue £244m of publicly listed asset-backed term 
debt (of which £17m is retained by Group entities), achieving 
lower funding costs and a scheduled maturity of July 2020, 
under the Own-brand master trust securitisation programme. 
The Group issued a further £299m of publicly listed asset-
backed term debt (of which £5m is retained by Group entities) 
under the Co-brand master trust securitisation programme in 
October 2017. This issuance refinanced the 2014 Co-brand 
master trust issuance which was redeemed in December 2017 
and the Group secured an extended five-year maturity and 
increased advance rates whilst maintaining the same funding 
cost as the original issuance.

Pursuant to the Group’s Value Creation Plan strategy of 
protecting the business from macroeconomic impacts, in 
December 2017 the Group successfully refinanced its variable 
funding notes, increasing capacity to £1.4bn, diversifying 
the investor base and introducing more flexible terms within 
the facilities to provide additional headroom. This is to help 
ensure the Group can continue to execute on its planned 
growth strategy in the event that the capital markets were to 
deteriorate in an economic downturn.
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Financial review continued

The following table reconciles adjusted EBITDA to free cash flow available for growth and to service the Senior Secured Debt:
2017

£m
2016

£m

Adjusted EBITDA 114.4 96.3
Change in impairment provision 28.2 19.6
Adjusted EBITDA excluding change in impairment provision 142.6 115.9
Change in working capital (10.4) (5.9)
PPI provision utilisation (11.3) (12.4)
Capital expenditure (11.1) (5.4)
Tax paid (5.6) (1.4)
Exceptional costs1 (17.9) (3.7)
Free cash flow available for growth and debt service 86.3 87.1

Ratio of pro forma net corporate Senior Secured Debt to adjusted EBITDA2 2.6x 3.1x
Ratio of adjusted EBITDA to pro forma cash interest expense2 3.7x 3.1x
Adjusted ratio of pro forma net corporate Senior Secured Debt to adjusted EBITDA3 2.2x 3.0x

1. Exceptional costs represent the cash outflow for transaction costs associated with the Acquisition, the issuance of the Senior Secured Debt and entering into the 
Revolving Credit Facility.

2. Pro forma adjusted EBITDA and cash interest expense has been presented as though the corporate Senior Secured Debt had been in place for the entire 
comparative periods.

3. Adjusted ratio of pro forma net corporate Senior Secured Debt to adjusted EBITDA reflects the impact on net corporate Senior Secured Debt of the cash available 
under the variable funding notes.

The staggered nature of the Group’s maturity profiles mean that 8% of committed debt facilities are due for refinancing in less 
than one year and 92% are due in one to five years. The Group currently intends to raise further funds through the issue of asset-
backed securities during the course of 2018 to refinance the debt facilities due in less than one year.

There is no regulatory capital requirement for any subsidiary other than NewDay Ltd owing to its status as an Authorised 
Payment Institution. The current levels of capital for NewDay Ltd exceed the minimum capital requirement with headroom  
of £6m.

The Group is subject to various requirements and covenants related to levels of capital and liquidity. The Group regularly 
monitors compliance with these requirements and covenants to ensure they are met at all times.

The number and nominal value of all the parent company’s shares are detailed in note 21.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’
The Group’s IFRS 9 implementation project was managed by an executive steering group and macroeconomic panel that 
approved design and build decisions, with oversight from the Audit Committee. The Group has finalised the methodology 
and accounting policies to be applied from 1 January 2018 when it replaced IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and 
measurement’. IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ model. Instead 
of recognising an impairment provision when there is objective evidence of impairment, for example a missed payment, the 
new standard requires an impairment provision to be recognised on origination of a credit card agreement or loan, based on 
its anticipated credit loss, thus significantly changing the timing of recognition of impairment on customer receivables. Upon 
adoption on 1 January 2018 there was a one-off adjustment to loans and advances to customers and retained earnings in the 
order of £210m, increasing the coverage ratio from 6% under IAS 39 to 16% under IFRS 9. Split by credit card portfolio the  
one-off adjustment for Own-brand and Co-brand was in the order of £190m and £20m respectively. This represents an increase 
in the Own-brand coverage ratio from 9% to 23% and an increase for Co-brand from 2% to 4%. The impact is the Group’s best 
estimate pending finalisation of the transition work. The Group continues to refine, monitor and validate certain elements of the 
impairment models and related controls ahead of full reporting of IFRS 9 impacts later in 2018.

Given the strong growth across the Group’s portfolios, there will be an ongoing delay in the recognition of profits as a result of 
reporting impairment provisions upon origination. It is important to note that IFRS 9 only changes the timing of profit recognition; 
the Group’s business model, charge-offs and cash flows are unaffected by the change in accounting standard and the ultimate 
profitability of each agreement will be the same under both IAS 39 and IFRS 9. For further details of the Group’s accounting under 
IFRS 9 see note 29.
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Approach to risk 
management
The Group’s Risk Management Framework is embedded within the corporate governance structure, 
with a strong emphasis on the effective management of risk on a day-to-day basis, coupled with 
strong oversight, challenge and assurance. 

Risk management

The Risk Management Framework comprises six core components:

1. Risk appetite statements

2. Risk governance

5. Risk management skills, resources and culture

6.
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Quantitative

Change

Stress Testing

Monitor

AssessControl

Conduct  
risk 

Credit  
risk

Financial  
control

Liquidity,  
funding and cash 
management risk

Operational  
risk

Underpinning the overarching Risk Management Framework, the Group  
also has five sub-frameworks covering the following specific risk types:

Managing risk effectively is important to the Group and fundamental to the way  
NewDay oversees its business and applies the Risk Management Framework.

4. Risk data and IT systems
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The diagram below details the Group’s three lines of defence risk management model:

line of defence Assurance (internal audit) Independent assurance

line of defence Enterprise Risk Function Oversight and advice

line of defence Business Risk/reward management

The leaders of each business area 
have primary accountability for the 
performance, operation, compliance 
and effective control of risks 
affecting their business area.

Executes the business strategy as 
set by the Board. Conducts day-to-
day business within the parameters 
of defined risk appetite and Risk 
Management Framework.

The Enterprise Risk Function is an 
independent risk management 
capability, reporting to the Chief 
Risk Officer. The Chief Risk Officer 
reports to the Chief Executive 
Officer and independently to the 
Chairman of the Risk Committee. 
The Chief Risk Officer also has 
independent access to the business 
and Board members, as appropriate.

Provides independent oversight of 
the risk profile of the business and 
operation of the Risk Management 
Framework.

Assurance is provided by the internal 
audit function which is independent 
of both the business and the 
Enterprise Risk Function, and 
reports to the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee.

Provides independent assurance 
on the design, operation and 
effectiveness of the control 
framework, including activities 
performed by the first and second 
lines of defence. 

1st

2nd

3rd

Name Activity

Risk management continued
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• Risk governance

• Tools, processes and 
methodologies

• Assess and control risks

• Informed risk-based 
decision-making

Component 1: Risk appetite statements
The Group’s risk appetite statements are the link between the overall business strategy and the management of risk through the 
Risk Management Framework. The statements are cascaded down into their component parts, including risk appetite objectives 
and triggers. This enables the risk appetite to inform day-to-day decision-making.

Informed risk-based decision-making

Strategy
• Focus on delivering against the 

customer-focused Manifesto 
to help people be better with 
credit

• Grow the Own-brand business 
by responsibly saying “yes” 
to more customers and 
supporting them to be better 
with credit

• Leverage the major 
investment in the scalable 
Co-brand platform through 
collaboration with partners

• Deliver a robust approach to 
credit management

• Maintain a strong capital base 
and funding profile in order 
to provide a foundation for 
growth and attractive returns 
for shareholders

Risk appetite 
statements

• Holistic risk assessment

• Translated into measures

• Ongoing assessment

Risk management framework

Business conduct (includes legal, 
regulatory and conduct risk):
the Group’s objective is to treat 
customers fairly and to ensure that 
they remain at the heart of everything 
the Group does. The Group works to 
ensure that customers do not suffer 
detrimental outcomes as a result of 
product design, sales or post-sales 
processes and will appropriately 
correct identified errors. The 
customer-focused ethos is 
embedded within the governance 
and culture of the organisation.

The Board uses both quantitative and qualitative measures to monitor performance under each objective. Risk appetite 
measures are monitored monthly by the relevant business committees and holistically by the Enterprise Risk Management 
Committee (ERMC) and the Board Risk Committee, with appropriate actions being taken where triggers have been breached. 
Risk appetite is approved by the Board who set risk appetite thresholds at least annually to ensure the business strategy is 
delivered in a sustainable and responsible way. Risk appetite is also considered as part of the business planning process and 
reflects the Group’s latest commercial, economic and regulatory thinking. 

Operational performance (includes 
operational risk):
the Group’s objective is to fulfil 
business commitments through 
systems and processes that are 
appropriately controlled, scalable, 
cost-effective and comply with 
applicable external and internal rules, 
laws and regulations. This includes 
having efficient and effective 
processes; technology and systems 
that are reliable, scalable and provide 
the right level of automation; having 
the right number of skilled and 
motivated people in place; and 
developing and retaining talent. The 
Group seeks to have appropriate 
oversight, challenge and governance 
in place over planned change.

Financial strength (including credit, 
financial control, liquidity, funding, 
capital and cash management risk) 
has two objectives:
• to maintain a strong financial 

position by managing profitability 
and cash generation and ensuring 
that financial strength and liquidity 
are maintained at levels that reflect 
the Group’s desired financial and 
credit risk profile, to comply with 
funding covenants and regulatory 
requirements, and to enable 
planned growth in both normal and 
stressed conditions; and

• to originate and manage customer 
receivables with a risk and reward 
balance in line with the Group’s 
financial and strategic objectives, 
whilst also ensuring internal 
impairment reserve adequacy  
levels are met.

Three risk appetite objectives underpin the delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives
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Component 2: Risk governance
Our formal governance committees oversee the application of the three lines of defence model and the continued suitability of 
the overarching Risk Management Framework and the sub-frameworks.

The table below details the risk governance structure in place across the Group:

The Board is ultimately accountable for risk and the oversight of risk management. It considers the appropriateness of the Risk 
Management Framework in line with risk appetite and Group strategy. The Board considers the most significant risks facing the 
Group and uses quantitative and qualitative exposure measures to monitor and challenge performance. The Board delegates 
responsibility for risk management oversight to the Board Risk Committee, which consists of at least three members.  
The Board articulates its approach to risk management via the Board Risk Management Policy, which is reviewed annually.

The Chief Executive Officer chairs the Management Committee, which is responsible for the day-to-day management of the 
business and has delegated authority from the Board to make decisions on risk matters within the agreed risk framework. The 
Chief Executive Officer also implements the decisions made and policies approved by the Board and deals with matters arising 
within the ordinary course of business.

Reporting to the Chief Executive Officer and Board Risk Committee, the Chief Risk Officer leads the Enterprise Risk Function and 
chairs the Enterprise Risk Management Committee (ERMC).

Business level committees provide management with a structure to ensure appropriate focus is applied to the oversight and 
management of specific risk types: credit risk; financial risk; conduct risk; and operational risk.

1. Including regulatory and compliance risk.
2. The Board Audit Committee and Board Remuneration and Nomination Committee also form part of the risk governance structure in relation to specific risks within 

their remit as defined in their terms of reference.

Credit Risk 
Committee

Credit Risk 
Framework

Operational 
Risk 

Committee

Operational 
Risk 

Framework

Customer and  
Conduct Risk 
Committee

Conduct Risk 
Framework

Financial Control Framework

Credit  
risk

Liquidity  
risk

Market  
risk

Operational  
risk

Customer 
and  

Conduct risk1

Strategic  
risk

Board  
governance

Management 
governance

Core  
policy

Frameworks

Sub-frameworks

Board

Management Committee

Board Risk Committee2

Enterprise Risk Management Committee

Board Risk Management Policy

Overarching Risk Management Framework

Asset and Liability Risk Committee

Liquidity, Funding and Cash 
Management Risk Framework

Risk management continued
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Component 3: Risk processes and methodologies
Risk management processes and methodologies are central to the framework, allowing for the identification, assessment, 
control and monitoring of risk.

Component 4: Risk data and IT systems
Risk data and IT systems supply the information required for the risk management processes and methodologies to operate 
effectively and deliver the risk management strategy and objectives.

Management information is monitored and reported throughout the governance process and relevant committees.

Qualitative
Defined processes for the identification, assessment, control and monitoring 
of risk. These processes are used to assess risks both within the Group and 
at third party suppliers and agents.

Quantitative
Defined models and processes for the quantification of risk exposures 
with oversight at the ERMC where senior management are made aware 
of quantitative methodologies which allow assessment of the risk profile 
against risk appetite, and limits for credit risk and financial risk to be set.

Policies
Policies set out how the Group interacts with customers, colleagues, 
partners and regulators to ensure the risk profile is managed in a manner 
proportionate to its scale and complexity.

Risk reporting
Risk reporting articulates risk information in a clear and concise manner to 
inform decision-making and to enable the Board and its relevant committees 
to monitor and manage the Group’s risk exposures in line with its risk 
appetite. Risk management reporting facilitates the management and 
escalation of risks in line with the risk appetite set by the Board.

Identify

Monitor

AssessControl
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Component 5: Risk management skills, resources and culture

Component 6: Risk Management Framework validation 

Monitoring TestingReviewing

Risk management continued

SkillsCulture

Resources

Risk management is the responsibility of 
every colleague to act in accordance with the 
Group’s risk culture as set out in the Manifesto. 
It includes the management of specific risks 
and controls delegated to them as part of their 
remit and general, broader responsibilities 
relating to relevant laws and legislation.

Communications, training, performance 
management and reward structures 
support the effective operation of the Risk 
Management Framework. Regulatory risk-
based training is mandatory for all employees, 
and communicating the importance of risk 
management is an ongoing part of the wider 
assurance activity. The Enterprise Risk 
Function supports the business by providing 
guidance and training where required. 
Additionally, risk training is provided on an 
ongoing basis to Board members.

Monitoring, reviewing and 
testing the components 
of the Risk Management 
Framework to ensure its 
effectiveness and 
alignment to the risk 
strategy and overall 
business plan. Plans for 
testing, oversight and 
assurance are drawn up 
across the three lines of 
defence and agreed by risk 
governance committees.
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Strategic risk

Description
The risks arising from a sub-optimal 
business strategy or business model.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Change of ownership and delivery of 

Value Creation Plan
• Heightened levels of interest and 

discussion about the credit card 
industry amongst politicians and  
the media

• Regulatory market studies

Mitigants
• Business strategy and annual/

dynamic review process
• Group budgets defined, allocated 

and monitored to align with 
strategic objectives with formal 
quarterly reviews

• Risk appetite aligned with strategic 
objectives and business planning

Potential impact
Financial loss, reputational damage or failure to meet internal and/or public policy objectives.

Enhancements in 2017
• Review of value creation opportunities using external consultants and creation of the associated Value Creation Plan
• Restructuring of the business organisation model to include a Chief Credit and Collections Officer on the  

Executive Committee

Direction for 2018
• Delivery of initiatives that underpin the Value Creation Plan
• Continue to monitor the external environment and assess the possible implications for the business model
• Mature the linkages between risk appetite and strategic decision-making

The ongoing identification, assessment, monitoring and 
management of the Group’s risk profile occurs through the 
established management and committee structures which 
operate across the organisation, and through the Board Risk 
and Audit Committees, as well as the Board itself.

Risks are measured on a qualitative and quantitative basis. 
Data is gathered through quantitative measurement for 
credit and financial risks, together with qualitative assessment 
through the Group’s risk registers. This is complemented 
with senior management top-down challenge. The Group’s 

risk radar of the current principal risks that are identified as 
potentially material to the business is frequently presented to 
the Board for their discussion and input. Each risk is challenged 
to ensure it is mitigated as appropriate and is within defined 
risk appetite.

The following table details the principal risks facing the Group, 
including the specific risk factors in 2017 and the key mitigants 
used to ensure the risk is managed to an acceptable level, as 
well as enhancements delivered this year and focus areas  
for 2018. 

Principal risks overview
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Macroeconomic risk

Description
The risk of adverse movements in 
economic trends in the UK.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Ongoing Brexit negotiations
• Deteriorating consumer confidence
• Inflation
• Interest rate rise

Mitigants
• “What if” analysis
• Business strategy and annual  

review process
• Business budgets defined, allocated 

and monitored to align with 
strategic objectives

• Risk appetite aligned with strategic 
objectives and business planning

• Diversification of Co-brand partners 
and product offerings

• Robust outsourcing and supplier 
oversight processes

• Ability to deploy multiple levers 
from new business growth, credit 
allocations and cost controls

• Monitoring of lead indicators

Potential impact
Detrimental effects on the anticipated returns and business strategy of the Group.

Enhancements in 2017
• Further refinement of Brexit and macroeconomic triggers and associated monitoring
• Appointment of Chief Credit and Collections Officer to Executive Committee
• “What if” analysis 

Direction for 2018
• Continued focus on the UK economy
• Monitoring of the external environment and the outcomes of Brexit negotiations
• Effect strategy and scorecard amendments, as deemed necessary

 

Risk management continued
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Regulatory risk 

Description
a) The risk that a change in laws or 
regulations governing the Group may 
affect the business model.

b) The risk that the Group may fail to 
comply with legal or regulatory 
requirements.

Key risk factors in 2017
• FCA CCMS
• Preparation for compliance with the 

GDPR and PSD2
• Pace and scale of transformation 

within the Group

Mitigants
• Review of legislative and regulatory 

change and ongoing compliance by 
the legal and conduct advisory team

• External legal advice sought where 
circumstances dictate

• Engagement with relevant 
regulatory bodies

• Participation in consultative/ 
market reviews

• Project management of large scale 
regulatory projects, for example 
business readiness for FCA 
regulation

• Proactively deploying agreed FCA 
CCMS actions

• Legal and conduct advisory team 
involvement in transformational 
activities and new product  
approval process

Potential impact
• Significant alterations to the business model may have a material impact on the performance and profitability of 

the organisation
• Non-compliance with laws or regulation could lead to reputational damage, enforcement action and/or financial loss

Enhancements in 2017
• Productive engagement with the FCA in relation to the CCMS
• Business-wide project teams established to deliver compliance with the CCMS, GDPR and PSD2
• Continued engagement with regulatory and industry bodies
• Further recruitment to strengthen the legal and conduct advisory team through the addition of a finance lawyer and 

corporate lawyer

Direction for 2018
• Delivery of agreed CCMS remedies
• Implementation and compliance with GDPR and PSD2 requirements
• Prepare for the implementation of the ‘Senior Managers and Certification Regime’
• Continue to respond to and understand industry-wide events
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Credit risk

Description
The risk that unexpected losses may 
arise as a result of customers failing 
to meet their obligations to repay.

Key risk factors in 2017
• UK economy and potential for 

interest rate rises
• Customer indebtedness, particularly 

debt to income ratios or rising 
pressure on household income as a 
result of low pay growth, and impacts 
on customer affordability

• Customer behaviour, particularly 
IVAs and bankruptcies

• Brexit uncertainty resulting in the 
potential for economic drag that 
could impact credit performance

Mitigants
• Daily performance monitoring 

with ability to modify credit and 
collections strategies and actions at 
short notice

• Credit Risk Committee overseeing 
the execution of the Credit Risk 
Management Framework

• Credit risk policies and procedures
• Credit risk strategies
• Model governance framework
• ERMC oversight

Potential impact
Increased impairment provisioning requirements and potential for increased losses.

Enhancements in 2017
• Delivery of the IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ impairment framework
• Continued enhancements to credit risk and collections monitoring
• Delivery of collections toolkit providing a broader range of solutions for customers in financial difficulties
• Implementation of credit risk strategies to support the relaunch of opus
• Enhancements to credit risk and collections policies
• Increased resources and expansion of the governance team
• Continued enhancement to risk appetite with the introduction of new risk appetite metrics and sub-radar credit metrics
• Continued enhancement of the Credit Risk Management Framework

Direction for 2018
• Deliver new collections system with a dynamic, outcomes-focused operating model
• Deliver improvements to scorecards, decision systems and insight with robust controls
• Deliver enhancements to creditworthiness, affordability and customer indebtedness strategies
• Improvements to pre-arrears strategy and treatments including strategy to target minimising persistent debt levels across 

all credit decisions, as part of the response to the CCMS
• Ongoing enhancements to IFRS 9 impairment framework post delivery

Risk management continued
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Financial risk

Description
a) The risk that the Group may not 
have sufficient liquidity to fulfil its 
short, medium and long-term 
objectives and/or meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Maintenance of unrestricted  

cash levels
• Funding arrangements in light of  

new business developments and 
new products

Mitigants
• Maintenance of unrestricted  

cash levels
• Execution of funding strategy

b) The risk that the Group may not 
have sufficient resources to fund 
future receivables growth.

• Refinancing of Co-brand 2014 
asset-backed securities

• Funding growth in the Own-brand 
business

• Execution of funding strategy

Potential impact
• Unrestricted cash ensures that the Group can implement its business plan under normal conditions and within the Board’s 

agreed cash risk profile. If there is insufficient unrestricted cash this could impact the Group’s ability to meet ongoing 
financial commitments, invest in new business or pay Senior Secured Debt interest

• Availability of funding for receivables would impact the Group’s ability to support customer spending and receivables 
growth

Enhancements in 2017
• Additional variable funding note capacity of £575m to protect the business from funding markets being closed
• Refinancing of existing bond successfully completed
• £30m revolving credit facility obtained as a source of contingent corporate liquidity
• Overall maturity profile of funding extended with average maturity of three years

Direction for 2018
• Renew and refinance funding facilities that mature during the year
• Implementation of a system to automate production of key securitisation reports 
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Financial risk

Description
c) The risk of material financial and 
management reporting 
misstatements occurring, or errors in 
finance processes.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Significant change in corporate 

structure following the Acquisition
• Significant number of change 

projects leading to increased 
workloads

• High reliance on manual controls
• Dependence on End User 

Developed applications

Mitigants
• Financial Control Framework 

(FCF) governing processes and 
procedures across finance

• First, second and third line of 
defence, supplemented by external 
audit of Financial Statements

Potential impact
Control deficiencies around financial processes may result in the following:

• misstatement of external reporting (Annual Report and Financial Statements, bank submissions, regulatory reports or 
securitisation reports) which could impact the Group’s reputation and lead to financial loss and/or withdrawal of funding;

• misstatement of information for internal decision-making leading to financial loss;
• non-compliance with tax regulations; or
• financial losses may result from incorrect payments to third parties.

Enhancements in 2017
• Continued FCF development and embedding, with increased number of first line of defence assurance reviews conducted
• New Head of FCF appointed
• Reduction in End User Developed applications following the implementation of a new budget and planning system
• Continued second and third line of defence reviews and external audit testing

Direction for 2018
• Ongoing development of FCF
• Further enhancements to existing processes
• Improved risk aggregation and monitoring

 

Risk management continued
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Operational risk

Description
The risk of inadequate or failed 
internal processes and systems; loss 
of customer data; higher PPI claims; 
loss from external events including 
legal, internal and external fraud 
but excluding application fraud and 
strategic/business risks.

Based on the Group’s operating 
model, this extends to all of the 
services and processes provided by 
third parties.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Significant increase in scale and pace 

of transformation, particularly digital 
and data-led projects

• Recruitment of sufficient skilled 
resources to deliver transformation, 
particularly given the competitive 
nature of the digital developer 
market

• Optimising system automation 
and/or use of Robotic Process 
Automation to counter reliance on 
manual controls

• Cyber security, particularly related to 
third party controls

• Dependency upon services provided 
by third party suppliers, particularly in 
relation to the provision of systems 
and data and collections contact 
centre capabilities

Mitigants
• Operational Risk Committee 

overseeing the Operational Risk 
Management Framework (ORMF)

• Supplier governance framework
• New product approval committee
• Process quality assurance 

procedures
• Financial reconciliation controls
• Change governance and dedicated 

project management resources
• Business Continuity Management
• Logical access management
• Information Security Framework
• Penetration testing
• IT incident management
• Physical security
• Recruitment, remuneration and 

performance management

Potential impact
Reputational damage, regulatory censure and/or financial loss.

Enhancements in 2017
• Continued embedding and enhancing of the ORMF across the organisation
• Roll-out of monthly control attestations across business functions
• Increased resources in the first line of defence
• Improvements in Operational Risk Committee management information
• Incident Management reporting enhancements
• Ongoing enhancement of supplier governance
• Significant advancement in cyber security resources, processes and tools
• Continued review of cyber security and security of customer data at Management Committee and Audit Committee
• Further improvements in change management disciplines

Direction for 2018
• Continued improvement to ORMF across the organisation
• Further advances to controls over third parties
• Continued enhancements and investment in cyber defence and security of customer data
• Full embedding and roll-out of risk management system
• Aggregation and monitoring of risk management information
• Strengthening of manual control attestations and increased reliance on automated controls
• Enhanced End User Developed applications governance
• Maintaining rigour and discipline in change management to deliver the extensive transformation agenda
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Conduct risk 

Description
The risk of customer detriment 
arising from inappropriate culture, 
products and processes.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Reliance on third parties’ controls, 

such as retail partners and 
aggregators, over new customer 
acquisition

• FCA CCMS, particularly customers 
with persistent debt characteristics

• GDPR; including customer consents 
for direct mail

• Perceptions of the credit card 
industry in light of heightened levels 
of interest and discussion about 
the credit card industry amongst 
politicians and the media

Mitigants
• Customer and Conduct Risk 

Committee overseeing the 
Conduct Risk Framework

• Manifesto, Values and risk and 
control training

• New product approval committee
• Retail partner monitoring and 

relationship management
• Supplier governance programme
• Policies and processes for 

vulnerable customers
• Policies and processes for 

complaint handling
• Quality monitoring
• Performance measurement and 

reward in risk and control
• Engagement in risk and control 

measured in company colleague 
survey

Potential impact
Reputational damage, brand impact, regulatory censure and/or financial loss.

Enhancements in 2017
• Improved identification and treatment of vulnerable customers
• Ongoing enhancements to affordability strategies
• Re-invigoration of the Manifesto
• Implementation of pre-arrears strategies (collections toolkit, health check)
• Redefined collections contact strategy
• Increased first and second line conduct risk resourcing

Direction for 2018
• Further development of affordability assessments
• More in-depth training of associates who deal with vulnerable customers
• Further enhancement of business customer outcome monitoring

 

Risk management continued
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Market risk

Description
The risk of direct or indirect losses 
that arise from fluctuations in values 
of, or income from, assets or in 
movements in interest or exchange 
rates or credit spreads.

Key risk factors in 2017
• Interest rate movements in  

the market 

Mitigants
• Not undertaking activities that 

expose the Group to market  
trading risk

• The need for interest rate swaps 
(or equivalent) to hedge liabilities 
is continually assessed and utilised 
where required

Potential impact
Financial loss as a result of adverse fluctuations in value or adverse movements in interest rates, exchange rates or  
credit spreads.

Enhancements in 2017
• Owing to the simple nature of the interest rate risk facing the Group, no enhancements were made during 2017 and the 

Group chose to be unhedged against changes to LIBOR

Direction for 2018
• Continued monitoring of the interest rate curve and appropriate actions to be taken as required
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The Group believes that the long-term interests of 
all its stakeholders are best served by maintaining a 
high standard of corporate responsibility in all areas 
of operations. Responsible lending is at the heart of 
the business and the Group is committed to being 
a welcoming, knowing, understanding and 
rewarding company for its customers, partners and 
colleagues, as well as local communities.

Responsible lending
The Group’s Manifesto is at the heart of everything it does and 
remains a strategic priority. As explained on page 6, the Group 
is committed to helping customers be better with credit 
through its foundations of being a welcoming, understanding, 
knowing and rewarding business. This focus ensures the 
Group continues to strive to provide excellent customer 
service and develop products and services that evolve in line 
with customers’ changing needs in order to build long-term 
relationships.

The Group also ensures that it continues to lend responsibly 
through deployment of its ‘low and grow’ strategy, offering 
each new customer a low initial credit limit until that customer 
demonstrates he or she can actively manage and afford 
further credit in a responsible and sustainable manner. 
This is supported by robust scorecards built on 16 years of 
experience and data analytics. Own-brand customers are 
provided with online financial health check tools to support 
them in developing a greater understanding of their financial 
situation so that they can become better with credit and 
benefit from the rewards offered by the Group. The Group’s 
contact centre colleagues are also trained to identify 
potentially vulnerable customers and a specialist team is in 
place to provide those customers with the support they need.

Supporting colleagues
The Group is committed to ensuring its working environment 
is one in which colleagues feel valued and respected. It 
operates an equal opportunities policy and opposes all forms 
of discrimination; the Group believes colleagues, prospective 
colleagues, partners, suppliers and customers should be 
treated fairly, regardless of race, colour, nationality, gender, 
age, religion, marital status, sexual orientation, disability or any 
other personal characteristics.

The recruitment, training, career development and promotion 
of disabled people, having regard to their particular aptitudes 
and abilities, is encouraged and the Group helps to retain and 
retrain colleagues who become disabled whilst in employment.

The Group supports the provision of a living wage and 
is focused on developing its colleagues and supporting 
them to achieve their full potential. Bi-annual, externally 
managed employee surveys are conducted that consistently 
demonstrate high levels of employee engagement, with 77% 
of colleagues saying they felt engaged in the latest survey 
(2016: 76%); significantly above the benchmarked survey 
norm of 69%. The results and comments from these surveys 
shape the Group’s strategy around employee engagement, 
including how the Group communicates with colleagues and 
ensuring appropriate training and development is provided.

As at 31 December 2017, the number of employees totalled 
1,001 and the proportion of females was as follows:

2017 females 2016 females

Employees 52% 54%
Management Committee 16% 14%
Board 9% 25%

The Group aims to have an appropriate balance of Directors 
on the Board. Following completion of the Acquisition the 
composition of the Board has changed. Notwithstanding this 
the Group remains committed to diversity and continues 
to encourage individuals within the business to maximise 
opportunities to enhance their experience and take on  
senior roles.

Human rights
The Group is fully committed to supporting human rights 
through compliance with all relevant laws and regulations.

Sustainability

Sustainability
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Supporting the community
The Group acknowledges that it has a role to play in  
supporting the healthy functioning of the UK financial 
system and that how it does business is important. The 
Group recognises its responsibility to all of its stakeholders 
including customers, colleagues and shareholders, as well 
as to local communities and society in general and takes this 
responsibility very seriously.

Alongside creating value for customers, retail partners 
and colleagues as discussed on pages 7 to 9, the Group is 
also committed to supporting the community. Its Charity 
Committee promoted and organised fundraising initiatives 
throughout the year and oversaw the matched-funding 
scheme to which all colleagues are eligible to apply. The 
scheme provides funding for individual, employee-led charity 
activities and during the year colleagues took part in a number 
of varied activities to support their nominated charities. In 
2017, £26k was donated to local community charities, as well 
as those charities supported by colleagues.

The Group has also continued its work with Family Action, its 
charity partner, and made donations totalling £141k during 
2017. Family Action provides practical, emotional and financial 
support to those who are experiencing poverty, disadvantage 
and social isolation. The Group donates funding to support 
Family Action’s national grant scheme that helps families 
regain independence following a crisis. For example, Family 
Action have made a number of grants to provide practical and 
emotional support to the Grenfell community, following the 
fire that took place in June 2017.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
The Group recognises the importance of minimising its 
impact on the environment and the introduction of its ESG 
framework ensures appropriate focus and accountability. 
The ESG policy provides an assessment framework that 
considers the significant ESG issues across the business, the 
outcomes of which are used to identify risks and opportunities 
for improvement. The governance in place assigns roles and 
responsibilities for developing and overseeing ESG reporting 
processes and ensuring compliance with the Group’s ESG 
policy. Management processes have been developed to 
identify ESG risk areas and opportunities, with the Board taking 
responsibility for ESG and reviewing ESG performance at 
regular intervals.

By following a formalised and structured approach, the Group 
develops and refines its ESG policy and reporting processes. 
Formal reporting is completed through quarterly KPI’s that are 
reviewed at Group level for insights and best practice sharing.

Environmental impact
The Group actively monitors and manages carbon emissions 
associated with the business, based on the energy 
consumption of operations. These are broken down into 
direct and indirect emissions. Owing to the nature of the 
business these are focused on general energy consumption 
across the Leeds and London sites and also business travel 
between sites, mainly via train. The Group’s carbon footprint is 
considered to be low, especially with the move to a new energy 
efficient London office and the predominance of train travel 
between sites.

Social impact
KPIs focus on human capital and their impact. Colleague 
engagement, attrition and overall training is tracked, as well as 
the Group’s community support investment programme with 
the charity Family Action.

Governance
This focuses on health and safety (specifically focused on 
accident and incident rates), anti-bribery and corruption, and 
data security breaches. All provide an additional lens with which 
to view the Group’s governance framework. All are reported 
through key operational controls aligned into the ERMC.

NewDay has recently moved its London office to a renovated 
170-year old building in the centre of Kings Cross Estates. 
The new office is in the process of gaining Building Research 
Establishment’s BREEAM accreditation, the world’s leading 
sustainability assessment method for buildings. In order to 
achieve the BREEAM rating the standard sets out over 100 
environmental impact reducing requirements that must be 
met. These measures will reduce the carbon footprint of the 
building which will reduce running costs, but will also ensure 
the building becomes a more healthy and productive place 
for its occupants. Both the Leeds and London offices have 
dedicated facilities management teams ensuring that they are 
managed efficiently and in compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations.

Modern Slavery Act
The UK Government introduced the Modern Slavery Act in 
October 2015 requiring certain companies to detail the steps 
taken to ensure that slavery and human trafficking are not 
taking place within the organisation, or within the supply chain. 
The Group fully supports the eradication of both slavery and 
human trafficking, and aims to act fairly, ethically and openly 
in everything that it does to achieve this. The Group’s Modern 
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement is available on its 
website at www.newday.co.uk.
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Governance

Completion of the Acquisition on 26 January 2017 represented a key milestone for the 
Group. As a result of the Acquisition the Group welcomed Caspar Berendsen, Peter 
Rutland, Rory Neeson, Arron Wu, Maxim Crewe (subsequently replaced by David Giroflier) 
and Pev Hooper to the Board. Each of these Board members brings significant experience 
and insight, having served on the boards of regulated companies, as well as in the specialty 
finance sector.

Both Cinven and CVC are committed to high standards of corporate governance. Whilst no significant changes 
have been made to the Group’s strong governance framework, the Directors continue to monitor governance 
arrangements to ensure they remain fit for purpose and reflect the size and ambition of the Group.

During the year, the Board took a number of key decisions. The principal governance matters addressed in 2017 
were:

• delivering on the Group’s strategy for continued growth and leveraging investments made to deliver 
shareholder returns;

• approval of the Value Creation Plan which identified an exciting range of initiatives aimed at generating 
incremental value for shareholders whilst ensuring the business is adequately protected;

• regularly reviewing customer outcomes and progress against the Manifesto;
• implementing quarterly investor reporting for Senior Secured Noteholders;
• closely monitoring regulatory developments to ensure the Group is aware of matters on the regulatory 

horizon and is adequately prepared for them;
• monitoring macroeconomic conditions to ensure the Group’s strategy is appropriate; and
• carrying out a full review of the terms of reference of the Board and each of its Committees to ensure they 

operate effectively, have clear lines of responsibility and, where deemed appropriate, comply with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code.

“  Overall, the Board met its 
objectives during the year and, 
with a strong embedded 
governance framework, the 
Group is well placed for its next 
stage of growth.”

Sir Malcolm Williamson
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Chairman’s introduction
to corporate governance
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First line of defence
Business

Second line of defence
Enterprise Risk Function

Third line of defence
Assurance (internal audit)

Customer and Conduct  
Risk Committee

Operational Risk Committee

Credit Risk Committee

Asset and Liability Risk Committee

Commercial

Operations

Legal and Conduct Advisory

Finance and Treasury

Independent assurance
Provides independent assurance  
on the design, operation and 
effectiveness of the control 
framework, including activities 
performed by the first and second 
lines of defence.

Oversight and advice
Provides independent oversight of 
the risk profile of the business and 
operation of the Risk Management 
Framework.

Business management
Executes the business strategy  
as set by the Board. Conducts  
day-to-day business within the 
parameters of the Group’s risk 
appetite and Risk Management 
Framework.

NewDay Group UK Limited Board

Board Risk 
Committee

Board 
Remuneration 

and Nomination 
Committee

Enterprise Risk 
Function

Internal Audit

Board Audit 
Committee

Enterprise Risk 
Management 
Committee

Management 
Committee

Chairman’s introduction to corporate governance

Governance framework
During 2017, the commercial aspects of the Group’s UK 
subsidiaries were managed by the Board of NewDay Group 
UK Limited (the Board), a wholly owned subsidiary of NewDay 
Group (Jersey) Limited, the Jersey-based parent company. 
The Directors of NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited were 
responsible for the matters relating to NewDay Group (Jersey) 
Limited and their report for the period is set out on page 62. In 
addition, the Managers of NewDay Group Holdings  
S.à r.l. (the parent company of the Predecessor Group)  
remain responsible for matters relating to NewDay Group 
Holdings S.à r.l..

Other than as set out on page 62, the governance and risk 
framework described in this report relates to the governance 
and risk framework established for the Group’s  
UK subsidiaries and references to the ‘Board’, ‘Group’, 
‘NewDay’ and ‘Company’ should be construed accordingly 
(where appropriate).

The Board’s role and composition are regularly reviewed to 
ensure that they are well defined and appropriate, and support 
the long-term development of the Group.

The day-to-day responsibility for managing the Group’s 
business is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer who, 
supported by the Management Committee, implements the 
decisions and policies approved by the Board and deals with 
matters within the ordinary course of business.

The Board, where deemed appropriate, adheres to the 
Financial Reporting Council’s UK Corporate Governance 
Code, which can be found online at www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/
Codes-Standards/Corporate-governance/UK-Corporate-
Governance-Code.aspx.

In addition, the Group complies with the Walker Guidelines for 
Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity, which can be 
found online at: http://privateequityreportinggroup.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/11/gmg_guidelines-jul14_final.pdf.

Credit and collections

People
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Board of Directors

Sir Malcolm Williamson
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director and member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

Sir Malcolm Williamson is the former Group Chief Executive of Standard Chartered Bank and former President 
and CEO of Visa International. Knighted in 2007, Sir Malcolm was Chairman of Signet Jewelers, Clydesdale 
Bank/National Australia Group Europe and a Non-Executive Director of National Australia Bank until 2012. He 
also previously served as Chairman of CDC Group, Friends Life Group and Britannic Group and was Deputy 
Chairman of Resolution. He has been a Non-Executive Director of JP Morgan Cazenove Holdings, G4S and  
the National Grid Group. He was also a member of the Board of Trustees for the International Business  
Leaders Forum.

Current external appointments include: Senior Independent Director at Aviva; Chairman of Cass Business 
School’s Strategy and Development Board; the Governing Council of the Centre for the Study of Financial 
Innovation; and the Board of Trustees for Youth Business International.

Alison Reed
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and Risk 
Committee

Alison Reed has extensive business knowledge and experience from her previous senior business roles as Chief 
Financial Officer at Marks and Spencer Group plc and Group Finance Director at Standard Life plc (including 
Standard Life Assurance Company). Alison is a Non-Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of British Airways 
plc and a Member of Council and the Audit Committee of Exeter University. Alison was previously a Non-
Executive Director at Darty plc and HSBC Bank plc. She is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales.

Board of Directors

Rupert Keeley
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee

Rupert Keeley is the General Manager for PayPal’s businesses in Europe, Middle East & Africa (EMEA), an 
Executive Vice President of PayPal (Holdings) Inc. and Chief Executive Officer of the PayPal Europe bank. 
Rupert has more than 30 years of banking and payments experience and was formerly Visa Inc.’s Group 
Executive and President of the Asia Pacific and CEMEA regions, and a Section 16 Officer of the company. He 
held a number of management roles including Global Head of Strategy and Corporate Development. Prior to 
joining Visa in 1999, Rupert held a number of senior management positions with Standard Chartered plc based 
in London, Singapore and the Middle East. He started his career at Girobank plc in London. Rupert holds an 
MBA in Marketing from the City University Business School, London and a B.Sc. (Hons) in Management 
Sciences from the University of Manchester.

James Corcoran
Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and member of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

James Corcoran has over 30 years of global financial services experience with large multi-national companies, 
such as American Express, Citibank, HBOS and IBM. James began his career in sales and marketing, moving 
into general management where he has held various senior executive positions over the past 20 years. He has 
run credit card businesses for First USA/Bank One and Amex and at HBOS his final role was CEO of the 
Distribution, Retail and Insurance Division. Prior to that, he was Head of HBOS’ Retail Product business units. 
James joined NewDay as CEO in January 2009 from Washington Mutual in Seattle, where he was President of 
the Retail Banking Division.
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Rory Neeson
Investor Director (Cinven)

Rory Neeson is a Partner at Cinven. Prior to joining Cinven, Rory was at Bain & Company for five years in London, 
Madrid and Stockholm where he worked on projects across a variety of sectors including financial services, retail, 
industrials and publishing. Rory holds an MA in Economics from Cambridge University.

Rory is an experienced investor in the financial services sector, having been involved in the acquisition and 
management of Guardian Financial Services (PRA/FCA regulated) and Viridium Group (BaFin regulated). Rory sat 
on the board of Guardian Financial Services and he is currently a member of the board for Viridium Group. Rory 
also has significant knowledge and understanding of the financial services industry having diligenced a number of 
businesses in the last five years.

Peter Rutland
Investor Director (CVC Capital Partners), member of the Risk Committee and 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Peter Rutland is a Partner at CVC, is Co-Head of CVC’s Financial Services Group and leads CVC’s financial 
services investing in Europe. Prior to joining CVC, he worked for Advent International. Prior to working at 
Advent International, Peter worked for Goldman Sachs in the Investment Banking Division. Peter holds an MA 
degree from the University of Cambridge and an MBA from INSEAD.

Peter has led or been responsible for investments in Brit Insurance (a leading Lloyd’s insurance and reinsurance 
company), Avolon (global aircraft leasing company), Skrill (the second largest provider of online payment solutions 
in Europe), Domestic & General (a leading provider of product protection and warranty insurance in Europe), 
Pension Insurance Corporation (a leading pension annuity provider in the UK) and Paysafe (a global leading 
provider of online payment solutions). A number of these portfolio companies are also PRA/FCA regulated.

Board of Directors continued

Paul Sheriff
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Paul Sheriff has over 20 years of experience in financial services organisations spanning banking, asset 
management and insurance. Paul joined from Legatum, a private investment firm based in Dubai where he was 
CFO/COO for three years, having previously been CFO/COO of Record plc, a main market listed asset 
management business. Prior to this he was Group Finance Director at Arbuthnot Banking Group plc, a listed 
banking group, and Commercial Finance Director of the Prudential’s UK and European business. Earlier in his 
career he spent five years in private equity and qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Arthur Andersen. He is 
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Arron Wu
Investor Director (CVC Capital Partners), member of the Audit Committee

Arron Wu is a Director at CVC. Arron is a member of the CVC Financial Services Group. Prior to joining CVC, 
Arron worked at Oliver Wyman where he focused on financial services opportunities in Asia, Europe and the US 
for over three years. Arron holds a BSc degree in Economics from University College London.

Arron is an experienced investor in the financial services sector, having led and been responsible for 
investments in Brit Insurance (a leading Lloyd’s insurance and reinsurance company), Skrill (the second largest 
provider of online payment solutions in Europe), Domestic & General (a leading provider of product protection 
and warranty insurance in Europe), Pension Insurance Corporation (a leading pension annuity provider in the 
UK) and Paysafe (a global leading provider of online payment solutions). A number of these portfolio companies 
are also PRA/FCA regulated.

Caspar Berendsen
Investor Director (Cinven), member of the Risk Committee and Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

Caspar Berendsen is a Partner at Cinven and leads the Financial Services sector team and the Industrials sector 
team. Prior to this, Caspar worked at J.P. Morgan in London advising Dutch and Belgian clients across a variety 
of sectors. Caspar holds an Ir degree in Mining and Petroleum Engineering from the Technical University Delft, 
the Netherlands and graduated from the Erasmus University, Rotterdam with a Drs in Business Administration.

Caspar has extensive experience of investing across various financial services industries. He has led and been 
responsible for investments in Guardian Financial Services (PRA/FCA regulated), Viridium Group (BaFin 
regulated), Eurovita (IVASS regulated), Avolon, Premium Credit Limited (FCA regulated) and Partnership 
Assurance plc (PRA/FCA regulated). Caspar has also been a member of the board and risk and audit 
committees for Partnership Assurance plc, Avolon, Guardian Financial Services, Viridium Group and Eurovita.
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David Giroflier
Investor Director (Cinven), member of the Audit Committee

David Giroflier is a Principal at Cinven. Prior to joining Cinven, David worked in the Investment Banking Division 
of HSBC in Paris, advising on M&A transactions across a range of sectors including industrials, aerospace and 
consumer. David also advised the French government on various transactions. David graduated from the HEC 
School of Management in Paris with an MSc in Business Administration. David is an experienced private equity 
investor, having been involved in a number of Cinven’s transactions including Camaïeu, Tractel and Visma. 
David previously sat on the board of Camaïeu. David also has significant knowledge and understanding of the 
financial services industry having diligenced a number of businesses in the past three years.

Robin Peveril Hooper
Investor Director (CVC Capital Partners)

Pev Hooper is a Partner at CVC and sits on the boards of Domestic & General, the RAC and SkyBet. He was also 
responsible for CVC’s prior investments in the AA, Saga, Merlin Entertainments and Virgin Active, and has sat 
on the boards of these and other CVC portfolio companies. He joined CVC in 2003 after working in mergers 
and acquisitions at Citigroup and Schroders. He holds an MA degree from Oxford University.

Pev brings a range of UK consumer financial services experience from his time on the boards of FCA/PRA 
regulated businesses such as Domestic & General (a leading provider of product protection and warranty 
insurance in Europe), Saga (a leading motor and home insurance provider for the over 50s), the RAC and the AA 
(both leading roadside recovery providers and insurance brokers). 

Whilst the Board, among other things, directs the Group’s strategy, the Management Committee supports the Chief 
Executive Officer in the management of the Group’s day-to-day operations. The Management Committee comprises the 
Chief Executive Officer (who acts as Chair) and Chief Financial Officer together with the following individuals:

Ian Corfield

Chief Commercial Officer

Ian joined NewDay in 2014 after 
six years at the Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia, where he was 
CEO and a Board Director of its 

majority owned Aussie Home 
Loans subsidiary, having previously 

been CEO of the Retail and then 
Business Bank at Bankwest.

Mark Eyre

Chief Risk Officer

Mark joined NewDay in 2014 from 
Deloitte, where he was a Director 

in the Risk and Regulation practice, 
providing advisory support to 

financial services firms regarding 
risk management and regulation.

Damaris Anderson-Supple

Chief People Officer

Damaris joined NewDay in 2013. 
Damaris joined to lead the People 

team at NewDay from Hill and 
Knowlton Strategies UK, where she 

was Chief Operating Officer and 
where talent strategy was a  

key priority.

Stephen Rowland

General Counsel

Stephen joined NewDay in  
2011 from Santander UK, where  

he was Legal and Compliance 
Director for the UK Cards  

business for two years.

Rob Holt1

Chief Credit and  
Collections Officer

Rob joined NewDay in 2012 from 
Santander UK where he held various 

leadership roles spanning Credit 
Risk, Collections, Commercial and 

Marketing Analytics. Prior to this, Rob 
worked for HBOS, Capital One and 

PwC in a career spanning over  
20 years in financial services.

Sanjay Sharma

Chief Operating Officer

Sanjay joined NewDay in 2013. 
Sanjay has more than 24 years’ 

experience in senior operational 
roles in international businesses 
working in India, the Philippines, 
London and Austria. He joined 

from Bawag PSK in Vienna where 
he was Chief Operating Officer 

and a member of the Management 
Board.

Management Committee

1. Rob was appointed to the Management 
Committee in 2017.
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Attendance at Board and Committee meetings

Member Board meetings attended
Audit Committee meetings 

attended
Risk Committee meetings 

attended

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 

meetings attended

Sir Malcolm Williamson 7/7 N/A N/A 4/4
Alison Reed 7/7 5/5 4/4 N/A
Rupert Keeley 6/7 N/A N/A 4/4
James Corcoran 7/7 N/A N/A 4/4
Paul Sheriff 7/7 N/A N/A N/A
Caspar Berendsen 7/7 N/A 4/4 4/4
Peter Rutland 7/7 N/A 4/4 4/4
Rory Neeson1 7/7 5/5 N/A N/A
Arron Wu 6/7 4/5 N/A N/A
David Giroflier1, 2 5/7 N/A N/A N/A
Pev Hooper 6/7 N/A N/A N/A
Maxim Crewe2 0/7 N/A N/A N/A

Note: Lord John Eatwell, Alan Hughes, Rick Noel and Mary Phibbs all resigned as Directors on 26 January 2017 following completion of the Acquisition.
1. On 8 February 2018, David Giroflier replaced Rory Neeson as a member of the Audit Committee.
2. Maxim Crewe resigned as a Director on 5 May 2017 and David Giroflier was appointed in his place.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s activities. The Directors are apprised of, 
debate and challenge operational performance 
metrics, risk matters, customer and conduct-
related matters, and receive reports on current 
strategic initiatives.

The Directors bring many skills and a breadth of experience 
to the Board, including strategic experience, commercial 
knowledge, retail banking experience, UK regulatory 
knowledge, treasury and funding experience, risk management 
expertise, operational IT and accounting experience. This 
enables Board members to make informed decisions on key 
issues facing the business.

Throughout the year, the Group maintained appropriate 
insurance cover to protect the Directors from liabilities 
that may arise against them personally in connection with 
the performance of their role. In addition: (i) the articles of 
association of NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited contain an 
indemnity in favour of its Directors so far as is permitted under 
Jersey law; and (ii) certain of the Group’s UK subsidiaries have 
similar provisions in their articles of association providing 
qualifying third party indemnities for the benefit of the 
Directors of such entities.

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for creating a foundation for growth 
and attractive shareholder returns. It determines the vision, 
strategy and high-level policies of the Group, striking an 

appropriate balance between risk and reward, whilst ensuring 
positive customer outcomes. It sets out the guidelines within 
which the business, including those parts of the business 
that are outsourced, is managed and controlled. It monitors 
business performance against agreed targets, within an agreed 
budget, to support the strategic objectives of the business.

It also provides oversight and independent challenge, 
particularly with regard to the business’ culture and values.

The Board executes these responsibilities through its own 
decision-making and by delegating responsibility to Board 
Committees and to the Chief Executive Officer, with support 
from the Management Committee. The Board has three 
sub-committees: the Audit Committee; the Risk Committee; 
and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The roles 
and responsibilities of each committee are documented in 
Board-approved terms of reference. However, some matters 
are reserved for consideration by the Board. These include 
matters relating to: (i) strategy and management; (ii) structure, 
capital and funding; (iii) financial reporting and controls; (iv) 
internal controls and risk management; (v) material contracts; 
(vi) external communications requiring Board approval; (vii) 
changes to the Board’s structure and remuneration and senior 
management arrangements; (viii) delegation of authority; and 
(ix) corporate governance matters.

The Board

Board of Directors continued
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are 
separate and clearly defined.

The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the Board and its 
meetings to ensure that: (i) the Board meets its responsibilities; 
(ii) effective communications are maintained with stakeholders; 
and (iii) Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information 
regarding the Group.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the 
Group and the management of its senior executives within 
parameters set by the Board.

The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for the 
development, recommendation and implementation of the 
Group’s strategic plans, which are approved by the Board. The 
Management Committee supports the Chief Executive Officer 
in the performance of his duties.

Board balance and independence
The majority of the Board consists of Investor Directors. These 
Investor Directors have significant experience serving on 
the boards of regulated companies as well as in the specialty 
finance sector.

In addition, three experienced Independent Non-Executive 
Directors sit on the Board whose views carry substantial weight 
in the Board’s decision-making processes. These members 
were appointed on merit after a process involving external 
search consultants. They were considered to be free from 
any relationship with the Group’s executive management that 
could compromise their independent judgement.

Independent professional advice is available to the Directors at 
the Group’s expense.

Training
Directors are provided with a structured induction programme 
upon appointment, followed by introductions to senior 
managers below Board level. Directors are able to attend 
relevant training courses on joining the Board.

To continue to ensure that the members of the Board are 
up to date on the latest developments and maximise their 
effectiveness, training was delivered on the following topics in 
2017: (i) Approved Persons and the Senior Managers Regime; 
(ii) FCA Risk Outlook and Sector Priorities; (iii) Market Abuse 
and Inside Information; and (iv) the GDPR.

The long-standing inclusion of Independent Non-Executive 
Directors offers an external perspective, independent 
challenge and broad expertise in key areas of financial services 
and other related disciplines.

Supply of information
An online repository for Board materials is used to supply 
appropriate and good-quality information to the Board. 
All Directors have access to the services of the Company 
Secretary and other staff, as required.

Political donations
The Group did not incur any political expenditure or make 
any political donations to political parties, other political 
organisations, or any independent election candidates during 
the year.

Relations with Cinven and CVC
Cinven and CVC each have three Investor Directors appointed 
to the Board and, acting together, control the Board for voting 
purposes. In addition, three experienced Independent Non-
Executive Directors and two Executive Directors also sit on 
the Board.

The Boards of NewDay Ltd and NewDay Cards Ltd, the 
regulated entities within the Group, do not have Investor 
Directors and are comprised only of Executive Directors 
(together with, in the case of NewDay Ltd only, the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors).

Engagement with Cinven and CVC is encouraged through 
attendance at Board meetings and, in months in which there 
is no Board meeting, specific investor meetings are arranged. 
As part of this process, representatives of Cinven and CVC 
receive updates on key Group initiatives.

Directors’ conflicts of interest
The Group has procedures in place for the effective 
management of conflicts of interest. The Articles of 
Association of relevant UK Group companies contain 
provisions to allow the Board to authorise potential conflicts 
of interest so that a Director is not in breach of his or her duty 
under company law.

Internal control and risk management systems
The Board is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the 
Group’s internal control system to maximise its effectiveness. 
The internal control environment is described on page 57.

Share capital
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company did 
not acquire any of its own shares.
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Chairman’s overview
The Audit Committee has been focused on a number of areas this year. In early 2017, the Committee approved 
the accounting for the purchase price allocation following the Acquisition, as well as overseeing changes to the 
Group’s corporate structure as a result of the Acquisition.

Following the issuance of Senior Secured Debt on 25 January 2017, the Group is required to report externally to 
investors on a quarterly basis. The Committee has reviewed and approved these financial reports throughout 
the year to ensure they comply with reporting requirements, as well as to ensure that the judgements applied 
therein are appropriate. The Committee continued to focus attention on areas of judgement and complexity, 
including the provisions for impairment of loans and advances to customers and PPI, and assessed the impact 
of these on the Financial Statements.

The Committee was kept appraised of the Group’s progress in implementing IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, 
paying particular attention to the key judgements inherent in the calculation of expected credit losses in 
providing for loans and advances to customers, as well as understanding the impact of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers’ on the Group.

In addition, the Committee continued to work with internal audit and oversaw the continued development of an 
in-house function following the recruitment of an internal audit team in 2016.

Audit Committee

“  2017 was a transitional year for the Group. 
The Acquisition resulted in new accounting 
considerations, as well as new reporting 
obligations following the issue of the Senior 
Secured Debt. The Committee assessed  
the material judgements inherent in the 
calculation of certain key provisions, including 
their impact on the Financial Statements,  
and was appraised of the approach in the 
implementation of new accounting 
standards. Focus continued to be placed on 
the Financial Control Framework, as well as 
the development and embedding of an 
in-house internal audit function.”

Alison Reed
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,  
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Board Committee reports
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Committee composition, skills and experience
The following Directors are members of the Audit Committee:

• Alison Reed, Senior Independent Non-Executive Director;

• David Giroflier, Investor Director (Cinven); and

• Arron Wu, Investor Director (CVC).

Alison Reed is the Chairman of the Committee and has 
significant accounting and financial reporting experience. On 
8 February 2018, David Giroflier replaced Rory Neeson as a 
member of the Audit Committee.

The diverse backgrounds of the Committee members and 
their combined skills and range of financial, risk and business 
experience enable them to fulfil the Committee’s remit, as set 
out in the terms of reference, which are reviewed annually.

The Committee acts independently from the Executive team 
to ensure shareholders’ interests are protected in relation to 
financial reporting and internal control.

The internal and external auditors attend all meetings and 
meet with the Committee in private.

Although not members of the Committee, the Chairman, Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, 
Director of Internal Audit and Company Secretary attend each 
meeting. Other Directors are invited as and when required, to 
ensure that the Committee has all the information it requires 
to operate effectively.

Roles and responsibilities
The main roles and responsibilities, as set out in the terms of 
reference, are:

• to monitor the integrity of the Financial Statements, 
review significant financial reporting issues and assess the 
judgements made;

• to review the financial reports for publication and to ensure 
compliance with accounting policies and standards;

• to review and approve the Group’s financial control and 
liquidity frameworks;

• to review the Group’s internal financial control and risk 
management systems and to review risk exposures and 
steps taken to monitor and mitigate them;

• to monitor and review the effectiveness of the internal  
audit function;

• to make recommendations to the Board in relation to the 
appointment, remuneration and terms of engagement of 
the external auditor;

• to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence, 
objectivity and effectiveness, taking into consideration 
relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements;

• to develop and implement an approach on the engagement 
of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking 
into account relevant ethical guidance regarding the 
provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm;

• to review the findings of the external audit;
• to report the outcome of meetings to the Board, identifying 

any matters in respect of which it considers that action or 
improvement is needed, and making recommendations as 
to the steps to be taken;

• to monitor management’s response to the findings and 
recommendations of internal and external audit;

• to review the Group’s compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

• to monitor, and challenge where appropriate, the 
whistleblowing arrangements as set out in the 
whistleblowing policy; and

• to review the Group’s procedures for detecting fraud, 
including the systems and controls for the prevention  
of bribery.

Key activities of the Audit Committee in 2017
• Reviewed the Group’s 2017 Annual Report and Financial 

Statements and each of the quarterly investor reports to 
ensure that, taken as a whole, they were fair, balanced and 
understandable and advised the Board to that effect.

• Reviewed and challenged the appropriateness of the 
Group’s accounting policies, critical accounting estimates 
and key judgements. This included discussions with 
management on provisioning methodology, most notably 
in relation to the impairment of loans and advances to 
customers and PPI.

• Monitored developments with respect to the Acquisition, 
including overseeing the resulting changes to the Group’s 
corporate structure, as well as reviewing and approving the 
purchase price allocation on completion of the Acquisition.

• Oversaw the continued development and growth of the FCF 
function to ensure it adapted in line with the pace of change 
in the business.

• Considered regular updates on the current business risks 
surrounding information and data security and reviewed the 
effectiveness of controls in place around cyber security and 
security of customer data.

• Evaluated the reports and findings of the internal and 
external auditors, including management’s response to  
any recommendations.

• Monitored the development and embedding of the in-house 
internal audit function.

• Oversaw the relationship with the internal and external 
auditor. Considered the terms of engagement and 
effectiveness of both internal and external audit functions.

• Monitored regular updates on key business risks, including 
conduct, regulatory, legal, data, fraud and whistleblowing.

• Monitored the progress of the Group’s implementation of 
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, including consideration of 
the key judgements inherent in the calculation of expected 
credit losses for loans and advances to customers. 
Additionally, considered updates on the impact of IFRS 15 
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ on the Group.

• Considered and challenged management forecasts of 
Group cash flows and net debt, as well as financing facilities 
available to the Group. Following this review, the Committee 
confirmed the appropriateness of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the Financial Statements.
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Financial reporting
The main areas of judgement considered by the Audit Committee in relation to the Financial Statements for the year ended  
31 December 2017 are set out below. These issues were closely examined with the external auditor during the year.

Board Committee reports continued

Key issues and judgements in financial reporting Audit Committee’s review and conclusions

Impairment on loans and advances to customers

Impairment and credit risk remains a significant area of risk 
and audit focus in the Financial Statements as a result of the 
various assumptions and judgements that are necessary. 
Impairment provisions are calculated using historical  
payment performance to estimate the present value of future 
cash flows.

The loan loss impairment provisions recorded by the Group 
as at 31 December 2017 were £120m (2016: £93m) for 
Own-brand receivables, £13m (2016: £12m) for Co-brand 
receivables and £1m (2016: £nil) for Unsecured Personal  
Loan receivables.

The Audit Committee considered the key assumptions 
and judgements inherent in the determination of the 
impairment provision, including the probability of charge-off, 
expected recoveries on credit losses and the emergence 
period. The Committee challenged the assumptions and 
considered the rationale and impact of variations to each of 
the key assumptions. The Committee was satisfied that the 
impairment provisions were appropriate.

PPI provision

This provision relates to redress to cardholders in respect of 
matters relating to the sale of PPI.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group recorded a PPI provision 
of £45m (2016: £56m). The FCA has set a deadline for 
complaints about mis-selling and other matters related to the 
sale of PPI of 29 August 2019. In addition, the redress amounts 
payable to consumers must include an element of profit share 
as well as commission following the Supreme Court’s decision 
in Plevin v Paragon Personal Finance Ltd.

Various inputs and assumptions are used in the calculation  
of the provision for PPI. The assumptions are based on 
the historical profile of the Group’s cardholders, the future 
expectations of the Group based on past customer behaviour 
and latest regulatory developments.

The Audit Committee challenged and scrutinised the 
judgements included in the provision. The Committee was 
presented with evidence to support the assumptions and 
considered and challenged the various factors that affect the 
provision for PPI, including claims experience, the projections 
underlying the estimates and the potential expected range 
of future claims. The Audit Committee was satisfied that the 
provision was appropriate given the information available.

Purchase price allocation and impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations,’ a purchase 
price allocation exercise has been completed to value 
NewDay’s customer and retail partner relationships, brand and 
trade names and credit scoring models at acquisition and to 
determine the amount of goodwill.

The carrying value of intangible assets and goodwill is subject 
to an annual impairment review. The impairment review is 
conducted by comparing the discounted estimated future 
cash flows of the cash-generating units with the carrying value 
in the financial statements.

Acquired intangible assets of £351m and goodwill of £280m 
have been recorded in the balance sheet as at 31 December 
2017 (2016: £nil).

The Audit Committee considered the key assumptions and 
judgements inherent in the determination of the purchase 
price allocation including an assessment of the methodologies 
applied, cash flow forecasts utilised, discount and royalty rates 
applied and useful economic lives assumed.

Subsequently, the Committee challenged the assumptions 
within the annual impairment review of acquired intangible 
assets and goodwill and considered the rationale and impact 
of variations to each of the key assumptions. The Committee 
was satisfied that the carrying value of acquired intangible 
assets and goodwill were appropriate. 

The disclosures relating to significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions are set out in note 2.3.

56 newday.co.uk

http://www.newday.co.uk


Internal audit
Following the appointment of the Director of Internal Audit 
in 2016, the Group has developed an in-house internal audit 
function replacing the previous outsourced model with 
Deloitte LLP. Support continues to be provided by third party 
consultants where specialist knowledge is required.

The internal audit function reports to the Committee to 
ensure independence from the Group’s management. The 
Committee assesses the performance of the internal audit 
function on an ongoing basis to ensure it is satisfied with the 
function’s effectiveness.

The Committee endorsed the internal audit plans for 2017 and 
2018 and reviewed all reports from the internal audit function 
and ensured management took appropriate action on issues 
arising from these reports.

External audit
The Board and the external auditor have safeguards in place 
to protect the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditor. The external auditor is not permitted to perform any 
work that might affect their objectivity and independence or 
create a conflict of interest with respect to the Group.

There are internal procedures in place to determine the use of 
the external auditor for non-audit services. The amount paid to 
the external auditor is disclosed in note 8.

KPMG LLP is the auditor of the Group and had been the 
auditor of the Predecessor Group since 2012. The Committee 
reviewed and approved the annual audit plan, including 
the methodology and risk identification processes used, 
and reviewed the findings of the external audit including 
key judgements and the level of challenge provided. The 
Committee assesses the performance of the external auditor 
on an ongoing basis to ensure it is satisfied with the quality 
of the services provided, which includes consideration of the 
experience and capabilities of the auditor, the delivery of its 
audit work in accordance with the agreed plan and the quality 
of its reports and communications to the Committee.

The Committee has kept under review regulatory and 
legislative developments around the tenure of the auditor. 
Having reviewed this, along with the assessment of the 
effectiveness of the external auditor, the Committee has 
recommended to the Board that KPMG LLP be re-appointed 
as external auditor for the financial year ending 31 December 
2018.

Internal control environment
The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control 
environment. The system of internal controls is designed 
to mitigate the risk of material misstatements in the 
financial records of the Group and to facilitate the 
business in achieving its objectives. The internal control 
environment only provides reasonable, rather than 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement, loss 
or fraud to the Group.

The Board confirms that a system of internal controls for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the Group has been in place throughout the 
period ended 31 December 2017, and up to the date of 
the approval of these consolidated Financial Statements.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committees, has 
reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls and is satisfied with the controls operated over 
financial reporting and associated business activities such 
that to the best of the Committee’s knowledge there was 
no material loss, contingency or uncertainty to the Group 
requiring disclosure in the Financial Statements.
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Chairman’s overview
The Committee placed focus in the first half of the year upon positioning and defining its oversight role in 
relation to the Risk Management Framework and the culture of risk management across the breadth and depth 
of the organisation.

The ongoing appropriateness of the Risk Management Framework in respect of the business’ strategy and the 
evolving regulatory landscape was monitored throughout the year as the Committee assessed the Group’s risk 
profile on behalf of the Board within the parameters of the Board’s agreed risk appetite.

At the request of the Committee, the business developed an additional quarterly credit risk radar which tracks 
a series of credit related drivers that influence the principal risks relating to credit risk and the macroeconomic 
environment. The Committee also requested the development of further insights relating to customer 
behaviours that influence credit risk profiles and, in turn, impact impairment performance. The Committee 
members and the Board have, throughout the year, monitored an enhanced macroeconomic triggers 
dashboard and key leading indicators for signs of emerging credit risk.

The Committee also oversaw the ongoing management and mitigation of risks arising in the business, including 
major projects and business initiatives. The uplift in resourcing that was endorsed in 2016, across all three lines 
of defence, saw the risk agenda gain increasing traction, particularly in relation to oversight by the second line of 
defence and embedding of the newly formed in-house internal audit function in the third line of defence.

The Committee monitored the risk management practices to ensure that they continued to support the 
Manifesto-led approach to good customer outcomes and responsibly meeting customer needs. Throughout 
the year the Group continued to take part in, and respond to the CCMS conducted by the FCA. It will continue 
to manage regulatory requirements to ensure compliance with the evolving regulatory landscape, whilst 
monitoring the horizon for emerging risks.

The Committee remains committed to enhancing its understanding and management of the key risks 
facing the Group. The Committee will continue to consider if appropriate risk resources are in place and fully 
encourages the continued embedding of the Risk Management Framework.

Risk Committee

Board Committee reports continued

“The Risk Committee continues to focus on embedding a strong risk management 
culture. An uplift in resourcing across all three lines of defence saw the risk agenda 
gain increasing traction”

Alison Reed
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,  
Chairman of the Risk Committee
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Committee composition, skills and experience
The following Directors are members of the Risk Committee:

• Alison Reed (Committee Chairman), Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director;

• Caspar Berendsen, Investor Director (Cinven); and
• Peter Rutland, Investor Director (CVC).

The diverse backgrounds of the Committee members and 
their combined skills and range of risk and business experience 
enable them to fulfil the Committee’s remit, as set out in the 
terms of reference, which are reviewed annually.

Although not members of the Committee, the Chief Risk 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer attend each meeting. Other 
Directors, colleagues and the external auditors are invited as 
and when required to ensure that the Committee has all the 
information it requires to operate effectively.

Roles and responsibilities
The main roles and responsibilities, as set out in the terms of 
reference, are:

• to oversee the Risk Management Framework of the Group 
and challenge the processes and methodologies used for 
identifying, measuring, managing, monitoring and reporting 
all key risks facing the business;

• to recommend to the Board how to improve the Risk 
Management Framework including the monitoring of 
risk exposures, risk appetite, capital and liquidity and any 
significant risk issues;

• to monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s Conduct Risk 
Management Framework, procedures to reduce financial 
crime, conduct risk oversight and findings from key  
business committees;

• to review the output, effectiveness and resources of the 
Enterprise Risk Function;

• to review, monitor and report to the Board the Group’s 
interactions with regulators, the effectiveness of regulatory 
reporting and action on any significant regulatory issues;

• to review and monitor the implementation of risk or 
compliance-related policies, their suitability in terms of 
compliance, and the necessary actions taken as a result of 
policy breaches; and

• to oversee, review, report and make associated 
recommendations to the Board on risk appetite, risk 
management culture, training and competence throughout 
the Group.

Key activities of the Risk Committee in 2017
• Oversaw reviews of both the Risk Management Framework 

and risk appetite.
• Reviewed and challenged regular risk appetite reports on 

the management and mitigation of risks and issues in  
the business.

• Challenged the effectiveness of risk management 
throughout the business during another year of  
continued growth.

• Examined deep dive reviews of credit risk performance, 
conduct risk in third party channels and new products (for 
example the launch of the Amazon cards).

• Oversaw the reporting of key risks to the Board via the 
refreshed principal risk radars.

• Requested and continued to monitor an additional quarterly 
credit risk radar detailing the drivers of the credit principal 
risk.

• Requested and considered further insights relating to 
customer behaviours affecting the credit risk profile, and in 
turn impairment.

• Oversaw the review of Board-level policies in line with  
policy governance.

• Considered updates on cyber crime and the ever-changing 
threat that this presents, including external insights  
from KPMG.

• Approved the second line of defence oversight plan  
for 2018.
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Chairman’s overview
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee recommends the Group’s remuneration policy to the Board and 
sets the overall direction of employee remuneration in accordance with the remuneration policy. Accordingly, 
the Committee monitors business performance against Board-established objectives and provides appropriate 
reward for colleagues, where merited.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is also empowered by the Board to review and recommend 
changes to the composition of the Board or its committees whilst ensuring the continuity of oversight and 
management from diverse, skilled and appropriate individuals. In this role, the Committee sets the procedure for 
the appointment of new Directors and selects appropriate candidates to meet its desired Board composition.

The Committee seeks to anticipate and manage future changes in the Board’s membership. This ensures 
that, in the event of unforeseen changes, the management and oversight of the Group’s strategy will not be 
disrupted. In addition, the Committee carries out an annual review of the succession arrangements for Directors 
to ensure that the composition of the Board and other senior executives of the Group have the right balance of 
skills, knowledge and experience required taking into account the challenges and opportunities facing the Group.

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

“The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee monitors business performance 
against Board-established objectives and 
provides appropriate reward for colleagues, 
where merited.”

Rupert Keeley
Independent Non-Executive Director, 
Chairman of the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee

Board Committee reports continued
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Committee composition, skills and experience
The following Directors are members of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee:

• Rupert Keeley (Committee Chairman), Independent Non-
Executive Director;

• Sir Malcolm Williamson, Chairman and Independent Non-
Executive Director;

• James Corcoran, Executive Director and Chief Executive 
Officer;

• Caspar Berendsen, Investor Director (Cinven); and
• Peter Rutland, Investor Director (CVC).

The diverse backgrounds of the Committee members and 
their combined skills and experience enable them to fulfil the 
Committee’s remit, as set out in the terms of reference, which 
are reviewed annually.

Although not a member of the Committee, the Chief People 
Officer attends each meeting.

Roles and responsibilities
The main roles and responsibilities, as set out in the terms of 
reference, are:

• recommending to the Board a suitable remuneration 
policy, and reviewing its ongoing appropriateness and 
implementation;

• setting the overall direction of employee remuneration in 
accordance with the remuneration policy, including individual 
remuneration for all Executive Directors, the Chairman and 
members of the Executive team (including pension rights 
and any compensation payments);

• reviewing the structure, size and composition, (including 
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board and 
overseeing succession planning; and

• identifying and recommending for the approval of the Board, 
candidates for appointment to the Board and potential 
revocations of any such appointments.

Key activities of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee in 2017
• Reviewed and evaluated performance of Executive and 

senior management’s performance.
• Recommend business performance objectives to the  

Board for approval.
• Reviewed the Management Capability Assessment  

report and the revised organisational structure for  
senior management.

• Reviewed the reward strategy across the Group and 
recommended proposals for changes to the Board.

• Reviewed proposed appointments to senior management.
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The Directors of the Company present the Annual 
Report and Financial Statements for the period 
ended 31 December 2017.

Group business review and results
The Group’s business model is outlined on page 4 and the KPIs 
and financial review on pages 18 to 28 contain highlights of 
the financial performance and capital structure for the period. 
The Group generated a loss before tax for the period ended 
31 December 2017 of £27m. A reconciliation of the statutory 
loss to adjusted EBITDA, referred to throughout the strategic 
report, is provided on page 21.

The Chief Executive Officer’s review, particularly the strategic 
priorities on pages 14 to 15, provides details of future  
business developments.

The Directors do not propose the payment of a dividend for 
the period ended 31 December 2017.

See note 28 for details of post balance sheet events.

Principal risks and management
The principal risks and management thereof are described on 
pages 35 to 43.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely 
to affect its future development, performance and position, 
as well as the overall financial position of the Group, its cash 
flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities, are described in 
the KPIs and financial review on pages 18 to 28 and within the 
Financial Statements. The notes to the Financial Statements 
include the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing its capital, its financial risk management objectives, 
details of its financial instruments and its exposures to credit 
risk and liquidity risk.

The Group continues to note the levels of credit card debt in 
the UK, as well as the FCA’s concerns around persistent debt 
in the market. The Group has a robust credit risk management 
framework in place to limit unexpected losses arising as a result 
of customers failing to meet their repayment obligations. The 
Group also depends on the availability of external borrowing to 
finance its existing customer balances as well as future growth. 
In July the Group successfully issued new asset-backed 
securities to facilitate continued support of the Own-brand 
business, and refinanced the Co-brand asset-backed term 
debt in October as well as refinancing its variable funding note 
facilities in December.

The Directors believe that the Group’s existing plans and 
projections of business performance will be sufficient to allow 
the Group to continue to meet all of its current obligations, 
including financial covenants and cash requirements, for 
a period of at least twelve months following the approval 
of the Financial Statements. Although some uncertainty 
remains around the economic outlook as a result of Brexit, 
the Directors have considered the impact to the Group and 
currently feel it is well placed to meet its strategic objectives. 
For this reason the Board has adopted the going concern basis 
in preparing these Financial Statements.

Transparency in reporting
In preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements, the 
Group has fully complied with the best practice principles set 
out in ‘The Walker Guidelines for Disclosure and Transparency 
in Private Equity’, which were established to provide oversight 
on disclosure issues and, specifically, to demonstrate private 
equity companies’ commitment to transparency.

Environmental, social and governance matters
The Group is committed to conducting its business in a 
manner that protects the environment. This means ensuring 
that all relevant environmental legislation and regulations are 
met and reducing consumption of these resources. For further 
details see page 45.

Modern slavery and human trafficking
The Group aims to act fairly, ethically and openly in everything 
that it does and is committed to carrying out its business 
responsibly. This includes ensuring that modern slavery and 
human trafficking are not taking place in any part of its business 
or supply chain. The Group’s statement on the Modern Slavery 
Act 2015 is available on its website at www.newday.co.uk.

Directors’ insurance
Throughout the year, the Group maintained appropriate 
insurance cover to protect the Directors from liabilities 
that may arise against them personally in connection with 
the performance of their role. In addition: (i) the articles of 
association of NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited contain an 
indemnity in favour of its Directors so far as is permitted under 
Jersey law; and (ii) certain of the Group’s UK subsidiaries have 
similar provisions in their articles of association providing 
qualifying third party indemnities for the benefit of the 
Directors of such entities.

Research and development activities
During the ordinary course of business the Group develops 
new products and services within its business units.

Directors’ report

Directors’ report
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Directors
The Directors who held office during the period were as 
follows:

• James Culshaw (appointed 10 October 2016);
• Grant Collins (appointed 9 January 2017 following a period as 

alternate Director from 27 September 2016);
• John Cosnett (appointed 26 September 2016, resigned 10 

October 2016); and
• Geraldine O’Rourke (appointed 26 September 2016, 

resigned 9 January 2017).

Geraldine O’Rourke was appointed as an alternate Director to 
Grant Collins on 9 January 2017.

Issuance of shares
The Company was incorporated on 26 September 2016 as 
Nemean BidCo Limited, however changed its name on 5 May 
2017 to NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited. Upon incorporation, 
it issued share capital of 101 fully paid ordinary shares of one 
pence each. Further details are included in note 21.

Auditor and disclosure of information to auditor
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
Directors’ report confirm that, as far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditor is unaware, and each Director has taken all of the steps 
that they ought to have taken as Directors to make themselves 
aware of any relevant information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in 
relation to the consolidated Financial 
Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Financial 
Statements in accordance with applicable law and IFRS as 
adopted by the European Union (EU).

Company law requires the Directors to prepare consolidated 
Financial Statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the 
profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those 
Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, 
relevant and reliable;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the Financial Statements;

• assess the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; 
and

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company and to enable them 
to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the 
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. They are responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to 
them to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

James Culshaw   Grant Collins
Director    Director 
 
14 March 2018
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“The app makes it easy to  
manage your account and  
customer service is great.”
marbles customer
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Independent auditor’s report 

Opinion
We have audited the Group Financial Statements of NewDay 
Group (Jersey) Limited (the Company) for the period ended 
31 December 2017 which comprise the income statements 
and statements of comprehensive income, balance sheets, 
statements of changes in equity, statements of cash flows and 
the related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion the Financial Statements:

• give a true and fair view, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, of the 
state of the Group and Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2017 and of the Group’s and Parent Company’s 
loss for the period then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)’) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled 
our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of 
the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements 
including FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis 
for our opinion.

Going concern
We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the 
use of the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate 
or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date of approval of the Financial 
Statements. We have nothing to report in these respects.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information 
presented in the Annual Report together with the Financial 
Statements. Our opinion on the Financial Statements does 
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether, based on our Financial Statements 
audit work, the information therein is materially misstated 
or inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our audit 
knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified 
material misstatements in the other information.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception
Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

• proper accounting records have not been kept by the 
Company;

• proper returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us;

• the Company’s Financial Statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of NewDay 
Group (Jersey) Limited
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Directors’ responsibilities
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 63, 
the Directors are responsible for:

• the preparation of Financial Statements which give a true 
and fair view;

• such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

• assessing the Group and Parent Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and

• using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 
either intend to liquidate the Group or Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the Financial Statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the 
FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we 
owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as 
a body, in accordance with Article 113A of the Companies 
(Jersey) Law 1991. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Company’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Andrew Walker (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants 
1 Sovereign Square 
Sovereign Street 
Leeds 
LS1 4DA

14 March 2018

Independent auditor’s report continued

The maintenance and integrity of the NewDay website is the responsibility of the Directors or other responsible party; the work carried out by auditors does not 
involve consideration of these matters and accordingly, KPMG LLP accepts no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the Financial Statements  
or our audit report since 14 March 2018. KPMG LLP has carried out no procedures of any nature subsequent to 14 March 2018 which in any way extends  
this date.
Legislation in Jersey governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. The Directors shall remain 
responsible for establishing and controlling the process for doing so, and for ensuring that the Financial Statements are complete and unaltered in any way.
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 Group Company

Note 

26 September 
2016 to  

31 December 
20171 

£m 

 26 September 
2016 to 

31 December
2017

£m

Interest and similar income 4 445.1 49.2
Interest and similar expense 5 (105.1) (62.6)

Net interest income/(expense)  340.0 (13.4)
   
Fee and commission income 6 77.9 –
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 12 (199.3) –

Risk-adjusted income  218.6 –
   

Personnel expense 7 (61.2) –
Other operating expenses 8 (184.4) (12.5)

Total operating expenses  (245.6) (12.5)
   

Loss before tax  (27.0) (25.9)
   

Tax expense 9 (9.5) –

Loss after tax   (36.5) (25.9)

   
Other comprehensive income  – –

Total comprehensive expense   (36.5) (25.9)

1. Represents the period from incorporation on 26 September 2016 to 31 December 2017. The consolidated results of NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l., together 
with its subsidiaries and structured entities (the Predecessor Group), have been consolidated from the date of acquisition by the Company on 26 January 2017 
(the Acquisition). 

The loss for the period is from continuing operations.  

The notes on pages 71 to 103 form an integral part of these statutory Financial Statements. 
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 Group Company

Note 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

31 December
2017

£m 

Assets   
Loans and advances to banks 11 167.9 1.2
Loans and advances to customers 12 2,104.4 –
Other assets 13 67.6 515.2
Current tax assets  0.8 –
Deferred tax assets  0.7 –
Property and equipment 14 10.0 –
Intangible assets 15 357.4 –
Investment in subsidiaries  16 – 504.9
Goodwill 10, 17 279.9 –

Total assets  2,988.7 1,021.3

    
Liabilities   
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 18 2,252.7 421.3
Other liabilities 19 85.5 1.5
Current tax liabilities  5.7 –
Provisions 20 56.9 –

Total liabilities  2,400.8 422.8

Net assets  587.9 598.5

    
Equity attributable to owners of the Company   
Share capital and share premium 21 – –
Equity instruments 21 593.9 593.9
Capital contribution 21 30.5 30.5
Retained losses 21 (36.5) (25.9)

Total equity  587.9 598.5

The notes on pages 71 to 103 form an integral part of these statutory Financial Statements. 

The Financial Statements on pages 67 to 103 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 March 
2018 and signed on its behalf by: 

James Culshaw     Grant Collins 
Director      Director 

 

Registration number 122135 
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Group  

Share capital
 and share 

premium 
£m

Equity 
instruments

£m

Capital 
contribution 

£m 

Retained  
losses 

£m 

Total 
equity 

£m

As at 26 September 2016 – – – – –
Total comprehensive expense for the period – – – (36.5) (36.5)
Equity instruments1 – 593.9 – – 593.9
Capital contribution – – 30.5 – 30.5

As at 31 December 2017 – 593.9 30.5 (36.5) 587.9

   

Company 

Share capital
 and share 

premium 
£m

Equity 
instruments

£m

Capital 
contribution 

£m 

Retained  
losses 

£m 

Total 
equity 

£m

As at 26 September 2016 – – – – –
Total comprehensive expense for the period – – – (25.9) (25.9)
Equity instruments1 – 593.9 – – 593.9
Capital contribution – – 30.5 – 30.5

As at 31 December 2017 – 593.9 30.5 (25.9) 598.5

1. With effect from 1 July 2017 the terms of a £529.2m intercompany loan from Nemean MidCo Limited (the Company’s immediate parent company) and £64.7m 
loan notes issued by the Company and held by Nemean MidCo Limited were amended, resulting in a change in their classification from liabilities to equity 
instruments. The interest accrued on these loans up to 30 June 2017 has been recorded as a capital contribution. 

The notes on pages 71 to 103 form an integral part of these statutory Financial Statements. 
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 Group Company

Note 

26 September 
2016 to  

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December
2017

£m

Operating activities   
Loss after tax  (36.5) (25.9)
Reconciliation of loss after tax to net cash used in operating activities:   

Tax expense 9 9.5 –
Interest and similar expense 5 105.1 62.6
Depreciation of property and equipment 14 2.7 –
Amortisation of intangible assets 15 46.6 –
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 12 199.3 –

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
Increase in restricted cash  (3.1) –
Increase in loans and advances to customers  (561.4) –
Increase in other assets  (16.3) (515.2)
Increase in other liabilities  5.9 1.5
Decrease in provisions  (16.0) –

Interest and similar expense paid  (75.2) (35.8)
Tax paid  (5.3) –

Net cash used in operating activities  (344.7) (512.8)

   
Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchases of property and equipment 14 (5.8) –
Investment in intangible assets 15 (3.9) –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 10 (990.5) (990.5)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired on the Acquisition  176.0 –
Realisation of investment in subsidiary 16 – 485.6

Net cash used in investing activities  (824.2) (504.9)

   
Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from debt issued and other borrowed funds  1,276.8 425.0
Repayment of debt issued and other borrowed funds  (577.4) –
Proceeds of loans from related parties  593.9 593.9

Net cash generated from financing activities  1,293.3 1,018.9

   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  124.4 1.2
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period  – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 11 124.4 1.2

The notes on pages 71 to 103 form an integral part of these statutory Financial Statements. 
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1. Corporate information 
NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited (formerly Nemean BidCo Limited) (the Company) was incorporated in Jersey as a private limited 
company on 26 September 2016. The address of its registered office is 1 Waverley Place, Union Street, St Helier, Jersey,  
JE1 1SG. Nemean MidCo Limited has been the sole shareholder of the Company since incorporation. The ultimate parent 
undertaking is Nemean TopCo Limited, a private limited company incorporated in Jersey.  

On 26 January 2017 the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital and preferred equity certificates in NewDay Group 
Holdings S.à r.l.. NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. was the parent company of the Predecessor Group. The Group (comprising the 
Company together with its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings) provides financial products and services to customers 
within the near-prime and co-brand sectors of the UK credit card market. In line with the basis of consolidation in note 2.1, the 
results of the Predecessor Group have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated Financial Statements from 26 January 
2017. 

2. Accounting policies 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
The consolidated Group and Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations.  

The statutory consolidated Financial Statements for the period from incorporation on 26 September 2016 to 31 December 
2017 incorporates the results of the Predecessor Group from 26 January 2017 onwards. There was no trading activity within the 
Company and its existing subsidiaries (other than members of the Predecessor Group) prior to completion of the Acquisition. 

The Financial Statements of the Group and Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  

The consolidated Group and Company Financial Statements for the period ended 31 December 2017 were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 14 March 2018. 

Going concern 
As at 14 March 2018, the Directors are satisfied that the Group and Company has the resources necessary to continue in 
business for a period of at least twelve months after the approval of the Financial Statements. Management forecast the 
performance of the Group and undertake various stress scenarios to assess the impact on profitability, cash flows, the balance 
sheet and compliance with covenants. This information is formally presented to the Board for review, and has been approved by 
the Board, along with consideration of the potential impact of contingent liabilities on the Group. The Directors are not aware of 
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Therefore, the Financial Statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis as outlined in the statement of 
Directors’ responsibilities.  

Presentation of the Financial Statements 
The Financial Statements are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest £0.1m, except where otherwise 
indicated. The Group presents its balance sheets in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or settlement within twelve 
months after the reporting date (current) and more than twelve months after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in 
note 24. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset with the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the income statement unless required or permitted by an accounting 
standard or interpretation, and is specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group. 

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Group and its subsidiaries (together with 
certain structured entities (SEs) that the Group consolidates) as at 31 December 2017. The subsidiaries and SEs are disclosed in 
note 26. The Financial Statements of the Group’s subsidiaries (including SEs that the Group consolidates) are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the Company using consistent accounting policies with the exception of NewDay Group Holdings  
S.à r.l. which changed its accounting reference date to 14 April with effect from 14 April 2017. 
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2. Accounting policies continued 
2.1 Basis of preparation continued 
Basis of consolidation continued 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control is transferred to the Group. Control is achieved where the Group 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity, has the exposure or rights to the variable returns from 
the involvement with the entity, and is able to use its power to affect the amount of returns for the Group. On this basis the 
Predecessor Group has been consolidated into the consolidated Financial Statements with effect from 26 January 2017. 

SEs are fully consolidated based on the power of the Group to direct relevant activities, and its exposure to the variable returns 
of the SE. In assessing whether the Group controls a SE, judgement is exercised to determine the following: whether the 
activities of the SE are being conducted on behalf of the Group to obtain benefits from the SE’s operation; whether the Group 
has the decision-making powers to control or to obtain control of the SE or its assets; whether the Group is exposed to the 
variable returns from the SE’s activities; and whether the Group is able to use its power to affect the amount of returns. The 
Group’s involvement with SEs is detailed in note 27. 

All intra-Group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full. 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
(1) Foreign currency translation 
The Financial Statements are presented in Sterling which is the presentational and functional currency of the Group and 
Company. The Group transacts mainly in Sterling. Transactions that are not Sterling denominated are recorded at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 

(2) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
(i) Date of recognition 
Loans and advances to customers are initially recognised on the date on which they are originated or purchased. All other 
financial instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  

(ii) Initial measurement of financial instruments 
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their purpose and characteristics and management’s 
intention on acquiring them. All financial instruments are measured initially at their fair value adjusted for transaction costs.  

(iii) Loans and advances to banks 
Loans and advances to banks, as referred to in the balance sheet, comprise cash and cash equivalents, non-restricted current 
accounts, restricted cash as detailed in note 11 and amounts due on demand or with an original maturity of three months or less. 

(iv) Loans and advances to customers 
Financial instruments which are disclosed as loans and advances to customers include non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement at fair value, they are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less allowance for impairment. The EIR is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the net carrying value of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
instrument, but not future credit losses. The interest income calculated using this method is included in interest and similar 
income in the income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement in impairment 
losses on loans and advances to customers. 

(v) Debt issued and other borrowed funds 
Financial liabilities that are not designated at fair value through profit and loss are classified as liabilities under debt issued and 
other borrowed funds where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to 
deliver cash or another financial asset.  

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are measured at amortised cost using the EIR. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue and directly attributable, incremental issue costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. 
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(3) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(i) Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement and either: 

• the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 

• the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are 
not derecognised. For example, the Group has issued asset-backed securities to fund certain loans and advances to customers. 
In cases where the securitisation vehicles are funded by the issue of debt, on terms whereby the majority of the risks and 
rewards of the portfolio of the securitised lending are retained by the Group, these loans and advances to customers continue to 
be recognised in the Group’s balance sheet, together with a corresponding liability for the funding. 

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial 
asset but it retains control over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 

(ii) Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid 
is recognised in the income statement. 

(4) Determination of fair value 
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques include the discounted cash flow method, comparison with similar instruments for which 
market observable prices exist and other relevant valuation models. 

(5) Impairment of financial assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 
loss event) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Evidence of impairment may include: indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing financial difficulty; the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments; and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

See note 2.3 for further details on the significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the impairment 
provision. 

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost  
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group assesses impairment on a collective basis for all financial assets that are 
not individually significant. 

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying value and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying value of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in impairment losses on loans and 
advances to customers in the income statement.  

Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying value and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount 
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of interest and 
similar income in the income statement.  
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2. Accounting policies continued 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued  
(5) Impairment of financial assets continued 
(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost continued 
Loans, together with the associated impairment allowance, are charged-off after 180 days of delinquency or earlier if deemed 
necessary. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting 
the allowance account. If a charged-off loan is later recovered, the recovery is credited to impairment losses on loans and 
advances to customers in the income statement. 

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR. If the Group has acquired 
loans and advances to customers, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the new EIR determined at the 
acquisition date.  

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group’s internal credit 
grading system which considers credit risk characteristics such as portfolio, past-due status and other relevant factors. 

Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is 
adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions on which the historical loss 
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  

Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect changes in related observable data from period to period (such as changes in 
unemployment rates, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude). 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed quarterly to reduce any differences 
between loss estimates and actual loss experience.  

See note 12 and note 23.2 for details of impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortised cost. 

(ii) Renegotiated loans and advances to customers 
Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans before they reach charge-off based on customers’ ability to make 
minimum monthly payments on their outstanding balances. This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the 
agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using a provision rate 
consistent with other restructured loans (separately from the portfolio of non-renegotiated loans) discounted at the original EIR 
as calculated before the renegotiation of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continually reviews 
renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be 
subject to collective impairment assessments. 

(6) Recognition of income and expenses 
Income and expenses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to or from the Group 
and the amount can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before income or 
expenses are recognised. 

(i) Interest and similar income and expense 
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the EIR. The EIR is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a 
shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying value of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into 
account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) and includes certain fees or directly 
attributable issue costs, but not future credit losses.  

The carrying value of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of expected payments or 
receipts. The adjusted carrying value is calculated based on the original EIR and the change in carrying value is recorded as 
interest and similar income for financial assets and interest and similar expense for financial liabilities in the income statement.  

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, 
interest income continues to be recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss. 

As prescribed by IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ the Group recognises interest and similar income 
using the EIR on loans and advances to customers that have been offered interest free promotional periods. The EIR is 
determined on inception as management’s best estimate of expected future cash flows based on historical information, where 
available. As at 31 December 2017, this gave rise to an adjustment to loans and advances to customers in the balance sheet of 
£10.7m (1% of total loans and advances to customers). Interest and similar income recognised in relation to interest free 
promotional periods totalled £6.3m (1% of total interest and similar income) in the period ended 31 December 2017. 
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(ii) Fee and commission income 
Fees arising from store and credit card agreements are predominantly based on customer transaction events (for example 
foreign exchange fees) and are recognised at the point of the customer transaction. Fees linked to certain card servicing 
activities are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria. Any subsequent refunds of fees to customers are netted 
against fee and commission income in the year in which the Group commits to make the refund. Fee and commission income 
excludes fees that have been recognised using the EIR method and reported within interest and similar income in the income 
statement. Also included within fee and commission income are: interchange fees which are the fees received, as card issuer, 
each time a cardholder purchases goods and services; and other fees received which includes insurance commission and profit 
shares along with merchant transaction fee commission. 

(iii) Customer cashback programmes 
On some of the Group’s products credit card customers earn cashback on qualifying card spend through cashback 
programmes. Expenses incurred in relation to these programmes are accrued within servicing costs in other operating expenses 
in the income statement when the relevant card spend is incurred on the customers’ accounts. 

(iv) Loyalty programmes 
Loyalty points and vouchers costs are recognised in the period in which they are incurred. Earned but not yet redeemed points 
and vouchers at the period end are reflected in the balance sheet as accruals.  

Where loyalty points and vouchers expire before they are utilised by customers, the accrual is reversed in the period in which 
they expire. The costs are calculated individually for each scheme in place.  

(v) Personnel expense 
The Group applies IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ in its accounting for the relevant components of staff costs.  
Short-term employee benefits including salaries, accrued bonus, other incentive costs and social security are recognised over 
the period in which the employees provide the services to which the payments relate. Bonus and other incentive costs are 
recognised to the extent that the Group has a present obligation to its employees that can be measured reliably and are 
recognised over the period of service that employees are required to work to qualify for the benefits. 

(vi) Defined contribution pension plan 
The contributions payable to the defined contribution pension plan is in proportion to the services rendered to the Group by its 
employees and is recorded in the income statement as a personnel expense on an accruals basis. Unpaid contributions are 
recorded as an accrual in the balance sheet. 

(vii) Share-based payment transactions 
The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share-based payment transactions is recognised as an expense, 
with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares.  

(viii) Servicing costs 
Servicing costs includes costs associated with servicing customer accounts. Certain servicing costs are subject to a netting 
arrangement whereby the expenses and income (rebates) relating to a specific servicer are netted against each other. This is in 
line with the servicer agreement and reflects the intention of both parties to settle on a net basis. Some of the Group’s servicing 
costs are prepaid and released to the income statement over the period in which the service is provided. These amounts are 
included in prepayments and accrued income in the balance sheet. 

(ix) Capitalisation of expenditure 
Expenditure relating to specific projects are reviewed to determine whether the capitalisation criteria of IAS 38 ‘Intangible 
Assets’ and IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ are met (see note 2.2 (10) and (11)). The Group capitalises expenditure where 
the criteria are met and amortises or depreciates over the useful economic life of the asset. 

(7) Leasing 
The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or it contains a lease, is based on the substance of the arrangement 
and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

Leases that do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased items are 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Contingent rent payable is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. A lease is classified at the 
inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. 
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2. Accounting policies continued 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued  
(7) Leasing continued 
Dilapidations are provided for on leasehold properties where the terms of the lease require the tenant to make good any 
changes made to the property at the end of the lease period. The provision is discounted over the remaining period of the lease 
at the risk-free rate. The discount unwind is recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement. 

(8) Tax 
(i) Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities arising in current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the tax balances are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Current tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is also recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 

(ii) Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, 
except: 

• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where deferred tax assets are 
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity are also recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same tax authority. 

(9) Business combinations and goodwill 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting as required by IFRS 3 ‘Business 
Combinations’. This involves recognising identifiable assets (including previously unrecognised intangible assets) and liabilities 
(including contingent liabilities but excluding future restructuring) of the acquired business at fair value. Any excess of the 
consideration transferred over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purposes of impairment assessments. The allocation is made to those 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.  

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment is tested by 
comparing the carrying value of the cash-generating unit to the discounted expected future cash flows from the relevant  
cash-generating unit. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

See note 2.3 for further details on the significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the carrying 
value of goodwill. 
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(10) Intangible assets 
The Group’s intangible assets include intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition and internally generated intangible 
assets.  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired as part of 
a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  

Internally generated intangible assets include computer software and core operating platforms. These assets are capitalised as 
an intangible asset based on the costs incurred to acquire, develop and bring it into use. An intangible asset is recognised only 
when an asset is created that can be identified, its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected future 
economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Group. Expenditure incurred in relation to scoping, planning and 
researching the build of an asset as part of a project is expensed as incurred. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The useful economic lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or infinite. Intangible assets 
with finite lives are amortised over their useful economic life. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write 
down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful economic lives, which are generally 
estimated to be: 

• Computer software and core operating platforms  3-5 years 

• Acquired customer and retailer partner relationships  7-13 years 

• Acquired brand and trade names    20 years  

• Acquired intellectual property (credit scoring models)  7 years 

The Group has no intangible assets with an infinite useful economic life. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised within other operating expenses in the income statement. Changes in the expected useful economic life or 
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and they are treated as changes in accounting estimates.  

Intangible assets are assessed for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date, or more frequently where changes in 
circumstances exist. The carrying value of assets is compared to their recoverable amount, being the higher of the fair value less 
costs to sell and their value in use. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

(11) Property and equipment 
Property and equipment is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Changes in the expected useful economic life are accounted for by changing the depreciation period or method, as 
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to their residual 
values over their estimated useful economic lives. The estimated useful economic lives are as follows: 

• Computer equipment  3 – 5 years 

• Fixtures and fittings  3 – 5 years 

• Leasehold improvements  over lease term 

Property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value 
of the asset) is recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement in the period in which the asset is derecognised. 
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2. Accounting policies continued 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies continued  
(12) Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying 
value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount.  

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  

The reversal is limited so that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying 
value that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement. 

(13) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources representing economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in other operating expenses in the income statement net 
of any reimbursement. 

See note 2.3 for further details of the significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect provisions. 

 (14) Ordinary shares 
The Company applies IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ to determine whether funding is either a financial liability or 
equity.  

Issued financial instruments or their components are classified as liabilities if the contractual arrangement results in the 
Company having a present obligation to either deliver cash or another financial asset, or a variable number of equity shares, to 
the holder of the instrument. If this is not the case, the instrument is generally an equity instrument and the proceeds are 
included in equity, net of transaction costs.  

 (15) Dividends on ordinary shares 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and are therefore no longer at the discretion of 
the Company. Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as a post balance sheet event. 

(16) Investment in subsidiary undertakings 
The Company’s equity investments in its subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost less impairment. At each reporting date 
an assessment is undertaken to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  

2.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the consolidated Group and Company Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet 
date and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant uses of judgements 
and estimates are as follows: 

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 
The Group reviews its loans and advances to customers at each balance sheet date to assess whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in the income statement. In particular, judgement is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of 
expected future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number 
of factors and as such the actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the provision.  

Loans and advances to customers are assessed collectively in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, in order to 
determine whether a provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence. The collective 
assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio, such as historical losses on the portfolio, levels of arrears, credit 
utilisation, and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. This assessment is performed to estimate both the probability 
of the accounts reaching charge-off (180 days in arrears) and the loss resulting from the charge-off. The emergence period, 
being the delay between the time a loss crystallises or is incurred and the time that trigger event is identified, is also taken into 
consideration. The impairment provision is then reviewed by management to ensure alignment with the Group’s overall policy. 
The Group has no individually significant loans and advances to customers. 

The impairment charge on loans and advances to customers is disclosed in more detail in note 12. Sensitivity analysis is detailed 
in note 23.2. 
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Payment Protection Insurance (PPI) 
PPI provisions relate to the Group’s obligations in respect of matters relating to the sale of PPI policies to cardholders. Whilst the 
Group has not sold any PPI policies directly, in certain circumstances it may be liable for PPI policies that were sold to cardholders 
whose accounts were subsequently acquired by, or assigned to, the Group, by previous owners. 

The provision reflects the Group’s current view of the expected future liability based on historical information and using 
management’s best judgement regarding future developments. The Group has calculated the provisions by making a number of 
assumptions based upon current and historical experience and future expectations, having also taken legal and regulatory 
developments into account including the FCA’s policy statement ‘PS17/3: Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback 
on CP16/20 and final rules and guidance’. The total cost associated with PPI for the Group is estimated at £55.8m, out of which 
£10.7m was remediated in the period ended 31 December 2017, leaving a provision of £45.1m in respect of future costs. For 
further details and sensitivity analysis see note 20. 

Purchase price allocation and impairment of intangible assets and goodwill 
The purchase price allocation following the Acquisition, as prescribed in IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, involved a number of 
judgements in assessing the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the resultant goodwill. The Predecessor 
Group’s customer and retail partner relationships, brand and trade names and credit scoring models have been valued upon 
acquisition; all have a significant influence on the revenue-generating capacity of the business.  

The value of the customer and retail partner relationships was determined using the multi-period excess earnings method which 
considers the value of net cash flows expected to be generated by the relationships, discounted over their estimated useful 
economic life. The value of the brand and trade names and credit scoring models was determined using the relief from royalty 
method which considers the estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of owning these assets. 
The valuation methodologies applied required a number of key judgements and estimates including: 

• the cash flow forecasts utilised. Cash flow forecasts have been extracted from the budget produced by the Predecessor 
Group during the Acquisition, which involves a number of judgements and estimates, particularly in respect of new business 
volumes, customer retention rates, impairment rates and the cost base of the business; 

• the useful economic lives of the assets. The useful economic lives have been assessed to be 7-13 years for acquired 
customer and retailer partner relationships, 20 years for brand and trade names and 7 years for intellectual property (credit 
scoring models). Management consider these to be a reasonable estimate based on the Predecessor Group’s existing 
business model and that used in constructing the budget; 

• the discount rates applied which have been estimated based on an average market participant’s cost of capital; and 

• estimated royalty rates which have been benchmarked externally to assess the cost to license and use similar assets. 

In accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’, the goodwill and intangible assets arising on the Acquisition are subject to an 
annual impairment review. The impairment review is conducted by comparing the discounted estimated future cash flows of the 
cash-generating units with the carrying value of goodwill and the acquired intangible assets. The impairment review required a 
number of key assumptions which have a significant impact on the outcome including:  

• the cash flow forecasts utilised. These were extracted from the Group’s Board-approved five year budget and inherently 
include a number of judgements and estimates, particularly in relation to new customer account originations, impairment rates 
and the ongoing cost base of the cash-generating units. Cash flows were extrapolated for a further five years, reflecting the 
fact they are held for long-term investment, with no further growth assumed during the extrapolated period; and  

• the discount rate which has been estimated based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. 

The nature and inherent uncertainty relating to the above judgements and estimates means that the forecast cash flows may be 
materially different from actual cash flows. A material reduction in future cash flows from these assets would necessitate a full 
impairment review and the possibility of a material impairment charge in future years. As at 31 December 2017, to the extent 
that discount rates were to increase by 25%, for example from 4% to 5%, there would be no increase to the goodwill impairment 
charge. 

2.4 Adoption of new and revised standards 
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are mandatory for the first time for the 
period ended 31 December 2017 but do not have a significant impact on the Group or Company: 

• Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’; 

• Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’; and 

• Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle. 

  

NewDay 2017 Annual Report and Financial Statements 79

Financial S
tatem

ents



Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

 newday.co.uk 80 

2. Accounting policies continued 
2.5 Standards issued but not yet effective 
The following accounting standards and interpretations have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) but have not been early adopted by the Group or Company: 

• IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’. IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at 
amortised cost; fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and fair value through profit or loss. The standard 
eliminates the existing IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ categories of held to maturity, loans and 
receivables and available for sale. IFRS 9 also replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected 
credit loss’ (ECL) model. The standard became effective from 1 January 2018 and will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
Financial Statements, both on adoption and on an ongoing basis. For further details on the Group’s adoption of IFRS 9 see 
note 29;  

• IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’ and IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ 
and sets out the requirements for recognising revenue that applies to contracts with customers, except for those revenue 
items that are covered by standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. The standard became effective 
on 1 January 2018 but is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s Financial Statements; 

• IFRS 16 ‘Leases’. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating or finance leases and introduces a single 
lessee accounting model. Lessees will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability. The asset will be 
amortised over the length of the lease and the financial liability will be measured at amortised cost. The standard becomes 
effective on 1 January 2019 but is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s Financial Statements; 

• Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. The amendment clarifies the measurement of cash-settled share-based 
payments, the classification of share-based payments settled net of tax withholdings and accounting for a modification of a 
share-based payment from cash-settled to equity-settled. This standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s Financial Statements; 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’. The 
amendments resolve the conflict between the existing guidance on consolidation and equity accounting. This standard is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s Financial Statements; and 

• Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle. This standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
Financial Statements. 

3. Segment information 
The Group’s operating performance on a segmental basis is regularly reviewed by management. The segmental results contain 
various reclassifications from the statutory results. The Group’s reportable segments comprise Own-brand, Co-brand and 
Unsecured Personal Loans, which are the segments reported to the chief operating decision maker, which is deemed to be the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Management Committee. Each segment offers different products and services and is managed 
in line with the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. Segment performance is assessed on the basis of 
underlying contribution. The segments are as follows: 

• Own-brand: this segment serves customers in the near-prime sector of the UK credit card market who are typically new to 
credit or have a poor or limited credit history. The segment issues credit cards under aqua, marbles and opus brands and also 
includes several closed portfolios; 

• Co-brand: this segment provides co-branded credit card products in partnership with thirteen established retail and consumer 
brands. These products include store cards as well as co-branded credit cards. In addition to this, the Group also has a small 
portfolio of other closed credit cards and point-of-sale finance products; and 

• Unsecured Personal Loans: this segment, launched in December 2016 with a controlled build up in 2017, provides unsecured 
personal loan products to existing Own-brand customers. 

These segments reflect how internal reporting is provided to management and how management allocate resources and assess 
performance. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are consistent with the Group’s accounting policies. The 
Group’s activities are managed across Jersey, Luxembourg and the UK. However, the Group only offers products to customers 
in the UK. Capital expenditure is not allocated to individual segments as property and equipment is managed at Group level. 
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The table below presents the performance on a segmental basis for the year ended 31 December 2017, assuming the 
Predecessor Group had been acquired on 1 January 2017, in line with reporting to the chief operating decision maker: 

Period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 
Own-brand

£m
Co-brand 

£m 

Unsecured 
Personal Loans 

£m 
Total

£m

Interest income 338.3 142.7 0.9 481.9
Cost of funds (26.7) (13.2) (0.7) (40.6)

Net interest income 311.6 129.5 0.2 441.3
Fee and commission income 39.1 18.3 – 57.4
Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers (194.7) (20.7) (0.8) (216.2)

Risk-adjusted income/(expense) 156.0 127.1 (0.6) 282.5
Servicing costs (32.9) (46.8) (0.7) (80.4)
Change costs (14.4) (6.6) (0.7) (21.7)
Marketing and partner payments (14.4) (37.0) (0.7) (52.1)
Collection fees 15.8 12.1 – 27.9

Contribution 110.1 48.8 (2.7) 156.2
Salaries, benefits and overheads   (46.1)
Add back: depreciation and amortisation   4.3

Adjusted EBITDA   114.4
Acquisition related expenses   (10.7)
Senior Secured Debt interest and related costs   (32.1)
Fair value unwind   (1.9)
Interest on related party loans   (30.5)
All colleague acquisition bonus   (3.2)
Other costs   (2.9)
Depreciation and amortisation including amortisation of intangibles 
arising on the Acquisition 

  
(49.8)

Loss before tax   (16.7)

   
Gross receivables 1,326.3 820.8 16.5 2,163.6

The table below presents a reconciliation of the reclassifications from the statutory performance to the results shown in the 
segmental analysis: 

1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 
reconciling items 

Statutory
£m

Fair value
unwind

£m

Cost
recovery fees

£m
Other 

£m 

Performance  
1 January to 26 

January  
£m 

Segmental 
basis

£m

Interest income 445.1 (2.5) – – 39.3 481.9
Cost of funds (105.1) 4.7 – 63.0 (3.2) (40.6)
Fee and commission income 77.9 – (25.1) – 4.6 57.4
Impairment losses on loans and 
advances to customers (199.3) – – 0.3 (17.2) (216.2)

Risk-adjusted income  218.6 2.2 (25.1) 63.3 23.5 282.5
Total operating expenses (245.6) (2.2) 25.1 (63.3) (13.2) (299.2)

Loss before tax (27.0) – – – 10.3 (16.7)

Fair value unwind reflects the amortisation of fair value adjustment’s on the Group’s acquired receivables and debt issued which 
are excluded from underlying profit on a segmental basis.  

Cost recovery fees are presented as a component of servicing costs on a segmental basis rather than income.  
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3. Segment information continued 
Other largely represents the £32.1m interest and related costs on the £425.0m Senior Secured Debt and £30.0m Revolving 
Credit Facility up to 31 December 2017 and £30.5m interest on related party loans up to 30 June 2017, which are excluded from 
underlying profit on a segmental basis. 

Pro forma adjustments represent the performance of the Predecessor Group from 1 January 2017 to the date of acquisition on 
26 January 2017, which are not consolidated into the statutory results. 

4. Interest and similar income 
 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017

£m

Interest income from loans and advances to customers 444.9 –
Interest income from banks 0.2 –
Interest income from loans with Group undertakings – 29.4
Interest income from Tracking Preferred Equity Certificates – 19.8

 Interest and similar income 445.1 49.2

Refer to note 23.2 for information on interest income recognised on impaired loans and advances to customers. 

The Company’s interest and similar income consists of interest on a loan note issued by NewDay UK Limited and interest on 
Tracking Preferred Equity Certificates (TPECs) issued by NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l.. 

5. Interest and similar expense 
 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Interest expense on debt issued and other borrowed funds 69.7 3.3
Interest expense on related party loans 30.5 30.5
Interest expense on amounts owed to Group undertakings – 28.8
Other 0.2 –
Fair value unwind 4.7 –

Interest and similar expense 105.1 62.6

Interest expense on related party loans consists of £30.5m interest accrued up to 30 June 2017 at 12% per annum on: (i) a 
£529.2m intercompany loan from Nemean MidCo Limited (the Company’s immediate parent company); and (ii) £64.7m loan 
notes issued by the Company and held by Nemean MidCo Limited. With effect from 1 July 2017 the terms of these loan 
agreements were amended resulting in a change in classification from liabilities to equity instruments in the balance sheet. The 
interest accrued up to 30 June 2017 has been recorded as a capital contribution and no further interest expense will be charged 
to the income statement. The interest continues to legally accrue on these instruments, and remains legally payable if approved. 
This is at the discretion of the Board of the Company. 
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6. Fee and commission income 
 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Card fees 65.1 –
Interchange fees 8.5 –
Other fees received 4.3 –

Fee and commission income 77.9 –

7. Personnel expense 
 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Wages and salaries 50.4 –
Social security costs 4.5 –
Pension contributions  3.0 –
Other staff costs  3.3 –

Personnel expense 61.2 –

  
Average number of full time employees  828 –
Number of full time employees as at 31 December 916 –

See note 26 for details of transactions with key management personnel. 

8. Other operating expenses 
 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Servicing costs 55.8 –
Administrative costs and commissions to retailers 40.4 0.1
Advertising and marketing 9.6 –
IT and communications 5.0 –
Professional fees 2.3 0.1
Project expenses 21.9 12.3
Depreciation of property and equipment (see note 14) 2.7 –
Amortisation of intangible assets (see note 15) 46.6 –
Other 0.1 –

Other operating expenses 184.4 12.5

Other operating expenses include £1.8m of operating lease expenses on Leeds and London properties. 
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8. Other operating expenses continued 
Professional fees include fees payable to the auditor, KPMG LLP, in relation to: 

 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Audit of consolidated Group and Company Financial Statements 0.1 0.1
Audit of the Financial Statements of the Company’s subsidiaries 0.4 –
Other assurance services 0.1 –

 0.6 0.1

The auditor is permitted to undertake work in other areas where it is the most suitable supplier and the terms and conditions of 
the engagement, including the fee, do not impair its objectivity or independence.  

9. Tax expense 
 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Current tax expense 10.2 –
Deferred tax credit (0.7) –

Tax expense  9.5 –

Reconciliation of the total tax charge 
The applicable tax regime for all the Group entities apart from the Company and NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. is the UK. The 
Jersey tax regime is applicable for the Company and the Luxembourg tax regime is applicable NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. and 
is reflected in the tax computations accordingly. A reconciliation between the accounting loss before tax and the tax expense for 
the period ended 31 December 2017 is as follows: 

 Group Company

 

26 September 
2016 to 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

26 September 
2016 to

31 December 
2017

£m

Loss before tax (27.0) (25.9)
Tax credit at average UK corporation tax rate of 19.2%  (5.2) (5.0)
  
Effects of:  
Disallowable items and allowable deductions 11.3 5.0
Profits subject to corporation tax under securitisation vehicle rules (5.8) –
Adjustment in respect of foreign tax rates 8.7 –
Adjustment for capital allowances (0.1) –
Short-term timing differences (0.3) –
Prior year adjustment in relation to Predecessor Group 0.9 –

Tax expense 9.5 –

For the period from 26 September 2016 to 31 March 2017 the enacted UK corporation tax rate was 20% and for the period from 
1 April 2017 to 31 December 2017 the rate was 19%. The average tax rate for the period 26 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 
is calculated at 19.2%, reflecting that the consolidated results of NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. were consolidated from the 
date of the Acquisition on 26 January 2017. From 1st April 2020 the tax rate is expected to be 17%.  

The Group has deferred tax assets of £0.7m resulting from temporary differences.  

There was no tax recognised through the statements of comprehensive income in the period. 
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10. Acquisition of subsidiaries 
On 26 January 2017 the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital and preferred equity certificates in NewDay Group 
Holdings S.à r.l. for cash consideration of £990.5m (the Acquisition). NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. was the parent company of 
the Predecessor Group. The Predecessor Group provides financial products and services to customers within the near-prime 
and co-brand sectors of the UK credit card markets.  

Costs of £10.7m associated with the Acquisition comprising due diligence, legal, advisory and tax fees are included within 
operating expenses in the income statement. 

The allocation of the consideration has been subject to a purchase price allocation exercise. The excess of consideration over 
the net assets acquired has been allocated to goodwill. The net assets acquired, intangible assets and goodwill are as follows: 

Group 

Carrying value at 
acquisition 

£m 

Fair value  
Adjustments 

£m 

Fair value at 
Acquisition

£m

Loans and advances to banks 216.4 – 216.4

Loans and advances to customers 1,742.3 – 1,742.3

Other assets 51.3 – 51.3

Current tax assets 0.8 – 0.8

Property and equipment 6.9 – 6.9

Intangible assets 4.0 396.1 400.1

Debt issued and other borrowed funds (1,563.9) 10.1 (1,553.8)

Other liabilities (79.6) – (79.6)

Current tax liabilities (0.9) – (0.9)

Provisions (72.9) – (72.9)

Net assets acquired 304.4 406.2 710.6

Goodwill 279.9

Cash consideration 990.5

Following a review of regulatory provisions, a hindsight adjustment has been applied to increase provisions associated with non-
customer related regulatory enquiries by £4.6m taking provisions recognised on acquisition to £72.9m (initially recognised on 
acquisition: £68.3m). A corresponding adjustment has been made to goodwill. 

Intangible assets recognised upon acquisition comprise:  

• the fair value of customer and retail partner relationships (£314.8m); 

• the fair value of brand and trade names (£29.4m); and 

• the fair value of intellectual property (credit scoring models) (£51.9m). 

The value of the customer and retail partner relationships was determined using the multi-period excess earnings method which 
considers the value of net cash flows expected to be generated by the relationships, discounted over their estimated useful 
economic life. 

The value of the brand and trade names and intellectual property was determined using the relief from royalty method which 
considers the estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of owning the assets. 

Goodwill is the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired and represents 
the future growth potential of the Group, including new retail partner contracts that were established at the end of 2016 and the 
established workforce. The Group has two cash-generating units for the purpose of assessing whether any impairment of 
goodwill is required; Own-brand and Co-brand. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax 
purposes. 

Debt issued and other borrowed funds contains publicly issued listed term debt and variable funding notes which have been  
re-measured at fair value. For the publicly issued listed term debt, an observable market price is available, however such debt is 
not actively traded therefore the fair value has been estimated using prices quoted by banks. The senior variable funding notes’ 
fair value approximates to their carrying value. These variable funding notes are private bilateral agreements that can be drawn 
upon and repaid by the issuer.  

See note 26 for details of participating interests issued to key management personnel and certain senior employees in 
connection with the Acquisition. 
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10. Acquisition of subsidiaries continued 
Loans and advances to customers at the date of the Acquisition comprised £1,830.8m of gross contractual amounts of which 
£109.0m was expected to be uncollectible at the date of Acquisition. 

For the period between the date of purchase and 31 December 2017, the Predecessor Group contributed £523.0m to the 
Group’s interest and similar income and fee and commission income, and £80.8m to the Group’s profit before tax. If the Group 
had completed the purchase of the Predecessor Group on 1 January 2017, Group interest and similar income and fee and 
commission income would have been £46.7m higher than the reported results whilst the Group’s loss before tax would have 
been £10.3m lower (see note 3 for further details).  

11. Loans and advances to banks 
 Group Company

 

31 December  
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017

£m

Loans and advances to banks 124.4 1.2
Restricted cash 43.5 –

 167.9 1.2

  
Cash and cash equivalents 124.4 1.2

Loans and advances to banks are held with large commercial banks. Restricted cash of £43.5m is restricted for more than three 
months and consists of ring-fenced cash for credit balances on loans and advances to customers, as well as cash restricted due 
to covenants in place in accordance with the Group’s funding structure. 

12. Loans and advances to customers 
 Group Company

 

31 December  
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017

£m

Loans and advances to customers 2,237.3 –
Impairment provision on loans and advances to customers (132.9) –

  2,104.4 –

There is no fixed term for repayment of credit card loans other than a contractual requirement for customers to make a 
minimum monthly repayment towards their outstanding balance.  

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Group acquired loans and advances to customers which comprised £1,830.8m of gross 
contractual amounts of which £109.0m was expected to be uncollectible at the date of acquisition. Loans and advances shown 
above are stated net of the expected uncollectible amounts plus any additional impairment that has arisen following the 
Acquisition.  

If the provision arising upon Acquisition for amounts expected to be uncollectible had been classified within the impairment 
provision the movement during the period would be as follows: 

 Group

 

Impairment 
provision

£m

As at 26 September 2016 –
Impairment provision recognised on the Acquisition (109.0)
Charge-offs during the period  227.5
Recoveries during the period (52.1)
Charge to the income statement during the period (199.3)

As at 31 December 2017 (132.9)
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The movement in the statutory impairment provision, in accordance with IFRS, is as follows: 

 Group

 

Impairment 
provision

£m

As at 26 September 2016 –
Charge-offs during the period  118.5
Recoveries during the period (52.1)
Charge to the income statement during the period (199.3)

As at 31 December 2017 (132.9)

Transfers of financial assets 
The Group transfers certain loan balances to recovery agencies, in the ordinary course of business, for a proportion of their 
carrying value. It also undertakes that certain recourse may be claimed by the recovery agencies if specific criteria are not met 
for a period of time following the date of transfer. Up to this date the Group is responsible for returning collection proceeds to 
the agencies, depending on the provisions of each individual sales agreement. During the period the Group sold and 
derecognised certain loans and advances to customers for the purpose of expediting recovery of these balances for total net 
proceeds of £57.0m. The Group has no other transferred financial assets which are derecognised partly or in their entirety and in 
which it retains some form of continuing involvement. 

13. Other assets 
 Group Company

 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017

£m

Other receivables 39.3 –
Prepayments and accrued income 28.3 0.1
Amounts due from Group undertakings – 515.1

Other assets 67.6 515.2

On 28 April 2017 the Company acquired from NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. a loan note issued by NewDay UK Limited of 
£483.7m at an interest rate of 9% per annum due 2027. The loan note was listed on the International Stock Exchange on 12 
October 2017. 

14. Property and equipment 

Group 

Computer 
equipment

£m

Fixtures and 
fittings 

£m 

Leasehold 
improvements 

£m 

Total property 
and equipment

£m

Cost as at 26 September 2016 – – – –
Recognised on the Acquisition 2.3 1.7 7.2 11.2
Additions 0.3 1.1 4.4 5.8
Disposals – (0.4) (1.8) (2.2)

Cost as at 31 December 2017 2.6 2.4 9.8 14.8

Depreciation as at 26 September 2016 – – – –
Recognised on the Acquisition (1.3) (1.3) (1.7) (4.3)
Charge to the income statement for the period (0.3) (0.6) (1.8) (2.7)
Disposals  – 0.4 1.8 2.2

Depreciation as at 31 December 2017 (1.6) (1.5) (1.7) (4.8)

   
Net book value as at 26 September 2016 – – – –
Net book value as at 31 December 2017 1.0 0.9 8.1 10.0

The Company held no property and equipment during the period.  
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15. Intangible assets 

Group 

Acquired 
intangibles 

£m 

Internally 
generated 

intangibles 
£m 

Total intangible 
assets

£m

Cost as at 26 September 2016 – – –
Recognised on the Acquisition 396.1 4.2 400.3
Additions – 3.9 3.9

Cost as at 31 December 2017 396.1 8.1 404.2

Amortisation as at 26 September 2016 – – –
Recognised on the Acquisition – (0.2) (0.2)
Charge to the income statement for the period (45.5) (1.1) (46.6)

Amortisation as at 31 December 2017 (45.5) (1.3) (46.8)

   
Net book value as at 26 September 2016 – – –
Net book value as at 31 December 2017 350.6 6.8 357.4

For further details of the acquired intangibles see note 10. Internally generated intangibles include computer software and core 
operating platforms.  

The Company held no intangible assets during the period. 

16. Investment in subsidiaries 
 Company

 

31 December 
2017

£m

As at 26 September 2016 –
Investments during the period 990.5
Realisation of investment (485.6)

As at 31 December 2017 504.9

The Company holds 100% of the ordinary shares of NewDay Group UK Limited and NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l..  

On 28 April 2017, NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. assigned to the Company a loan note issued by NewDay UK Limited for 
£483.7m, at an interest rate of 9% per annum due 2027 in consideration for: (i) the repurchase of 312,500 A9 NewDay Group 
Holdings S.à r.l. shares for £324.6m; (ii) redemption of £68.5m Interest Free Preferred Equity Certificates; and (iii) repayment of 
£92.5m Tracking Preferred Equity Certificate interest.  

The Directors considered the carrying value of the investments in its subsidiaries and concluded that no impairment is required. 

17. Goodwill 
 Group

 

31 December 
2017

£m

As at 26 September 2016 –
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiaries 279.9

As at 31 December 2017 279.9

Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the 
goodwill arose. On completion of the Acquisition, £240.5m of goodwill was allocated to Own-brand and £39.4m was allocated to 
Co-brand.  

See note 10 for further details of goodwill acquired and note 2.3 for further details on the significant accounting judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the carrying value of goodwill.  
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18. Debt issued and other borrowed funds 
 Group Company

 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017 

£m

Senior Secured Debt and associated facilities 435.4 –
Asset-backed term debt 1,506.8 –
Variable funding notes 331.2 –
Intercompany loan agreement – 435.4

 2,273.4 435.4
Capitalised debt funding fees (20.7) (14.1)

Debt issued and other borrowed funds 2,252.7 421.3

In connection with the Acquisition, NewDay BondCo plc (formerly Nemean BondCo plc) issued £425.0m Senior Secured Debt 
comprising £275.0m Fixed Rate Senior Secured Debt due 2024 and £150.0m Floating Rate Senior Secured Debt due 2023. In 
addition, certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into a £30.0m Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility. 

In addition, debt issued and other borrowed funds includes publicly listed asset-backed securities and variable funding notes 
provided by a number of different investors. This debt issued, provided at LIBOR plus margin, is backed by securitised 
outstanding loans and advances to customers. £1,090.0m is used to fund the Own-brand portfolio, £743.6m is used to fund the 
Co-brand portfolio and £4.4m is used to fund the Unsecured Personal Loans business. 

A reconciliation of debt issued and other borrowed funds during the period is as followings: 

 Cash flows Non-cash movements  

Group  

As at 26 
September 

2016
£m

Proceeds 
from debt 

issued 
£m

Repayment 
of debt 
issued

£m

Recognised 
on the 

Acquisition 
£m

Intercompany 
debt converted 

to equity 
£m 

Other 
£m

As at 31 
December 

2017
£m

Senior Secured Debt and associated facilities – 425.0 – – – 10.4 435.4
Asset-backed term debt – 521.5 (286.5) 1,263.9 – 7.9 1,506.8
Variable funding notes – 330.3 (290.9) 289.9 – 1.9 331.2
Intercompany loan agreement – 593.9 – – (593.9) – –

Debt issued and other borrowed funds – 1,870.7 (577.4) 1,553.8 (593.9) 20.2 2,273.4

Other includes amortisation of fair value adjustments recognised on the acquired debt issued and movements in accrued 
interest. 

On 26 January 2017 the Company entered into an intercompany loan agreement with NewDay UK Limited pursuant to which 
the Company borrowed £425.0m comprising: (i) a fixed rate loan of £275.0m at an interest rate of 7.375% per annum due 2024; 
and (ii) a floating rate loan of £150.0m at an interest rate of three-month LIBOR plus a margin of 6.5% per annum due 2023. 
There were no other movements in the period. 

The scheduled maturities of debt issued and other borrowed funds are as follows: 

 Group Company

 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017

£m

Debt issued and other borrowed funds repayable in:  
Less than one year 266.3 –
Between one and two years 481.7 –
Between two and five years 1,090.0 –
More than five years 435.4 435.4

 2,273.4 435.4

Refer to note 27 for further details on the Group’s funding structure. 
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19. Other liabilities 
 Group Company

 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017

£m

Trade payables and accruals 65.9 0.3
Other liabilities 19.2 –
Pension contributions 0.4 –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – 1.2

Other liabilities 85.5 1.5

20. Provisions 
The movement in provisions during the period is as follows: 

Group 

PPI
 provision

£m

CCA 
provision

£m

Customer refund 
provision

£m

Dilapidation 
provision 

£m 
Other provisions 

£m 

Total 
provisions

£m

As at 26 September 2016 – – – – – –
Recognised on the Acquisition 55.8 1.4 0.4 1.5 13.8 72.9
Arising during the period – – – 0.3 3.3 3.6
Utilised during the period (10.7) (0.2) (0.4) – (8.3) (19.6)

As at 31 December 2017 45.1 1.2 – 1.8 8.8 56.9

The Company held no provisions during the period. 

Payment Protection Insurance 
The PPI provision relates to the Group’s liabilities in respect of matters relating to the sale of PPI to cardholders and result from 
compensating customers for any PPI claims arising from portfolios purchased from the Predecessor Group.  

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Group recognised an opening provision for future PPI claims of £55.8m. As at 31 
December 2017 the Group held a provision of £45.1m in respect of the anticipated costs of PPI redress, which includes a 
provision of £2.4m in relation to administrative expenses. There are still a number of uncertainties as to the eventual PPI redress 
costs, in particular the total number of claims and the cost per claim, however, the Directors believe that the amounts provided 
at the year end, based on historical and forecasted claim rates and amounts, along with ongoing legal and regulatory 
developments, appropriately reflect the expected cost to the Group. 

The principal sensitivities in the PPI provision calculation are: total claims excluding the impact of FCA-led publicity campaigns; 
claims resulting from the FCA-led publicity campaigns; the uphold rate; and the average redress amount. A movement in each 
principal sensitivity would result in the following movement in the PPI provision: 

 Group

 

31 December 
2017

£m

+/- 5% in total claims excluding the impact of FCA-led publicity campaigns uplift  +/- 0.8
+/- 2.5 percentage points in FCA-led publicity campaigns uplift +/- 10.8
+/- 5 percentage points in uphold rate +1.2/-1.3
+/- 10% in average redress amount +/- 4.2

Consumer Credit Act (CCA) provision 
The CCA provision relates to the Group’s obligations in respect of compensation to customers for non-compliance with the 
CCA. In certain instances, this relates to purchased accounts whereby the seller had not complied with the requirements of the 
CCA. As such the Group is fully compensated for costs by the seller of the accounts, and a corresponding asset of £1.0m has 
been recorded in other receivables in the balance sheet. 
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Customer refund provision 
The Predecessor Group commissioned an in-depth review of default fees to ensure that customers continued to be treated 
fairly. The outcome of this was that from January 2016 it stopped charging customers some of those default fees in certain 
circumstances. In addition, the Predecessor Group reimbursed customers where they had been charged those fees under those 
circumstances from 1 April 2014 onwards. All remaining customers were reimbursed as at 31 December 2017.  

Dilapidations provision  
A provision of £1.8m is held as at 31 December 2017 for dilapidation of the leased Leeds and London offices. This has been 
discounted at the risk-free rate over the remaining period of the leases, which as at 31 December 2017 is a weighted average of 
8 years. 

Other provisions 
Other provisions largely consists of:  

• an all colleague acquisition bonus, totalling £3.4m, payable to employees in connection with the completion of the Acquisition; 
and 

• £4.6m associated with non-customer related regulatory enquiries. The Group is, from time to time and in the normal course of 
business, subject to a variety of legal or regulatory claims, actions or proceedings. When such circumstances arise 
management provides for its best estimate of cost where an outflow of economic resources is considered probable. 

21. Share capital and reserves 
 Group Company

 

31 December 
2017 

£m 

31 December 
2017

£m

Share capital and share premium – –
Equity instruments 593.9 593.9
Capital contribution 30.5 30.5
Retained losses (36.5) (25.9)

Total equity 587.9 598.5

With effect from 1 July 2017 the terms of a £529.2m intercompany loan from Nemean MidCo Limited and £64.7m loan notes 
issued by the Company and held by Nemean MidCo Limited were amended, resulting in a change in classification from liabilities 
to equity instruments. The interest accrued on these loans up to 30 June 2017 has been recorded as a capital contribution. 

 Company

 31 December 2017

Called up share capital ordinary shares (1 pence) 
Number of  

shares 
Nominal value

£

Issued upon incorporation 101 1.01

As at 31 December 2017 101 1.01

Share capital consists of 101 fully paid up ordinary shares at a nominal value of 1 pence. 

Capital management 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend 
payments to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. The objectives, policies and processes are 
under constant review by the Directors. 

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and specifically for NewDay Ltd, to 
meet the capital adequacy requirements of the FCA under the Payment Services Regulations (2017) for Authorised Payment 
Institutions.  

During the period, the Group had complied with its externally imposed capital requirements. 
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22. Fair value of financial instruments 
Fair value hierarchy 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique: 

• level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• level 2: other techniques for which all inputs, other than observable unadjusted quoted prices included within level 1, having a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

• level 3: techniques which use inputs having a significant effect on the recorded fair value not based on observable market data. 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost  
Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying value and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments: 

Group 
As at 31 December 2017 

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3 
£m 

Total 
carrying value 

£m 
Fair value

£m

Financial assets   
Loans and advances to banks – 167.9 – 167.9 167.9
Loans and advances to customers – – 2,104.4 2,104.4 2,104.4
Other assets – 39.3 – 39.3 39.3

Total financial assets – 207.2 2,104.4 2,311.6 2,311.6

   
Financial liabilities   
Debt issued and other borrowed funds – (2,252.7) – (2,252.7) (2,218.1)
Other liabilities – (85.1) – (85.1) (85.1)

Total financial liabilities – (2,337.8) – (2,337.8) (2,303.2)
 

Company 
As at 31 December 2017 

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3 
£m 

Total 
carrying value 

£m 
Fair value

£m

Financial assets   
Loans and advances to banks – 1.2 – 1.2 1.2
Other assets – – 515.1 515.1 515.1

Total financial assets – 1.2 515.1 516.3 516.3

   
Financial liabilities   
Debt issued and other borrowed funds – (421.3) – (421.3) (384.9)
Other liabilities – (1.5) – (1.5) (1.5)

Total financial liabilities – (422.8) – (422.8) (386.4)

Loans and advances to banks 
These items have a short-term maturity (usually less than three months) and it is assumed that their carrying value 
approximates to their fair value as a result of their short time horizon to maturity. These have been classified as level 2 because 
these items can be repriced using market observable inputs. 

Loans and advances to customers 
This contains the receivables related to credit card and loan balances that have been issued by the Group. The Group regularly 
reviews the pricing of the portfolio and, to the extent that there has been a movement in the credit spread charged to customers 
in the market or changes in expected credit losses on the book, it reprices each eligible portfolio accordingly to be reflective of 
market rates. As a result of the repricing, the interest rate on such products is equivalent to current market rate and as such the 
Group considers the fair value of these credit cards to be equal to their carrying value. All valuation inputs used to value these 
instruments have been derived from historical performance of the Group’s portfolios which would not be observable to a market 
participant and as such these financial instruments have been classified as level 3. 
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Other assets 
Other assets of the Group consist of other receivables. The fair value of these receivable balances approximates to their 
carrying value as there have been no significant changes to market conditions that would have caused a difference between the 
two values. As the assets can be repriced using market observable inputs these have been classified as level 2. 

Other assets of the Company consist of the loan note issued by NewDay UK Limited. The loan note cannot be repriced using 
market observable data and therefore has been classified as level 3. 

Debt issued and other borrowed funds 
The Group balance contains Senior Secured Debt and associated facilities, asset-backed term securities and variable funding 
notes. For the Senior Secured Debt and asset-backed term debt an observable market price is available, however such debt is 
not actively traded, therefore the fair value has been estimated using prices quoted by banks and they have been classified as 
level 2. The senior variable funding notes’ fair value approximates to its carrying value. These variable funding notes are private 
bilateral agreements that can be drawn upon and repaid by the borrower. These issuances have been classified as level 2. 

Debt issued and other borrowed funds of the Company consists of the intercompany loan with NewDay UK Limited. The fair 
value is determined by using the market price quoted by banks on the publicly listed bonds issued by NewDay BondCo Plc, 
another Group entity, whose terms are identical. Therefore these have been classified as level 2. 

Other liabilities 
Other liabilities of the Group largely consist of accounts payable. The fair value of other liabilities approximates to their carrying 
value because there have been no significant changes to market conditions that would have caused a difference between these 
two values. These have been classified as level 2 because these items can be repriced using market observable inputs. 

23. Risk management 
23.1 Introduction 
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities, but is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 
monitoring, with respect to pre-determined risk appetite settings and other controls performed by the Board. The Group 
controls risk via the operation of a Risk Management Framework.  

Sound risk management is critical to ensure the Group meets its regulatory requirements, and delivers on the strategic and 
financial goals agreed with shareholders, whilst also preserving the Group’s brand and reputation. 

The financial risks faced by the Group include: 

• credit risk; 

• liquidity, funding and cash management risk; 

• market risk; and 

• regulatory and conduct risk. 

Risk measurement and reporting systems 
As part of the overall risk management strategy, risks are measured, monitored and reported to ensure the Group understands 
the risks it faces. The Group has a definition and categorisation model that forms a key part of the Risk Management Framework.  

The Group uses qualitative and quantitative methods (including the use of statistical models) to compute both expected and 
unexpected losses.  

Monitoring and control processes are set by the Board, delegated to the Risk Committee and subsequently delegated down to 
the individual business committees and ultimately to all employees of the Group. 

Information is compiled from all parts of the business in order to identify, analyse and control risks on a timely basis. Appropriate 
key risk indicators and other information are presented and discussed at the Risk Committee (on a quarterly basis), Enterprise 
Risk Management Committee and specific sub-committees on a monthly basis, or more frequently as required. 

23.2 Credit risk  
The Group is exposed to credit risk on loans and advances to customers and other financial assets. Credit risk is the risk that the 
Group will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations. The Group 
manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and 
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. 
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23. Risk management continued 
23.2 Credit risk continued 
Credit risk exposure from customers is managed throughout the lifecycle, underpinned by proprietary credit models which have 
been developed from customers’ historical credit performance and are used to forecast a probability of charge-off for a given 
level of credit. At the point of originating a new account, the risk profile is assessed against the credit policy and scorecard cut-
off, aligned to the product applied for, to determine the terms and credit limit offered. Credit assessment utilises a combination 
of customer provided data as well as data sourced from multiple credit reference agencies. 

A monthly assessment of existing customers’ risk profiles determines if their credit limit is still appropriate for their borrowing 
needs. The proprietary credit models utilise spend and payment behaviour from products held by the Group as well as products 
with other providers to determine if a credit limit increase or decrease should be extended to the customer. 

Risk-based arrears management combined with specific contact strategies ensure that letters, inbound and outbound 
telephony, use of SMS and email are deployed in a way which manages credit risks. Contact is established with customers to 
understand the reason behind missed payments and to understand if potential future concerns exist over payments due. 
Strategies are then deployed to ensure that customers in arrears are supported in returning to an up-to-date position or 
appropriate forbearance arrangements are put into place. 

The Group has a range of treatments for customers who are experiencing financial stress through concessions which can be 
applied on a short-term or permanent basis where there is no detriment to the customer. Forbearance or other temporary 
arrangements are designed to ensure that the customer’s product remains sustainable and aligned to their personal 
circumstances. A customer identified as being in financial difficulty will be managed on an individual basis, with the appropriate 
understanding of their personal circumstances and priority debt being key factors in judging if a suitable arrangement can be 
made so the debt repayment becomes affordable and sustainable. 

The provision of such arrangements is managed through the operational centres and governed using several methods, 
including, but not limited to: operational policy framework; controls against the execution of the policy; regular quality assurance 
reviews; and customer outcomes through regular reporting. 

Forbearance arrangements span a vast spectrum of relief and time, ranging from a temporary suspension of fees and interest, 
which allows a customer the time to assess their options and complete an income and expenditure assessment, through 
matched contributions to bring customers back into a more sustainable position and extending to an indefinite suspension of 
fees and interest with a contribution from the customer being made on a monthly basis. 

The Group has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of customers. Credit limits are established using a credit risk classification system, which assigns each 
customer a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to regular revision. The credit quality review process aims to allow the Group to 
assess the potential loss as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and to take corrective action where appropriate. 

Impairment assessment 
In accordance with IAS 39, the Group uses an incurred loss model for the recognition of impairment losses on financial assets. 
This means that losses can only be recognised when objective evidence of a specific loss event has been observed. Trigger 
events include the following: 

• indication of significant financial difficulty of a customer or a breach of contract such as a default of payment; 

• where the Group grants the customer a concession due to the customer experiencing financial difficulty; 

• it becomes probable that the customer will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 

• other observable data that suggests that there is a decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loans. 

Collectively assessed allowances 
Allowances are assessed collectively for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers due to the fact that balances 
are not individually significant. 

A collective assessment is made for groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, in order to determine whether a provision 
should be made due to incurred loss events. The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio, such as 
historical losses on the portfolio, levels of arrears, credit utilisation, and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. The 
emergence period, being the delay between the time a loss crystallises or is incurred and the time that the asset is identified as 
impaired, is also taken into consideration. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by credit management to ensure 
alignment with the Group’s overall policy. 
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The principal sensitivities in the provision calculation are the probability of charge-off, the amounts to be recovered on credit 
losses and the emergence period. A movement in each principal sensitivity would result in the following movement in the 
impairment provision:  

 Group

 

31 December 
2017

£m

+/- 10% shift in probability of charge-off  +/-9.4
+/- 1 pence movement per pound of receivable on recoveries expected  
on credit losses -/+1.5
+/- 1 month movement in the emergence period +/-15.0

Analysis of credit risk and credit enhancements 

Group 
As at 31 December 2017 

Neither past 
due nor

 impaired
£m

Past due and 
impaired  

£m 
Total  

£m 

Maximum 
exposure to 

credit risk 
£m

Financial assets   
Loans and advances to banks 167.9 – 167.9 167.9
Loans and advances to customers 2,004.5 99.9 2,104.4 2,104.4
Other assets 39.3 – 39.3 39.3

 2,211.7 99.9 2,311.6 2,311.6

Ageing analysis 
Group 
As at 31 December 2017 

 <30 days 
£m

31-60 days 
£m

61-90 days  
£m 

91-180 days  
£m 

Total 
£m

Past due and impaired as at 31 December 2017 57.4 14.4 9.8 18.3 99.9

Included in impaired loans and advances to customers are forborne accounts where the Group expects to recover assets but 
historical experience suggests that there is a component of loss that will be crystallised. These are customers with specific 
payment arrangement plans which are less onerous than standard contractual terms and conditions. As at 31 December 2017, 
there were £36.9m of forborne assets on a repayment plan in impaired loans and advances to customers. If the cash flows on 
forborne assets were to increase or decrease by 10% this would result in a decrease or increase in the impairment provision of 
£0.4m or £0.5m respectively. In the period to 31 December 2017, the Group has recognised interest income relating to impaired 
assets of £22.2m. The interest income is recognised in line with the requirements of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’. 

Collateral held 
The Group’s primary business is to provide short-term credit to customers using the Group’s various branded store and credit 
cards and unsecured personal loans. In the course of providing credit to customers, the Group has credit risk assessment 
practices which provide approval for individuals to be extended credit. In providing these products it is not the policy of the Group 
to obtain collateral or other credit enhancements which reduce exposure to credit risk, other than the individual’s commitment 
to repay outstanding balances.  

Other commitments provided 
As at 31 December 2017, the Group has undrawn facilities on its loans and advances to customers, however facilities are not 
irrevocably committed. The Group has not entered into any other financial guarantee contracts, letters of credit or other 
undrawn commitments to lend. 
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23. Risk management continued 
23.3 Liquidity, funding and cash management risk 
Contractual cash flow maturity 
Loans and advances to customers constitute primarily store and credit cards. All cardholder receivables are contractually 
repayable on demand and have been disclosed as such. Individual cardholder customer behaviour varies and the cards are used 
as revolving facilities where drawdowns and repayments towards outstanding balances are made over time. The Group’s 
experience is that the average life of a cardholder account is 5 years. Unsecured personal loans and point of sale finance 
receivables follow a pre-agreed repayment schedule and have been disclosed accordingly.  

Of the £2,273.4m debt issued, £266.3m has a scheduled maturity of less than one year, £1,571.7m has a scheduled maturity of 
one to five years and £435.4m has a scheduled maturity of over five years. However, as the movement in debt funding matches 
the contractual profile of the card balances, with the exception of the Senior Secured Debt and associated facilities, the maturity 
profile of the debt will match the contractual maturity of the card receivable balances. 

Total committed funding facilities 
The Group’s total committed funding facilities as at 31 December 2017 were £3,328.6m of which £1,058.2m was undrawn.  

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
The table below summarises the contractual maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial liabilities as 
at 31 December 2017. This reflects both the interest payable and the repayment of the principal on maturity, based upon 
current drawings at the balance sheet date. 

Group 
As at 31 December 2017  

On demand
£m

Less than 
3 months

£m

3 to 12 
months

£m

1 to 5  
years 

£m 

Over  
5 years 

£m 
Total

£m

Financial liabilities   
Debt issued and other borrowed 
funds – 16.9 316.6 1,694.4  448.2 2,476.1
Other liabilities – 85.1 – – – 85.1

 – 102.0 316.6 1,694.4 448.2 2,561.2

Securitisation vehicles 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions that result in the transfer of the right to receive 
repayments in respect of loans and advances to customers to securitisation vehicles. In accordance with the accounting policy 
set out in note 2.2 (3), the transferred loans and advances to customers continue to be recognised in their entirety or to the 
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement, or are derecognised in their entirety. 

The Group transfers financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety or for which the Group has continuing 
involvement through securitisation activities. The Group transfers loans and advances to customers to securitisation vehicles 
but retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. The Group benefits to the extent that the surplus income 
generated by the transferred assets exceeds the administration costs of the securitisations, the cost of funding the assets and 
the cost of any losses associated with the assets and the administration costs of servicing the assets. Refer to note 27 for 
further details on the structure. 

The results of the securitisation vehicles are consolidated into the Group. The following table shows the carrying values and fair 
values of the assets transferred to securitisation vehicles and the related carrying value and fair value of the associated liability. 
The carrying values presented are the carrying values presented in the Financial Statements of the subsidiary. 

Group 
As at 31 December 2017 

Carrying value 
of transferred

assets not 
derecognised

£m

Carrying 
value of 

associated 
liabilities

£m

Fair value of 
transferred  

assets not 
derecognised 

£m 

Fair value of 
associated  

liabilities 
£m 

Net fair value 
£m

NewDay Funding Transferor Ltd 1,225.2 (1,086.8) 1,225.2 (1,088.0) 137.2
NewDay Partnership Transferor plc 831.0 (740.2) 831.0 (740.8) 90.2
NewDay UPL Transferor Ltd 15.9 (4.4) 15.9 (4.4) 11.5

2,072.1 (1,831.4) 2,072.1 (1,833.2) 238.9

23.4 Market risk 
Market risk is defined as the risk that market movements will negatively affect the value of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The 
only material market risk that the Group is exposed to is interest rate risk.  

The main source of interest rate risk for the Group arises where there is a significant difference between the interest rate bases 
on assets compared to liabilities. The Group’s assets are predominantly variable rate and are sensitive to interest rate 
movements to the extent that the Group is prohibited from repricing the portfolio of assets. The Group’s funding is 
predominantly LIBOR based floating rate and therefore is also sensitive to interest rate movements. The following tables analyse 
the Group’s assets and liabilities by reference to the period of time before that asset or liability can be repriced to realign interest 
rates.  
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Contractual repricing profile 

Group 
As at 31 December 2017 

Less than 
3 months

£m

3 to 12 
months 

£m

Over 1  
year 

£m 

Non-repricing  
or non-interest 

bearing 
£m 

Total
£m

Financial assets   
Loans and advances to banks 124.4 – 43.5 – 167.9
Loans and advances to customers 312.0 1,145.2 252.2 395.0 2,104.4
Other assets – – – 39.3 39.3
   
Financial liabilities   
Debt issued and other borrowed funds (1,831.4) (151.8) – (269.5) (2,252.7)
Other liabilities – – – (85.1) (85.1)

Net repricing difference (1,395.0) 993.4 295.7 79.7 (26.2)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to changes in interest rates (all other variables being held constant) of the 
Group’s income statement. The sensitivity of the consolidated income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in 
interest rates on the profit or loss for the period, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities 
held as at 31 December 2017. Total sensitivity of the consolidated income statement is based on the assumption that there are 
parallel shifts in the yield curve. 

Interest rate risk sensitivity 
 Sensitivity of profit or loss 

Group 

Increase/ 
(decrease)  

in basis points 

26 September 
2016 to 31 

December 2017
£m

Loans and advances to customers 25/(25) +4.6/(4.6)
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 25/(25) (5.0)/+5.0

23.5 Regulatory and conduct risk 
Regulatory risk is the risk of regulatory sanction, material financial loss or reputational damage if the organisation fails to design 
and implement operational processes, systems and controls such that it can maintain compliance with all applicable regulatory 
requirements. The Risk Committee reviews and discusses proposed regulatory changes that the Group is subject to. Regulatory 
developments form part of the Risk Committee’s updates to the Board which assesses the impact of regulatory change on the 
Group’s balance sheet and risk profile.  

Conduct risk is the risk of customer detriment arising from inappropriate culture, products and processes. Conduct risk can arise 
through the design of products that do not meet customers’ needs, mishandling complaints where the Group has behaved 
inappropriately towards its customers, inappropriate sale processes and exhibiting behaviour that does not meet market or 
regulatory standards. Avoiding poor customer outcomes requires focus on treating customers fairly including ensuring 
affordability and sustainability of lending and handling vulnerable customers sensitively. The Group mitigates conduct risk by 
monitoring various operational metrics through the customer outcomes radar and by tracking activities which affect customers, 
monitoring customer complaints, implementing process improvements and adhering to service standards. The outcomes of 
this reporting are monitored by the Board and the Risk Committee.  
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24. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or 
settled: 

 Group Company 

As at 31 December 2017 
< 12 months

£m
> 12 months

£m
Total

£m
< 12 months 

£m 
> 12 months 

£m 
Total 

£m

Assets   
Loans and advances to banks 124.4 43.5 167.9 1.2 – 1.2
Loans and advances to customers 1,758.6 345.8 2,104.4 – – –
Other assets 62.4 5.2 67.6 31.5 483.7 515.2
Current tax assets 0.1 0.7 0.8 – – –
Deferred tax asset – 0.7 0.7 – – –
Property and equipment – 10.0 10.0 – – –
Intangible assets – 357.4 357.4 – – –
Investment in subsidiaries – – – – 504.9 504.9
Goodwill – 279.9 279.9 – – –

Total assets 1,945.5 1,043.2 2,988.7 32.7 988.6 1,021.3
   
Liabilities   
Debt issued and other borrowed 
funds (266.3) (1,986.4) (2,252.7) (10.4) (410.9) (421.3)
Other liabilities (85.5) – (85.5) (1.5) – (1.5)
Current tax liabilities (5.7) – (5.7) – – –
Provisions (35.3) (21.6) (56.9) – – –

Total liabilities (392.8) (2,008.0) (2,400.8) (11.9) (410.9) (422.8)

25. Contingent liabilities, commitments and leasing arrangements 
Contingent liabilities 
Legislation 
As a financial services company, the Group is subject to extensive and comprehensive regulation. The Group must comply with 
numerous laws and regulations, including the Consumer Credit Act, which significantly affects the way it conducts business. 
Whilst the Group believes there are no unidentified areas of failure to comply with these laws and regulations which would have a 
material impact on these Financial Statements, there can be no guarantee that all issues have been identified. 

Lease arrangements 
Operating lease commitments 
The Group has entered into commercial leases for premises. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into 
these leases. 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

Group 
Operating lease commitments 

Less than
1 year

£m

1 to 5  
years 

£m 

Over 
5 years 

£m 
Total

£m

As at 31 December 2017 3.3 14.5 12.5 30.3

The Group had capital expenditure commitments contracted with third parties but not provided for of £0.4m as at 31  
December 2017. 
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26. Related party disclosures 
 Group Company 

 

Maximum 
balance during 

the period
£m

26 September 
2016 to 31 
December

2017
£m

At
31 December 

2017
£m

Maximum 
balance during 

the period 
£m 

26 September 
2016 to 31 
December 

 2017 
£m 

At
31 December 

2017
£m

Transactions with key 
management personnel 

  

Total emoluments n/a 6.2 n/a n/a – n/a
Total pension contributions n/a 0.2 n/a n/a – n/a

Highest paid key management 
personnel n/a 1.2 n/a

 
n/a 

 
– n/a

Highest pension contribution to key 
management personnel n/a 0.1 n/a

 
n/a 

 
– n/a

Transactions with other related 
parties 

  

Loans to related parties – n/a – 515.1 n/a 515.1
Interest income from related parties n/a – n/a n/a 49.2 n/a
Loans from related parties 624.4 n/a – 624.4 n/a 435.4
Interest expense to related parties n/a 30.5 n/a n/a 59.3 n/a

Key management personnel refers to the Management Committee of NewDay Group UK Limited and Non-Executive Directors. 

Credit card balances outstanding to key management personnel of the Group and their connected parties as at 31 December 
2017 were £27k. All transactions are subject to standard commercial interest rates on an arm’s length basis. 

In connection with the Acquisition, key management personnel and certain senior employees exchanged their holdings of shares 
and debt securities issued by NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. (held via their interests in Invicta EuroCard Services LP, the parent 
company of the Predecessor Group) for debt securities in the Company of £54.2m. Through a series of security-for-security 
exchanges, those debt securities in the Company of £54.2m were exchanged for participating interests in Nemean TopCo 
Limited, the Group’s ultimate parent undertaking. In addition, during the period under review further interests in Nemean TopCo 
Limited were issued to certain key management personnel and senior employees.  

These participating interests are treated as equity-settled shares under IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. Investments in 
participating interests by key management personnel and other senior employees (either through the exchange of interests 
described above or a fresh issuance of interests in Nemean TopCo Limited) were made at fair value. As a result no share-based 
payment expense has been recognised in the income statement in the period.  

In addition, certain Directors of NewDay Group Limited received a bonus totalling £0.8m in connection with the completion of 
the Acquisition. 

With effect from 1 July 2017 the terms of a £529.2m intercompany loan from Nemean MidCo Limited and £64.7m loan notes 
issued by the Company and held by Nemean MidCo Limited (the Company’s immediate parent company) were amended, 
resulting in a change in classification from liabilities to equity instruments. The interest accrued on these loans up to 30 June 
2017 has been recorded as a capital contribution. 

On 26 January 2017 the Company entered into an intercompany loan agreement with NewDay UK Limited pursuant to which 
the Company borrowed £425.0m comprising: (i) a fixed rate loan of £275.0m at an interest rate of 7.375% per annum due 2024; 
and (ii) a floating rate loan of £150.0m at an interest rate of three-month LIBOR plus a margin of 6.5% per annum due 2023. 

On 28 April 2017, NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. assigned to the Company a loan note issued by NewDay UK Limited for 
£483.7m, at an interest rate of 9% per annum due 2027 in consideration for: (i) the repurchase of 312,500 A9 NewDay Group 
Holdings S.à r.l. shares for £324.6m; (ii) redemption of £68.5m Interest Free Preferred Equity Certificates; and (iii) repayment of 
£92.5m Tracking Preferred Equity Certificate interest. 
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26. Related party disclosures continued 
Consolidated subsidiaries and structured entities 
The consolidated Financial Statements include the Financial Statements of NewDay Group (Jersey) Limited and the subsidiaries 
and structured entities in the following table: 

Name  
Country of 

incorporation
Share class held as at 

31 December 2017 

% equity interest 
as at 31 December 

2017

NewDay Group UK Limited UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay BondCo Plc UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay UK Limited UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. Luxembourg Ordinary  100%
NewDay Holdings Ltd UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay Group Ltd UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay Cards Ltd UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay Ltd UK Ordinary  100%
NewDay Reserve Funding Ltd UK Ordinary 100%
NewDay Partnership Transferor plc  UK Ordinary 100%
NewDay Funding Transferor Ltd UK Ordinary 100%
NewDay UPL Transferor Ltd UK Ordinary 100%
NewDay Partnership Receivables Trustee Ltd Jersey n/a SE
NewDay Partnership Loan Note Issuer Ltd UK n/a SE
NewDay Partnership Funding 2014-1 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Partnership Funding 2015-1 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Partnership Funding 2017-1 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Funding 2015-1 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Funding 2015-2 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Funding 2016-1 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Funding 2017-1 plc UK n/a SE
NewDay Funding Loan Note Issuer Ltd UK n/a SE
NewDay Funding Receivables Trustee Ltd Jersey n/a SE
NewDay Secondary Funding Limited UK n/a SE
NewDay Partnership Secondary Funding Ltd UK n/a SE
NewDay Loyalty Limited UK Ordinary 100%
Invicta Card Services Limited1 UK Ordinary 100%
Progressive Credit Limited1 UK Ordinary 100%
SAV Credit Limited1 UK Ordinary 100%

1. These subsidiaries are dormant entities as at 31 December 2017. 

The Company’s immediate parent company is Nemean MidCo Limited. The ultimate controlling party is Nemean TopCo Limited, 
a private limited company incorporated in Jersey. 
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With the exception of the following entities the principal place of business for the subsidiaries and structured entities listed above 
is the UK and their registered address is 7 Handyside Street, London, N1C 4DA.  

Name  
Principal place of 

business Registered address

NewDay Group Holdings S.à r.l. Luxembourg 4, rue Albert Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg
NewDay Partnership Receivables Trustee Ltd Jersey 44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG
NewDay Partnership Loan Note Issuer Ltd UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Partnership Funding 2014-1 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Partnership Funding 2015-1 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Partnership Funding 2017-1 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Funding 2015-1 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Funding 2015-2 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Funding 2016-1 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Funding 2017-1 plc UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Funding Loan Note Issuer Ltd UK 35 Great St. Helen's, London, EC3A 6AP
NewDay Funding Receivables Trustee Ltd Jersey 44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG
NewDay Secondary Funding Limited UK 5th Floor, 6 St. Andrew Street, London, EC4A 3AE
NewDay Partnership Secondary Funding Ltd UK 5th Floor, 6 St. Andrew Street, London, EC4A 3AE

27. Structured entities 
The Group has five financing arrangements which involve structured entities.  

The Co-brand business is funded by a master trust securitisation and a private securitisation. The structures have issued 
multiple series of debt instruments external to the Group, backed by the cash flow of the Co-brand receivables portfolio. As at 
31 December 2017, the master trust has in issue two series of publicly listed term debt sold to capital market investors and a 
series of senior variable funding notes sold to a syndicate of four major banks which acts as a revolving facility. As at 31 
December 2017, the private securitisation has issued a series of senior variable funding notes sold to a syndicate of two major 
banks which acts as a revolving facility.  

The Own-brand business is also financed by a master trust securitisation and a private securitisation. The structures have issued 
multiple series of debt instruments external to the Group, backed by the cash flow of the Own-brand portfolio. As at 31 
December 2017, the master trust has in issue four series of publicly listed term debt sold to a mixture of capital market investors 
and a series of senior variable funding notes sold to a syndicate of four major banks, which acts as a revolving facility. As at 31 
December 2017, the private securitisation has issued a series of senior variable funding notes to a major bank which acts as a 
revolving facility.  

The Unsecured Personal Loans business is funded by a private securitisation. The private securitisation has issued a senior 
variable funding note to a major bank which acts as a revolving facility. 

Within the funding structure of the Own-brand and Co-brand portfolios are structured entities where all of the ordinary shares 
are held by a third party trustee for charitable purposes. The consolidated subsidiary and structured entities table in note 26 has 
further details of the structured entities consolidated into the Group’s Financial Statements for the period ended 31 December 
2017, on the basis that the Group has the power to direct relevant activities, is exposed to variable returns of the entities and is 
able to use its power to affect those returns. Within the master trust securitisations, there are also entities which are not 
consolidated into the Financial Statements of the Group on the basis that the Group does not have control over these entities 
because it is not exposed, or has rights, to variable returns of the entities. These entities are NewDay Partnership Securitisation 
Holdings Ltd in the Co-brand securitisation and NewDay Funding Securitisation Holdings Ltd in the Own-brand securitisation.  

28. Post balance sheet events 
On 11 January 2018 the Company issued a term loan facility agreement to Nemean TopCo Limited, the Company’s ultimate 
controlling party, for £7.5m. The facility can be drawn upon at any time and interest accrues at 9% per annum. As at 14 March 
2018 £0.4m has been drawn on the facility. 

On 30 January 2018 the Company received an interest payment on the loan note issued by NewDay UK Limited, described in 
note 13, of £13.0m. 
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29. Future accounting developments 
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ became effective on 1 January 2018 and therefore is mandatory for the first time for the year 
ending 31 December 2018. The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’ which will have a significant impact on the Group’s Financial Statements. The key changes to the 
Group’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised below. 

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 
categories of held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the 
business model in which a financial asset is managed and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial instruments. 
The standard largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities. With regards to 
classification and measurement, the Group does not believe that the new classification requirements will have a significant 
impact upon the measurement bases for its financial assets and liabilities. 

Expected credit loss  
IFRS 9 also replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, except for investments in equity 
instruments, and to contract assets. Instead of recognising an impairment provision when there is objective evidence of 
impairment, for example a missed payment, IFRS 9 requires an impairment provision to be recognised on origination of a credit 
card agreement or loan, based on its anticipated credit loss, thus significantly changing the timing of recognition of impairment 
on loans and advances to customers. Under IFRS 9, expected loss allowances will be measured on either of the following bases:  

• 12-month ECLs. These are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and  

• lifetime ECLs. These are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.  

Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the reporting date has increased significantly since 
initial recognition or if it was purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) and 12-month ECL measurement applies if it has 
not.  

Financial assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are classified as ‘stage 1’; financial assets that are considered to have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are classified as ‘stage 2’; and financial assets for which 
there is objective evidence of impairment, so are considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired, are classified as ‘stage 
3’. Financial assets that were credit-impaired when purchased by the Group through the Acquisition are classified as ‘POCI’ for 
the remainder of their life and cannot transition out of this classification. The assessment of whether a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred is a key aspect of the IFRS 9 methodology which involves quantitative and qualitative measures and 
therefore requires considerable management judgement.  

Expected credit loss is the product of the probability of default (PD), exposure at default and loss given default, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. The assessment of credit risk and the estimation of ECL are required to be unbiased, probability-
weighted, and should incorporate all available information relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, 
current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions at the reporting date. The forward-looking 
aspect of IFRS 9 requires considerable judgement as to how changes in economic factors affect ECLs.  

The factors affecting the transition of accounts between stages along with the impact of changes in forecast economic 
conditions are likely to result in impairment losses being more volatile under IFRS 9. 

Key judgements  
The key judgements that the Group will apply on adoption of IFRS 9 include: 

Determining a significant increase in credit risk  
In determining whether an account has demonstrated a significant increase in credit risk since origination the Group has 
identified a series of quantitative and qualitative criteria, based on its historical experience, alongside a backstop that will be used 
to assess whether an asset should move from stage 1 to stage 2: 

• quantitative measures consider the increase in an account’s remaining lifetime PD compared to the expected lifetime PD 
when the account was originated. The Group segments its portfolios into PD risk grades and has determined a relevant 
threshold for each risk grade where a movement in excess of the threshold since origination is considered to be significant and 
the account would therefore be moved to stage 2; 

• qualitative measures include the observation of specific events such as a short-term extension to customer terms; and 

• IFRS 9 includes a rebuttable presumption that once contractual payments are more than 30 days past due this is an indicator 
of a significant increase in credit risk. The Group considers 30 days past due to be an appropriate backstop and will not rebut 
this presumption.  

Accounts are moved back to stage 1 when they have demonstrated for a defined period of time that they no longer meet the 
criteria for a significant increase in credit risk. 
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Definition of default  
The Group classifies an account as in default, which is fully-aligned to the definition of credit-impaired, and therefore moves to 
stage 3 when it meets one or more of the following criteria:  

• quantitative measures reflecting the IFRS 9 rebuttable presumption that once contractual payments are more than 90 days 
past due they are in default; and 

• qualitative measures including the observation of specific events such as insolvency or longer-term forbearance measures.  

Where the performance of the asset improves to the extent that it has evidenced for a defined period of time that it no longer 
meets any of the default criteria, it is cured and therefore transitions back from stage 3 to stage 2.  

Forward-looking information  
The assessment of significant increase in credit risk and the calculation of expected credit loss both incorporate forward looking 
information. The Group has identified the most significant macroeconomic factors that are likely to impact credit loss, being 
GDP and the unemployment rate. These variables and their associated impact on ECL have been factored into the credit loss 
models utilising four scenarios based on reasonable forecasts of future economic conditions and applying a probability-weighted 
approach. These scenarios include a base, an upside and two downside scenarios.  

Transition 
The Group’s IFRS 9 implementation project was managed by an executive steering group and macroeconomic panel that 
approved design and build decisions, with oversight from the Audit Committee. The Group has finalised the methodology and 
accounting policies to be applied from 1 January 2018. Upon adoption on 1 January 2018 there was a one-off adjustment to 
loans and advances to customers and retained earnings in the order of £210m, increasing the coverage ratio from 6% under IAS 
39 to 16% under IFRS 9. Split by credit card portfolio the one-off adjustment for Own-brand and Co-brand was in the order of 
£190m and £20m respectively. This represents an increase in the Own-brand coverage ratio from 9% to 23% and an increase 
for Co-brand from 2% to 4%. The impact is the Group’s best estimate pending finalisation of the transition work. The Group 
continues to refine, monitor and validate certain elements of the impairment models and related controls ahead of full reporting 
of IFRS 9 impacts later in 2018.  

The full impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the consolidated Financial Statements will depend on the financial instruments that the 
Group holds during 2018, the macroeconomic environment and judgements made as at the year end. Given the strong growth 
across the Group’s receivables portfolios, there will be an ongoing delay in the recognition of profits as a result of reporting 
impairment provisions upon origination. It is important to note that IFRS 9 only changes the timing of profit recognition; the 
Group’s business model, charge-offs and cash flows are unaffected by the change in accounting standard and the ultimate 
profitability of each agreement will be the same under both IAS 39 and IFRS 9. 

The Group will take advantage of the exemption in IFRS 9 not to restate comparative information for prior periods with respect 
to classification and measurement (including impairment) changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
liabilities on adoption of IFRS 9 will be recognised in retained earnings within reserves as at 1 January 2018. 

Group 

As reported at 
31 December 2017

£m

Estimated 
adjustments on 

adoption of IFRS 9 
£m 

Estimated adjusted 
opening balance 

sheet as at 1 January 
2018

£m

Impairment provision on loans and advances to customers (133) (210) (343)
Retained losses (37) (210) (247)
Total equity 588 (210) 378
 
Disclosures 
IFRS 9 will require additional disclosures, in particular with regards to credit risk and ECLs. The Group’s implementation project 
included a workstream to assess the disclosure requirements, identify data gaps against current processes and implement the 
necessary system and controls changes to enable the required data to be captured. 
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